S T ERERATE]

BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability
REESHEFMRILZERAT
Stock Code B3 1%3% : 2339

ANNUAL REPORT
F




- .'
- ¢
-— - . ; i ’ .
. 3 . .
CONTENTS i ¥ g :
» E ﬁ % . i . - .’ v i . ‘
; 4 P - v —_— ,!_*.‘ @ - P — ' F .
\ Corporate Information ; e P / - .2 - ..
L g 3 $ ey,
¢ A Directors’ Biographies _ i g & e / o o) §
oy : .§$ﬁaﬁfl\ 5 y AR P WIS e .
B : Group Structure G T TR e 0
. i EEERE i s Lk -, oy

Chairman’s Statemen

I}?ﬁﬁi

Consolidate .

N e

" Consolidated ﬁatement of ComprehenslveJnc
A 2 EYER -

e Saat Consolidated Statement of Fmancnal : 130 . -
. - . GAMBRRE ° -
~ Consolidated Statement of Changes .. 132 ‘
Consolidated . S 134

" o LAEIRER ’ ) ' . "
p : ¥
, j Notes to Financial Statements o

8175 =3

K .
5 ‘ F@-Year Financial Summary | . 2
$ B T B . '




2 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Mr. Dong Xiaojie, aged 60, graduated from the Hebei Normal
University, majoring in mathematics in 1984. Mr. Dong was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company and the
Chairman of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) in
September 2022. He is also the chairman of each of the Executive
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company, as well
as a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Dong was the chairman of Hebei Shengyuan Asset Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.* (At TEEEEZAFR AR for the
period from April 2005 to October 2010. Moreover, he was the
chairman of Beijing Old Street Shengyuan Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd.* t REERTEIXIRE TR ER AR for
the period from April 2010 to September 2014. For the period from
February 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Dong was a director of Robyn
Hode Capital Limited. He is a director and the president of
Zhangjiakou Financial Holding Group Co., Ltd.* (R A & @iz ik &
= B R 2 7)) (“Zhangjiakou Holding”) since July 2016. He is also the
chairman of BeijingWest Smart Mobility Zhangjiakou Automotive
Electronics Co., Ltd.* (RAETREXASEEETAR QA
(“BWSM”) since July 2022; and the chairman of BeijingWest
Industries Co., Ltd.* bR RAE LT AR A F]) (“BWI”) since
September 2022. He is also a director of BWI Company Limited
(“BWI HK”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI) since March 2023.
Each of Zhangjiakou Holding, BWSM, BWI and BWI HK is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). He has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the remuneration committee of Orient Victory Smart
Urban Services Holding Limited, a Hong Kong listed company since
September 2014.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Dong and the
Company for a term commencing on 21 September 2022 and ending
on 31 December 2023. Under the service agreement, Mr. Dong will
be entitled to a salary and discretionary bonus as may be determined
by the Board or its delegated committee(s) from time to time. Mr.
Dong declined any salary from the Group voluntarily since the date
of his appointment as a Director of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

Mr. Chen Zhouping, aged 57, graduated from the School of
Economics and Management, Tsinghua University and is a member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chen
was appointed as an Executive Director and the Managing Director
of the Company in September 2016 and is a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. He joined Shougang Group Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Shougang Corporation) (“Shougang Group”) in
1988 and held various senior positions in the group companies of
Shougang Group. Mr. Chen was appointed as a director of BWI in
June 2017, but was resigned in March 2022. He is also a director
of BWI HK (a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI) and certain other
wholly-owned subsidiaries of BWI. Each of BWI and BWI HK is
a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Chen was a director of Shougang Fushan
Resources Group Limited and Shougang Concord International
Enterprises Company Limited (currently known as Shoucheng
Holdings Limited), both are Hong Kong listed companies, as well as
a non-executive director of Mount Gibson Iron Limited, a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He has extensive
experience in steel industry, engineering design, human resources
and management.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Chen and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the service agreement, Mr. Chen is entitled to a salary and
discretionary bonus as may be determined by the Board or its
delegated committee(s) from time to time. For both financial years
2022 and 2023, Mr. Chen’s salary is HK$2,136,000 per annum.
Such salary was determined by the Remuneration Committee with
reference to the then prevailing market conditions, the performance
of the Company as well as Mr. Chen’s individual performance.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

Mr. Li Zhi, aged 58, a senior economist. He holds a bachelor’s
degree in engineering. Mr. Li was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2020 and is a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Li held various senior
positions in Beijing Yanshan Petrochemical Corporation (it = #&1L-A
JM{E A7) from 1986 to 1999, and worked for various departments
in the local government of Fangshan District, Beijing, China from
1999 to 2018. Mr. Li is a vice chairman of BWI, and he is a director
of BWI HK, a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI. Mr. Li is also the
chairman and general manager of Beijing Fangshan State-owned
Assets Management Co. Ltd.* At RE LB B EELEBRETE LA
(“Beijing Fangshan”). Each of BWI, BWI HK and Beijing Fangshan is
a substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO. Mr. Li has extensive experience in mechanical
engineering, corporate operations management as well as
governmental economic planning and development.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Li and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Li is entitled to a director’s fee as
may be determined by the Board from time to time. Mr. Li declined
any director’s fee from the Group voluntarily since the date of his
appointment as a Director of the Company.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 73, holds a bachelor’s degree
in commerce from Concordia University, Canada. Mr. Tam was
appointed an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in January 2014 and is the chairman of the Audit Committee as
well as a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Tam is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario,
Canada. He is a Past President of The Society of Chinese Accountants
and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive
director of certain companies listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, Capital Industrial Financial
Services Group Limited (formerly known as Shougang Concord
Grand (Group) Limited), Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings
Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Starlite Holdings
Limited, West China Cement Limited and Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited. He was an independent
non-executive director of each of two Hong Kong listed companies,
namely CCT Fortis Holdings Limited and GBA Holdings Limited, in
the past these years, but resigned on 8 June 2022 and 30 September
2022 respectively.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Tam and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Tam is entitled to a director’s fee
as may be determined by the Board from time to time. For both
financial years 2022 and 2023, the director’s fee of Mr. Tam is
HK$240,000 per annum. Such director’s fee was determined with
reference to Mr. Tam’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.

Mr. Yip Kin Man, Raymond, aged 76, holds a bachelor’s degree
in arts with honours from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yip
was appointed an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company in January 2014 and is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee as well as a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Yip is also an
independent non-executive director of Shougang Century Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Shougang Concord Century Holdings
Limited), a Hong Kong listed company. He was an independent non-
executive director of Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited (now
known as Capital Industrial Financial Services Group Limited) from
January 2007 to December 2019. Mr. Yip is a practising solicitor,
notary public and Attesting Officer appointed by the Ministry of
Justice of the PRC. He has extensive experience in legal profession.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Yip and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Yip is entitled to a director’s fee
as may be determined by the Board from time to time. For both
financial years 2022 and 2023, the director’s fee of Mr. Yip is
HK$240,000 per annum. Such director’s fee was determined with
reference to Mr. Yip’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES (continued)

Mr. Chan Pat Lam, aged 74, Mr. Chan was appointed an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in November 2018 and is a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. He was an
independent non-executive director of Shougang Fushan Resources
Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed company, from December 2004
to May 2020. Mr. Chan is the consultant of a private company
which is an international container shipping agency in the Western
region of Pear| River Delta, as well as a partner of Chan Kai Wing &
Brothers Limited, a private company which engages in trading and
wholesaling of grocery items. Mr. Chan has extensive experience in
the field of international banking industry in Hong Kong, Macau and
California.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Chan and the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023.
Under the engagement letter, Mr. Chan is entitled to a director’s
fee as may be determined by the Board from time to time. For both
financial years 2022 and 2023, the director’s fee of Mr. Chan is
HK$240,000 per annum. Such director’s fee was determined with
reference to Mr. Chan’s experience and duties as well as the then
prevailing market conditions.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Poland Plant J& B &=

On behalf of the board of directors of BeijingWest Industries
International Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report and the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year under Review”).

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2022 was a most extraordinary year, as the year began with the
outbreak of the Russia-Ukraine war, which fueled geopolitical
tensions and led to energy shortage and the ensuing surge in energy
prices. With high global inflation, the US Federal Reserve Board
proactively kicked off its rate hike cycle. As a result, major currencies
other than the US dollar mostly saw rapid depreciation. In order to
curb inflation, major countries in the world had to increase their
interest rates, which led to a looming global recession. 2022 was
also the third year in which the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)
wreaked havoc across the globe. Although the number of infection
cases continued to rise, people from around the world had already
adapted to the pandemic, resuming their normal life. Anti-pandemic
measures were lifted in many places during the second half of
the year, as countries prepared themselves for returning to full
normalcy. With the easing of the pandemic, demand in the European
automotive retail market also improved to a certain extent. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$2,478 million from the manufacture and sales of suspension
products and the provision of technical services, representing a
decrease of 4.7% as compared to the year 2021.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (continued)

For the Year under Review, the gross profit and gross profit margin of
the Group were HK$434 million and 17.5% respectively. While for
the year 2021, the gross profit and gross profit margin were HK$412
million and 15.8% respectively. During the year, while our plant in
the Czech Republic still recorded losses and there was a significant
decline in earnings from our plant in the United Kingdom, the
remarkable performance of our plant in Poland came as a pleasant
surprise. During the year, thanks to the efforts of our Polish team,
the number of orders placed by individual customers increased
significantly, along with an increase in the sale of controlled
suspension products. As the gross profit margin of controlled
suspension products is higher than that of passive suspension
products, the Group recorded an overall increase in gross profit and
gross profit margin, which led to a decrease in loss of the Group
to a net loss of HK$4.9 million recorded by the Group for the Year
under Review. In addition, the Group maintained a healthy financial
position. As at 31 December 2022, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group amounted to HK$123 million while all the bank loans has
been repaid, thus without any external interest-bearing loans.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead to 2023, with countries in Europe continuing to
relax pandemic controls, the European automotive industry is
expected to rebound. However, the short-term development of the
European automotive industry is still subject to various factors such
as soaring global inflation and interest rate hikes, which will pose a
challenge to the Group’s continuous growth in 2023. As the lease
of the Group’s plant located in Luton in the United Kingdom (the
“UK Plant”) will expire at the end of 2023 and facing the relocation
problem. After careful consideration of various factors, the Board
decided to stop the production of all products in the UK Plant in
stages from the second quarter of 2023 onwards and complete by
end of June 2023. The site of the plant will then be handed over to
the landlord before end of 2023. The Board is of the view that the
closure of the UK Plant will save the huge expenses of the Group
required to relocate the UK Plant, while most of the original orders
and production lines of the UK Plant can be transferred to the plants
located in Krosno in Poland and Cheb in the Czech Republic. This
will enable the Group to consolidate its resources more effectively,
reduce its fixed administrative expenses such as leasing and staff
costs, and increase its overall capacity utilization rate. It benefits the
Group’s operations in the long run, and is in the best interests of the
Group and its shareholders as a whole.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (continued)

In order to maintain and increase sales revenue, the Group will
commit to strengthening the cooperation with European automobile
manufactures, providing them with high quality products and
services, and ensuring the completion of order deliveries. Meanwhile,
we will make effort to boost the capability of acquiring new orders
and new market opportunities in the future so as to safeguard the
steady development of the Group in long run. Moreover, we will
cooperate closely with our raw materials suppliers and try our best to
lower the relevant supply-chain risks and strengthen the management
of cost control.

Overall, I am satisfied with the performance of the Group in the Year
under Review, and | am cautiously optimistic about our development
in future. In the coming year, | will continue to lead all my staff to
work closely together and create more value for the shareholders of
the Group.

Dong Xiaojie
Chairman

30 March 2023

FTEHREE@R

AEERBBEREHRRZ SBATEKE - BIRE

RAEANSHE W am - AN 5 B B R a0 s BRI T
BRERcAE RERHSREZER MR
% REBFTERAN - A - RS HIEFER
RRFFTENFHERE 26N REAKER

HMREER - RMLHERMAHREREZ S
1F B PRAE A 8 £ M 58 L 2 K 58 AR AN H2 Il '
e

BEMEZ  AAHAKREERODBEFE 2 XEXR

BME  THRARZERITEREE - AR —
FoANBRBEREAZBET L T—08HR

AEBZBRAEE Z(EE -

RAAA
TE

—E-=ZF=ZA=+H



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

BeijingWest Industries International Limited and its subsidiaries
involves in manufacture, sales and trading of automotive parts and
components and provision of technical services. The core products
of the Group were suspension products.

The Group’s automotive suspension products were mainly utilized
on premium passenger vehicles, which were manufactured by our
plants in Europe. There are three major plants in Poland, the United
Kingdom (“UK”) and the Czech Republic, which manufacture and
assemble suspension products for their customers.

The Group develops and maintains strong relationships with its
customers, who are mainly well-known European automobile
manufacturers, therefore the Group well understood the technical
requirements of our customers and has the expertise on the
manufacturing process for premium passenger vehicles.

The Group purchases its raw materials and components mainly from
the suppliers in Europe, which are selected based on certain factors,
including the history of relationship with the Group, quality and
price of the products, delivery time, and after-sales services. The
Group maintains stable relationships with its major suppliers and
does not rely on any single supplier for any type of raw materials and
components.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

Global Pandemic

In March 2020, the World Health Organization made an assessment
and characterized the worldwide outbreak of novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) as a pandemic (“Pandemic”) and reminded all countries
to activate and scale up emergency response mechanisms. With the
increasing number of confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the second
quarter of 2020, various countries in Europe imposed containment
and mitigation measures, including travel bans, quarantines, “stay-at-
home” orders, and similar measures for people to significantly restrict
daily activities and for business to reduce or cease normal operations.
These measures led to disruption and temporary suspension of the
operations of the Group’s plants in the UK, Poland and the Czech
Republic. Starting in June 2020, the Group implemented new safety
measures at the plants and took a phrased approach to resume the
manufacturing operations, and the manufacturing operations of all
the plants were resumed in June 2020. Since our operations have
resumed up to now, each of the Group’s plants has been under
normal operation.

It has been three years since the outbreak of the Pandemic. People
around the world have become accustomed to living normally with
the Pandemic. The vaccination rates in major countries have reached
a very high level. Moreover, the number of cases of infection are
high, which means many people have acquired natural immunity.
Therefore, countries around the world have lifted pandemic-related
restrictions as they get on the road to full normalcy.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded revenue
of HK$2,283.3 million from manufacture and sales of suspension
products. While for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recorded revenue of HK$2,444.2 million from manufacture and
sales of suspension products. The decrease in revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is mainly due to a change in
economic environment and a slowdown in production of European
automobiles, leading to a decrease in orders received by the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group also recorded
revenue of HK$195.1 million in provision of technical services (year
ended 31 December 2021: HK$157.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit and gross
profit margin of the Group were HK$434.1 million and 17.5%
respectively. While for the year ended 31 December 2021, the gross
profit and gross profit margin of the Group were HK$411.8 million and
15.8% respectively. The increase in gross profit was mainly due to an
improvement in gross margin, especially the contribution from Poland.
During the year, our plant in Poland successfully sold more controlled
suspension products, whose gross profit margin is higher than that of
traditional passive suspension products. In addition, most suspension
products are priced in US dollars or Euros, while their costs are mostly
denominated in Zloty, the local currency of Poland. Therefore, as the
exchange rate of US dollar/Euro against Polish Zloty (“PLN") rose, sales
revenue increased while the cost of sales decreased, thus leading to an
increase in the Group’s gross profit margin.

The gross profit and gross profit margin were partially affected by
the performance of the plant located at Czech. As the plant in the
Czech Republic was still at its commencement stage in face of the
Pandemic, rendering it unable to reach its efficiency as scheduled
and now being at a loss position. Its performance will be able to
improve in the future when the production volume ramps up and the
utilization of raw materials and production efficiency improve due to
economy of scale.

Other Income and Gains

Other income and gains of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 increased by 13.2% to HK$46.3 million (year ended
31 December 2021: HK$40.9 million), which was mainly due to the
increase of gain on foreign exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 significantly increased by 197.6% to HK$50.4
million (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$16.9 million), mainly
due to a substantial reversal of warranty provision in last year, which
is absent in the current year. In addition, freight expenses increased
significantly during the year due to delay in the delivery of some
components by the suppliers. Express air transportation was required
instead of the normal sea transportation in order to meet the time
requirement of the customers in the United States, thus causing
significant increase in freight expenses. Selling and distribution
expenses mainly consisted of delivery expenses, salary and welfare
for sales personnel and warranty expenses.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 decreased by 1.1% to HK$154.5 million (year
ended 31 December 2021: HK$156.2 million). The decrease
was mainly because tighten cost control was in place to mitigate
the unfavorable effects brought by the Pandemic. Administrative
expenses mainly consisted of salaries for administrative staff and
management service fee charged by related companies.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 decreased by 3.5% to HK$237.4 million (year
ended 31 December 2021: HK$246.1 million). The decrease was
also because of the in place of tighten cost control. Research and
development expenses mainly consisted of salaries for technical staff
and technical service fee charged by related companies.

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
decreased by 18.0% to HK$15.1 million (year ended 31 December
2021: HK$18.4 million) mainly because the Group has repaid all the
bank loans during the year, thus the bank loan interest expenses was
reduced. Finance costs mainly represented interest on bank loans
obtained by a subsidiary in Europe and interest on lease liabilities.

Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company
In summary of the above, for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
loss attributable to owners of the Company is approximate to HK$4.9
million (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$9.3 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Our business requires a significant amount of working capital,
which is primarily used to finance the purchase of raw materials,
remuneration of employees, capital spending, research and
development and other expenses. The working capital and other
capital requirements were satisfied principally by cash generated
from internal operations, and moderate level of bank loans (if
necessary) as well.

The Group was operating in a net cash outflow position for the year
ended 31 December 2022, but there was net cash generated from
operating activities amounted to HK$114.0 million (year ended 31
December 2021: net cash used in operating activities amounted to
HK$66.1 million). As at 31 December 2022, the Group maintained
cash and cash equivalents of HK$122.8 million (as at 31 December
2021: HK$184.6 million).

Indebtedness

During the year, the Group repaid all its bank borrowings. As a
result, the Group did not have any balance of bank borrowings as at
31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had bank borrowings of
HK$65.2 million, which were obtained by a subsidiary in Europe
and were denominated in Euro with an interest of 1-month EURIBOR
plus 2.8% per annum and PLN with an interest of 1-month WIBOR
plus 2.6% per annum.

The Group’s gearing ratio (measured as total bank borrowings over
total assets) as at 31 December 2022 was 0% (as at 31 December
2021: 3.2%). The Company would keep monitoring the financial
and liquidity position of the Group closely, and carry out appropriate
financing strategy for the Group in accordance with the change of
the financial market from time to time.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, there were no
assets of the Group being pledged.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in Euro, US Dollar
and the local currencies of our operations, which include PLN, Great
British Pound Sterling and Czech Koruna. The Group will closely
monitor the foreign exchange market and take appropriate and
effective measures from time to time to reduce any negative impact
from exchange-rate risk to the furthest extent.

Capital and Other Commitments

Save as disclosed in Note 31 in the notes to financial statements,
the Group and the Company had no other commitments as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group and the Company did not have
any significant contingent liabilities.

OTHER INFORMATION

Environmental, Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health of people,
natural resources and the global environment, and has adopted
the hazardous material control programs and chemical material
assessment procedures. The Group has obtained all necessary
permits under applicable environmental protection laws for its
production facilities.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations that
exert great influence on the Group such as various environmental
protection laws relating to emissions to land, air and water and waste
production from its production facilities. Various hazardous material
control programs and chemical material assessment procedures have
also been adopted to meet the applicable legal requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

The Group also emphasizes the health and safety of its employees
and is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for the benefits of its staff. In order to reduce the
contact with occupational hazard factors of employees, the Group
provides training of occupational health and safety and prevention
and control of occupational disease for all relevant employees.
The Group also adopted human resources policies, which
provide the health and safety initiatives such as: (i) identifying and
communicating health and safety initiatives; (ii) monitoring trends in
statistics for occupational injuries or illnesses; (iii) complying with
health and safety regulations; and (iv) promoting incident reduction
through investigation, assessments, corrective actions and proactive
intervention. The Group has also complied with applicable social,
health and work safety laws and regulations in all material aspects.

The Group also emphasizes continuous learning and hopes
employees can grow together with the Group. Diversified training
and development opportunities are provided for all employees to
help them reach their full potential.

Prospects

The Group involved in the manufacture and sales of automotive parts
and components and trading of automotive parts and components in
Europe.

During the Year under Review, the outbreak of Russian-Ukrainian
war brought extreme tensions to the European geopolitics, hence we
would operate under a challenging and volatile environment since
the Group’s plants in Poland, UK and the Czech Republic are located
in Europe. The Russian-Ukrainian war, coupled with high global
inflation, has led to energy shortages and soaring prices. As a result,
the prices of industrial raw materials and labor costs have notably
risen, which has put pressure on operating costs. In order to curb
inflation, the US Federal Reserve and central banks around the world
have implemented tight fiscal policies, including raising interest
rates and shrinking balance sheets, which have clouded the global
economic outlook. On the other hand, the COVID-19 pandemic that
had been raging for three years has gradually subsided. Almost all
major countries in the world are on the road to normalcy, thus giving
new hope to the future economy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

The Group relies on premium passenger vehicle manufacturers
as customers or potential customers of its products. Its business
performance largely depends on the continuing growth of the
automotive industry in Europe. The overall market demand for cars
may be affected by factors such as regional economic conditions,
fuel price and end customers’ expectations on future economic
situation. These factors are beyond the Group’s control, and
may affect the annual production of automobiles by passenger
vehicle manufacturers, which possibly in turn affect the sales and
profitability of the Group’s products. Affected by the pandemic and
the slowdown of economy, passenger vehicle production in Europe
in 2022 was only approximately 13,143,000, the annual output
remained, as in 2021, at a low level of approximately 13,000,000
vehicles, one of the lowest numbers in recent years. Compared to
the pre-pandemic level of 2019, it decreased substantially by 29.1%,
In addition, according to the forecast of the International Monetary
Fund, the eurozone will see a GDP growth of just 0.7% in 2023,
which indicates that the European economy is still not out of the
woods. This will bring great challenges to the Group’s business. The
future operating conditions, and hence performance, of the Group
will be highly dependent on the development of inflation, that
of the Russian-Ukrainian war, and even the impact of a potential
resurgence of the pandemic.

The Group has accumulated extensive technical knowledge and
developed a high degree of technical expertise with a consistent
focus on research and development. We believe that our technical
expertise, the long-term relationship with different vehicle
manufacturers, as well as the well-understanding of the requirements
of the vehicle manufacturers will enable us to capture more
market opportunities and develop products that meet the technical
requirements of the vehicle manufacturers. It would be a strong
support for the Group’s long-term development.

The Group believes that the continuing investment on research and
development as well as engineering activities is vitally significant
for the Group to maintain and improve its leadership position in
the industry. It would contribute greatly to the improvement of the
Group’s competitiveness over other competitors. Meanwhile, it
keeps evolving in the automotive industry to cater to the change of
requirements from customers. To keep pace with our customers,
the Group will endeavor to collaborate closely with the vehicle
manufacturers and develop innovative solutions to better serve our
customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS (continued)

As the lease of the Group’s plant located in Luton in the United
Kingdom will expire at the end of 2023, it was facing the relocation
problem. After careful consideration of various factors, it was
decided to stop the production of all products in the UK Plant in
stages from the second quarter of 2023 onwards and complete by
end of June 2023. The site of the plant will then be handed over to
the landlord before end of 2023. The Board is of the view that the
closure of the UK Plant will save the huge expenses of the Group
required to relocate the UK Plant, while most of the original orders
and production lines of the UK Plant can be transferred to the plants
located in Krosno in Poland and Cheb in the Czech Republic of the
Group. This will enable the Group to consolidate its resources more
effectively, reduce its fixed administrative expenses such as leasing
and staff costs, and increase its overall capacity utilization rate. It
benefits the Group’s operations in the long run, and is in the best
interests of the Group and its shareholders as a whole.

The Group will aim to maintain a solid and healthy growth and
development. Despite the continued pricing pressure from customers
and the increase in commodity prices, the Group is capable of
maintaining its gross profit margin at a reasonable level. The Group
is confident that it will be able to maintain a sustainable business
development in the long run. With a view to improve long-term
profitability and shareholders’ value, the Company will seriously
evaluate and review the business of the Group, and optimize the
business structure of the Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 2,070
employees. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
employees’ cost was HK$442.5 million. Remuneration packages
of the employees are determined by reference to the qualifications
and experience of the employee concerned and are reviewed
annually by the management with reference to market conditions
and individual performance. The Group offers a comprehensive and
competitive remuneration, retirement scheme and benefit package
to its employees. Discretionary bonus is offered to the Group’s staff
depending on their performance. The Group has defined benefit
pension plans covering substantially all of its qualified employees
in Poland, France and Germany. The Group has also adopted a
mandatory provident fund scheme as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for its employees in Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to safeguard the interests of all
shareholders and enhancing accountability and transparency.

CORPORATE OBJECTIVE, VALUE AND STRATEGY

The Board leads to establish, promote and continually reinforce the
desired corporate culture of the Group which is underpinned by our
corporate values of committing highest standard of business ethics
and integrity. The Board oversight of culture encompasses a range
of measures and tools over time, including workforce engagement,
employee retention and training, stringent financial reporting,
effective and accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and
regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety, well-being and support.

For detailed information about the Group’s objective, value and
strategy, please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”) during the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(@) Composition
The Board currently comprises a total of six Directors, being
two Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The list of Directors
is set out in the section headed “Report of the Directors” in
this annual report. An updated list of the Directors and their
roles and functions is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.

The Board is characterised by diversity and has a balance
of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical
information is set out in the section headed “Directors’
Biographies” in this annual report.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(@) Composition (continued)

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group. All Directors are required to disclose to the
Company at the time of their appointments and annually the
number and the nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments with an
indication of the time involved.

Save for those as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Biographies” as set out on page 4 to page 8 of this annual
report, the Board members have no other financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and
Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) so that there is a sufficient independent element
on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

The Non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and
calibre for their views to carry weight. The functions of Non-
executive Directors include:

e bringing an independent judgement at Board meetings;

e taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

e serving on Board committees if invited; and

e scrutinising the Company’s performance and monitoring
performance reporting.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) have made a positive contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They give
the Board and the committees on which they serve the benefit
of their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications
through regular attendance and active participation.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent
Non-executive Directors are identified, in all corporate
communications to shareholders.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(b)

(9]

Role and function of the Board and the management
The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-
day operations of the Company to the Executive Committee
and senior management within the control and authority
framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Further details of these committees are set out in this report.

Board meetings

The Board meets regularly and holds at least four Board
meetings a year. Additional meetings will be arranged, if and
when required. The Directors can attend meetings in person
or through electronic means of communication in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing up the
agenda of each Board meeting. Draft agenda of each regular
Board meeting will be sent to all Directors for review before
the agenda is issued and all Directors may request for inclusion
of other matters in the agenda. The Chairman will take into
account the matters proposed by the Directors and where
appropriate, approve the inclusion of such matters in the agenda
of the Board meeting. Generally, at least 14-day notice of a
regular Board meeting is given and the Company aims at giving
reasonable notice for all other Board meetings. The Company
also aims at sending the agenda and the accompanying board
papers, which are prepared in a form and quality sufficient to
enable the Board to make informed decisions on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended
date of a Board meeting. Where queries are raised by Directors,
prompt and full responses will be given if possible.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(0

(d)

Board meetings (continued)

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of
Board meetings and Board committee meetings, draft and final
versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments
and records respectively, within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns
raised by Directors or dissenting views (if any) expressed.
Minutes of Board meetings and Board committees meetings are
kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
any Director/committee member.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter (including material transaction with connected
persons) which the Board has determined to be material, the
matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting, rather
than a written resolution. Independent Non-executive Directors
who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in
the transaction should be present at that Board meeting.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, a Director shall not vote
on any Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which he/she or any of his/her close
associates (or associates where the transaction or arrangement is
a connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
has a material interest nor shall he be counted in the quorum
present at the meeting.

Attendance records

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Directors have made active contribution to the affairs of the
Group and five physical Board meetings were held to consider
various projects contemplated by the Group, as well as to
review and approve the interim results and final results of the
Group.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Annual Report 2022

Exg(@

(d) Attendance records (continued) (d) HERE(E)

Details of the Directors’ attendances in 2022 are as follows: EERE__FHHFREAT
Number of
meeting(s)

attended/eligible
to attend
HESERE
EEREE
SERH

Executive Directors HITEE

Dong Xiaojie" (Chairman) RNRO (EE) 1

Chen Zhouping PR A 5/5

Zhao Jiuliang® (Chairman) AR (F) 4/4

Non-executive Director HNTEF

Li Zhi * & 4/5

Independent Non-executive Directors BILIFHTEE

Tam King Ching, Kenny EEEIE 5/5

Yip Kin Man, Raymond R 5/5

Chan Pat Lam BRABAR 5/5

(e)

M Appointed on 21 September 2022.
@ Resigned as Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

Access to information

The Board is supplied with sufficient explanation and
information by the management to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of financial and other information put
before it for approval. The management provides all Board
members with monthly updates which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient details to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties. Where any Director requires
more information than is volunteered by the management, each
Director has the right to separately and independently access to
the Company’s senior management to make further enquiries if
necessary.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
(f) Procedures for Directors to seek independent

professional advice

There has been procedure in place to enable Directors to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to, upon
reasonable request, provide separate independent professional
advice to Directors to assist them in performing their duties to
the Company.

Directors who intend to seek independent professional advice
on any matters during the performance of his/her duties as a
Director shall give prior written notice to the Company Secretary
containing (i) a summary of issues on which advice is sought; (ii)
the reasons for such request; and (iii) the proposed independent
advisor, if any, from which the advice is to be obtained. The
Company Secretary shall forward a copy of the notice to the
Chairman and obtain the approval from the Chairman. The
Chairman may prescribe a reasonable limit on the amount
of the cost relating to the advice. If the Chairman does not
consider the request for independent advice to be reasonable or
the proposed independent advisor to be appropriate, the matter
shall be fed back to the Director who seeks for independent
professional advice. If the matter cannot be resolved between
the Chairman and the Director concerned, it shall be referred
to a committee comprising all the Independent Non-executive
Directors other than the Director concerned, as the case may
be (the “Independent Committee”). The matter shall be decided
by the simple majority of the Independent Committee. The
Company Secretary shall then make necessary arrangements
for appointment of an independent advisor and inform the
Board of the arrangements. Any advice obtained from the
independent advisor shall be made available to the full Board
by the Company Secretary. Any discussion of, or decision on,
the relevant subject, as the case may be, shall be delayed until
the Board has received the independent advices.

TEE

TEICEFR mBEEIEMAERXIFE 27

B

& (@)

ExE(®)
H EBESRBUEXEEREFR

EXeCAMENER  REFHEEEN
BRATSRBYEEER  EFAARFX
N -BEFEARGEERBRIIISESR
HBIEXER  UBHRERTEHAR
AMELE -

EEMAESKER  ARKUEESIAR
MARWE  MZBAEVLEABR  (VES
KERMFERE  (NROEXRNERR
Ko (i) A ELBUAS B0 R 1 22 5 9 98 7 A ) (40
B c ARWERERZANENEAL
TER  TREEENILE - EFARERM
MEEE —EAENERAEE - MEFER
RERFIUBRNERATAE  EZN
BYBEALTEE  AMFARLERNES
fEhRER - INEFERBREFREHRE
M REHBREREEZES(BYIESR
ERE ZZE8enKEREAHEESEN
SNRERME) N2 EBILIENITES - %
EMARBIUZEENBF R EEORE
B RE RAWERRREBIEREL
FBRY YAEFSERBALH - AF
WERICEVERMMENTAERERATE
EZ2TBENE BRFENEANIRICRE
(BEAME) EHEZEZTGRIFBEIER
ZIETHELT -



28

BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(g

Board diversity

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) on 27 January 2014 which sets out its
approach to achieve diversity on the Board with a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company. During the year, the Board Diversity Policy was
reviewed and updated to require such policy be reviewed at
least annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The Company will also take into account factors based on its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board Diversity Policy is posted on the website of the
Company.

Pursuant to the new requirements under the Rule 13.92 under
the Listing Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2022,
the Company will have to appoint at least one female Director
on the Board no later than 31 December 2024. The Board will
strive to look for suitable candidate(s) in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy and appoint
new director(s) to join the Board no later than 31 December
2024.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take steps to
promote diversity at all levels of its workforce. The Group
provides equal opportunity to all employees and does not
discriminate on the grounds of gender, race, age, nationality,
religion, sexual orientation, disability, and any other aspects
of diversity. As of 31 December 2022, our total workforce
comprised 70.2% male and 29.8% female.

Further details on the gender ratio of the Group can be found in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 79
of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT TEEBRE @
(continued)
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EEE(HE)

(h) Nomination, appointment and re-election of Directors (h) & - ZERERES

Recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company
is a matter for consideration by the Nomination Committee.
The Company adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 11 December 2018 and updated on
30 June 2022 which sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and the criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should consider the
certain criteria including but not limited to:

e character and integrity;

e qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, as well as
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company;

e any potential contributions that the candidate can bring
to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity; and

e willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

As regards the nomination process, the Nomination Committee
should review the biographical information of the candidate
and evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out in the Nomination Policy to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship. If the process yields
one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee
should rank them by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company. After reviewing the suitable candidates, the
Nomination Committee should make recommendation to
the Board for appointment of the appropriate candidate for
directorship.

For re-election of Directors at general meeting, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy and the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules before making
recommendations to the Board.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(h)

@i

Nomination, appointment and re-election of Directors
(continued)

According to the Articles, any Director so appointed by the
Board shall hold office, in the case of filling a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Board, only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment, and
shall then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting.
Every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

All Directors (including all Non-executive Directors) have
entered into service agreements or letters of engagement with
the Company for a term of not more than three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three Independent Non-executive
Directors and one of them has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number
of Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
represents not less than one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers
that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Any re-election of an independent non-executive director who
has served the board for more than nine years, his/her further
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

()

(k)

Insurance for directors’ and officers’ liability
Appropriate insurance covering directors’ and officers’ liabilities
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of
the Group.

Directors’ training and professional development
Newly appointed Directors will be given a director’s induction
kit containing general information on the Company’s
structure, key policies of the Company, role and responsibility
of Directors and introduction of regulatory requirements.
Directors are continually updated on the latest development
of the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practice. Directors are also encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary facilitates
induction and professional development of Directors and the
Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors.
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(continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(k)

Directors’ training and professional development
(continued)

All Directors have provided to the Company their records of
training received during the financial year ended 31 December
2022, a summary of which is as follows:

ExE(®)
k) ESHIRERREEE)
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MRDEE - BEERWT ¢

Continuous professional development

FREXRE

Type (Note 1) Subject (Note 1)

Directors = Ego A
Dong Xiaojie™ B/ B 1,4
Chen Zhouping BR AL A 1
B 1,4

Li Zhi FE A 1
B 1,4

Tam King Ching, Kenny BRIE A 1,2
B 1,4

Yip Kin Man, Raymond ERE A 1
B 1,3,4

Chan Pat Lam BRAEAR A 1
B 1,4

Zhao Jiuliang® AR A 1
B 1,4

M Appointed on 21 September 2022.
@ Resigned as Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

Note I:

A:  Attending seminars, conferences, forums, in-house briefings or
in-house training

B:  Reading newspapers, journals and updates

Note Il:

1:  Laws, rules and regulations

2:  Finance, accounting or taxation

3:  Management

4:  Businesses relating to the Company
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The roles of Chairman and Managing Director are separate and
exercised by different individuals to reinforce their independence
and accountability. Mr. Dong Xiaojie is the Chairman and Mr.
Chen Zhouping serves as the Managing Director of the Company.
The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and ensures that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities. The
Managing Director has overall chief executive responsibility for
the Group’s business development and day-to-day management
generally. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
the Managing Director is clearly established and set out in writing.

The responsibilities of the Chairman include, amongst other things:

e taking primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established;

e ensuring that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings, and ensuring that Directors receive, in a
timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate,
clear, complete and reliable;

e encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to ensure that the
Board acts in the best interest of the Company;

e encouraging Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allowing sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensuring that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus;

e ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communications with shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

e promoting a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of Non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and
Non-executive Directors.

During the year, the Chairman met with the Independent Non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors.
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the following committees to oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the

execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their

own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the committees

will be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.

(@

Executive Committee

An Executive Committee of the Board was established in
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of
reference of the Executive Committee are posted on the website
of the Company.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved
for the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the
Group and has been assigned with the responsibilities to
perform the corporate governance duties as follows:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

* to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Group’s
employees and Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

e to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed
by legislation.

The Executive Committee comprises all Executive Directors of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(@

(b)

Executive Committee (continued)

During the year, seven physical meetings of the Executive
Committee were held. Amongst those meetings, one meeting
was held for the purpose of performing the corporate
governance duties and the attendances of the members of the
Executive Committee at that meeting are as follows:

Committee members
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Number of
meeting(s)
attended/eligible
to attend
HESERE
SERHE
BRRE

Dong Xiaojie!" (chairman of the committee)
Chen Zhouping

Zhao Jiuliang® (chairman of the committee) HAR (.

M Appointed on 21 September 2022.
@ Ceased to be a committee member with effect from 21 September
2022.

The major work in relation to the corporate governance of the
Group performed by the Executive Committee during the year
included, amongst other things, the following:

e reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Audit Committee

An Audit Committee of the Board was established in January
2014 with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference

of the Audit Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, amongst

other things:

e overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor;

NWEEEEE) 1/1

717
6/6

) T _FAAZT—BHETBAZESK

o

O RIBZ_FAA+—RERE-
E

HTZEERFANEBTARAEE
MEZTHEEFPRIP)AOT

TRER

RHAAABE-FE-—E+=A=+
— AL FEETREEATANERR
FH (D EEARE) MORE -

b) FLEES

EXeR TNEKZEER T NF—A
R ZRESAZHAIANBESRE B2
HAEBELEE BRZESNREEE
2RI B ENEE R P AN R R ABUA A o

|
H



36

BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(b)

Audit Committee (continued)

e making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor;

e reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;

e reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and

e reviewing the arrangements that employees of the
Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate
any activity within its terms of reference and the authority to
obtain outside legal or other independent professional advice,
at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it
considers necessary. It is given access to and assistance from
the employees and reasonable resources to perform its duties

properly.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Non-
executive Director and the Audit Committee comprises all
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company. None of
the members of the Audit Committee are former partners of the
auditor of the Company.
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During the year, three physical meetings of the Audit Committee FA- - BEREEGLRTZREE  BKE

were held and the attendances of the members of the Audit BeEKENHRERENT
Committee are as follows:

Number of

meeting(s)

attended/eligible

to attend

HEEBRRE

BERHE

Committee members EEERE 2ERH

Tam King Ching, Kenny (chairman of the committee) #iR1E(ZEEE/E) 3/3

Yip Kin Man, Raymond EER 3/3

Chan Pat Lam BRAE AR 3/3
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(continued)
BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) EEEETZEE(H)
(b) Audit Committee (continued) b) BEREZEE(E)
The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the ERZEENFARTHNIEI(ESE
year included, amongst other things, the following: T
e reviewing the final results of the Group for the year ended s EHAKEBE_T_—F+_A=+
31 December 2021; —HLEMBRFERENZFERE
e reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six e EHAKEEBE_Z __E/\H +H
months ended 30 June 2022; and IERE AR EREEAS
e reviewing the reports on the risk management and internal o EHBUEMAOFAKENEREE
control systems of the Group prepared by an independent NAEBEEIE R RBE R RS -

advisory firm.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit EEeRNFAMETRAEEZZESYHE
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or B EE BHEBRRIINEREMEENE
dismissal of the external auditor. e
(c) Nomination Committee (0 REEES

A Nomination Committee of the Board was established in i%AﬁTE’m%K,\ R-ZF—MFE—H
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which K - ZEGAE ANBESE - FE
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of uﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂz%&fﬁ TE%?D ) B 7 0 (2
reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the 2 RIS E B AT R AR BIABEA o

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include: REZEGNIEBERRE

e reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board s BIEFEMRE - ABEAEK - X5t
and making recommendations on any proposed changes EAREAARARRBMRLEESE
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate HE S BRI EE
strategy;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board e YEABABERAETESENAL:
members and selecting or making recommendations to the WHERZEBA T HEESHFULRA
Board; E=gREER

e making recommendations to the Board on the appointment s MEZZEXENEZEURESZEMLS
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for FmEFESREES

Directors;
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(c) Nomination Committee (continued)

e assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors;

e reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and reviewing
the progress on achieving the objectives; and

e reviewing the Nomination Policy, including to review
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
to select and recommend candidates for directorship, as
appropriate.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed
and put forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be tendered to the Board for approval. In considering the
nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will
give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy, and take into account the qualification,
ability, working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates. In determining the independence of
Directors, the Board follows the requirements set out in the
Listing Rules.

The Board Diversity Policy is posted on the website of the
Company. For further details of the Nomination Policy, please
refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination, appointment and
re-election of Directors” under “Board of Directors” section in
this report.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any
necessary information from the employees within its scope
of duties and the authority to obtain outside independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its
responsibilities if it considers necessary.
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) EEgETZEE(HA)

(c) Nomination Committee (continued) (c REZES(E
The chairman of the Nomination Committee is the Chairman of RELZEEMNEIFERHESTSEFEEET - AR
the Board and the Independent Non-executive Directors of the FNBIYNTEEFHREBZEGHKRS
Company constitute the majority of the Nomination Committee. 2o
During the year, three physical meetings of the Nomination FA REBZEGLRITZREE  REBZ
Committee were held and the attendances of the members of BEeXKEMTFELENT

the Nomination Committee are as follows:

Number of

meeting(s)

attended/eligible

to attend

HEEERE

BEREE

Committee members E3=R-954-| BERH

Dong Xiaojie®" (chairman of the committee) RIRN(ZEEEEE) 11

Li Zhi & 3/3

Tam King Ching, Kenny Bl 3/3

Yip Kin Man, Raymond EER 3/3

Chan Pat Lam BRABAR 3/3

Zhao Jiuliang® (chairman of the commiitee) HAR (ZEEEE) 2/2
@ Appointed on 21 September 2022. O RZEBEZ_FAAZ+—RAEZE-

T _FNAZT—BEBTBAZESK

@ Ceased to be a committee member with effect from 21 September I
2022. =
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(c) Nomination Committee (continued)

(d)

The major work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year included, amongst other things, the following:

assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

considering and making recommendations to the Board on
the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting
and extraordinary general meeting;

reviewing the structure and composition of the Board with
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board; and

considering and making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment of Mr. Dong Xiaojie as Executive Director
of the Company and the Chairman of the Board.

Remuneration Committee

A Remuneration Committee of the Board was established in
January 2014 with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with its authorities and duties. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management of the Group;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and
objectives;

determining, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors
and senior management and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
(d) Remuneration Committee (continued)

e reviewing and approving compensation payable to
Executive Directors and senior management and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct;

e ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;

e  reviewing the Director Remuneration Policy, including to
review the general principle on determining remuneration
of the Directors, as appropriate; and

e reviewing and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman of the
Board and/or the Managing Director of the Company about their
remuneration proposals for other Executive Directors. It has
explicit authority to seek any necessary information from the
employees within its scope of duties and the authority to obtain
outside independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The Company adopted a director remuneration policy (the
“Remuneration Policy”) on 30 June 2022 which sets out the
general principle on determining remuneration of the Directors.

According to the Remuneration Policy, remuneration for all
Directors shall be reviewed annually with reference to other
companies of comparable business or scale. In reviewing the
salary of Executive Directors, the Remuneration Committee
should make decisions with reference to the then prevailing
market conditions, the performance of the Company and the
performance of individual Directors. In reviewing the director’s
fee of Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors, the Remuneration Committee should take into
consideration of the experience and duties of such Director as
well as the then prevailing market conditions.

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is an
Independent Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company constitute the majority of
the Remuneration Committee.

TEE
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(continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d) Remuneration Committee (continued)
During the year, one physical meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendances of the members of
the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

EE2ETZEES(H)
d) FMEESE)

TR HFHZEEGBRRIT-REH - HFHZ
BeRKEMEFIEMT

Number of

meeting(s)

attended/eligible

to attend

HESERE

BERHE

Committee members ZEgHE BRRE
Yip Kin Man, Raymond (chairman of the committee) ~ ERR(ZE&+/%F) 1
Dong Xiaojie R/PRD 0/0
Tam King Ching, Kenny B IE 11
Chan Pat Lam FERAAK 71
Zhao Jiuliang® HAR® il

M Appointed on 21 September 2022.
@ Ceased to be a committee member with effect from 21 September
2022.

The major work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year included, amongst other things, the following:

e  considering, reviewing and determining the remuneration
of the Executive Directors of the Company for the year
2023;

e considering the bonuses of the Executive Directors of the
Company for the year 2022;

e considering, reviewing and approving the terms of
Executive Directors’ service contracts;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the director’s
fee of the Non-executive Directors of the Company for the
year 2023;

e making recommendations to the Board on the engagement
letter of the Non-executive Directors of the Company; and

e considering and determining the salary of Mr. Dong
Xiaojie, the Executive Director appointed during the year.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors and senior
management for the year are set out in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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(continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for advising the Board through the Chairman and/or the Managing
Director of the Company on corporate governance and the
implementation of the CG Code. The Company Secretary is an
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Group's affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Managing
Director. All Directors also have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed. The selection,
appointment and dismissal of the Company Secretary is subject to
the Board approval.

Mr. Leung Wai Hung has been appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company since 11 April 2022. He has confirmed that he has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledged that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems.

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of the
CG Code by maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and monitoring of such systems, while
the Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, oversees the
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described in the sections below.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risks associated with its businesses and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: ldentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that may affect the achievement of objectives.

*  Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

*  Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

TEICEFR mAEIEBRERAA 43

TEE

B

& (@)

DNEAMWE

NAMEXERESTS  BEREFEXNEZMEA
RRRME  AREZERRMEFSAERE -2
AWETARBBIRE RARRERBERE
AEEEMREEERBENREEE AT ZHET
EEREH#HER - ARMERARRFANER - A
SENBEREHEARH

NEAMEMIERESFREBER - MBEESEN
ARGRARMENERRRYE  WEFREESRE
FFRFABERER - RAIRBRHISABST - A7
WEMRE  ZTEBBARESSHE -

REHFEB T _FHAT-—HEEZER
ARBZAFIME - REIERFAEZTIR
TR/ EEE

RREERABER

EEQRIAE  BRADARILEZSER
ARZAREBRARERRRREEE LK
ff-

REAN ARBEEEZRERERERZREARE
BRAMEZRRR  TAEXREARTRED.2A
REl- ERERABR B REEEEREL
MEFSNEERZEENHY T AERHERE
BEEEEITEARE - AREELRABEZRS
ZEBBER T XED L -

}itlg‘ﬁ%}g?\n}b
AEBRWN—ERREBE RS ABBEEERK
REFHMZ AR - ZRZHGBEATRER :

o HE BBARERS  EHEBRETL
FERRERZER -

o M DERRRZ T RVE Tt
B AP EBAAS -

o EH: EREBREHTE BRESFESE
TTARER  ARFEEEHESRRR -



44 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  {h¥E4

(continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2022, the details of
significant risks and the relevant risk responses are highlighted as

follow:

Risk Category
BB

Risk Title
et

Risk Description

B 4

Bk EE R AP B E ()
B I A A ()
KIE-F - —FRTZARTE  BHEARR
RAAHAR e S R FEHRmT -

Risk Response

EREH TR

Operational risk

EER R

Inflation risk and
currency risk

BIRRR R SRR

The majority of revenue of BWI
Poland Technologies sp.z.0.0.
(“BWI Poland”) has been
received in Euro and USD. The
annual inflation rate by the end
of 2022 for European Union was
10.4%, compared to 5.3% by
the end of 2021. For the annual
inflation rate for US, it was 6.5%
by the end of 2022 as compared
to 7.0% by the end of 2021.

BWI Poland Technologies
sp.z.o.o.([RAEKHE]) 8 K 5
Wz AR TT R ZE T AR » BRER
RZBE-__FEFRENFERIK
ER104% MR B —FF
KAIA5.3% - EBRMNFEBIR
RAHE RZE_—_FFEKAE
6.5% MR- = —FFEKEH
57.0% °

In order to minimize the foreign
exchange impact on Euro and
USD, BWI Poland has been
trying to match their purchases
with their sales, and buy direct
materials in the same receiving
currency to the payment from
customers.

In response to the inflation
situation, BWI Poland has also
tried to relieve the situation
through commercial negotiations
and to achieve transfer of part
of the relevant risks, on both the
purchase side and the sales side,
inserting certain clauses in the
contract and transferring part of
the risks to the counterparty.

REEMRKERHEITRETH
FE O RAKR-BEEALRE
ERGHE AR - AR PRI P
W ESBEEERM -

RELHBERBR - RAEKBEIRE
FRRAEHEEMBR - WK
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RBRER - EEAOPIMAETE
R HBLIRARERERSY
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(continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Risk Category
B\ B 3 51

Risk Title
AkxATE

TEICEFR mBEEIEMERXA 45

TEE

Risk Description

2R B i ot

B

& (@)

e B T FE I PO R R 4 ()

BB BB R A ()

Risk Response

B B 5 =

Operational risk

Over-reliance of
suppliers

As the industry is highly
technology-demanding, among
the current suppliers profile of
BWI Poland, certain suppliers
adds up to take up as most
as around 90% of the current
market share. Therefore BWI
Poland is highly dependent
over the relevant suppliers in
completing the purchase order,
and it may result in BWI Poland
needing to delay the production
schedule if there is any problem
with the supply from the relevant
suppliers, which could further
result in customers cancelling
sales order and reduce the
Company’s revenue and affect
the Company’s reputation.

Containment and mitigation
measures imposed by the
government following the
worldwide outbreak of novel
coronavirus (COVID-19)
pandemic may also led to
potential supply chain disruption.

In 2022, the impact to BWI
Poland from containment and
mitigation measures imposed by
the government following the
worldwide outbreak of novel
coronavirus is minimal. There
has been weekly meeting in the
manufacturing plant to keep
track of all production schedules
and cost situation.

In regards to the over-reliance of
certain suppliers, BWI Poland has
maintained a clear and highly
transparent communication with
the customer side when entering
into sales contracts involving
direct materials from exclusive
suppliers.

BWI Poland has also maintained
a good relationship with all
suppliers to help with matching
production schedule.

In case of contingency situations,
e.g. shortage of certain materials
in the market, the R&D team
can also suggest substitute
for relevant materials to the
production team.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

Rk EE RS

TEERBRE®

BﬁMIE&WMB E'-r (nﬁ

t (48)

Risk Category Risk Title Risk Description Risk Response
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(continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Risk Management System (continued)

The management has established risk management framework to
identify risks, setting risk aptitudes and develop risk responses plans.
The management will review the framework regularly to ascertain
the effectiveness of the risk management process. The management
will also actively identify, report and discuss the risk responses
based on the dynamic economic environment and uncertainties.
In addition, the management will also establish mechanisms to
identify environmental changes and analyze the related risks and
opportunities.

Internal Control Systems

The Board is responsible for overall ensuring, maintaining and
overseeing the internal control systems of the Group. The Executive
Committee assists the Board to discharge its responsibilities of
ensuring and maintaining appropriate and effective internal control
functions by continuously reviewing and monitoring the internal
control systems and processes so as to ensure that they can manage
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss of the
Group.

The internal control systems of the Group are embedded within
the business processes so that they function as an integral part
of the overall operations of the Group. The systems comprise a
comprehensive organization structure with assignment of definite
accountabilities and delegation of the corresponding authorities to
each post. Based on the organization structure, a reporting system
has been developed which includes a reporting system from division
head of each principal business unit to the Executive Committee.

TECCEER ZAEIREERAE 47
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Control Systems (continued)

The Company has in place internal control systems which are
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The main
components of the framework are shown as follows:

e Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal control
across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed.

e Control Activities: Policies and procedures to help ensure that
the management directives to mitigate risks to the achievement
of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

e Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of the internal control systems is
present and functioning.

The Board considers that it is an ongoing and continuous process
for the Group to review and improve its internal control systems
in order to ensure that they can meet with the dynamic and ever-
changing business environment. During the Year under Review, the
Board has reviewed, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems and is not
aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse impact on
the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. Also, based on the internal control
reviews conducted in 2022, no significant control deficiency was
identified.

e B T FE I PO R R 4 ()

B BE 42 A 4t (48)
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(continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Internal Audit

The Group has outsourced the internal audit work to SHINEWING
Risk Services Limited (“SHINEWING”), which is one of the
professional internal audit services provider in Hong Kong.
SHINEWING is independent of the Group’s daily operations and
carry out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

According to the established plan, review of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted annually and the results
are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the effectiveness
of these systems has been conducted annually. Several areas have
been considered during the Board’s review, which include but not
limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks
since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and the external environment; and (ii) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and
of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review, together with the review made by the
Audit Committee and the work done by SHINEWING, concluded
that the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
were effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. In respect
of accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the Company, the Board also considered that the resources, staff
qualifications and experience of relevant staff and SHINEWING
were adequate and the training programs and budget provided were
sufficient.
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INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy (the
“Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) on 21 December 2015
which sets out the procedures for the handling and dissemination
of inside information with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent
or selective dissemination of inside information and ensuring
shareholders and the public are provided with full, accurate and
timely information about the activities and the financial condition
of the Group. The Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the
following:

e setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and escalating
potential inside information to the Board;

e setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e identifying who are the Company’s authorized spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with stakeholders
of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations
in respect of inside information.

The Inside Information Disclosure Policy is posted on the website of
the Company.

REHERBER

AARRZZE—RAFT_AZ+—BEMAARE
ERBERR((ARERMERE])  2h5HE
BREMARBEENRERF  §EER2TFY 1
HIEREUERHAREE LEREREARER
BRAAEENEB MY BRANEE - EHENE
FHERER - ABEERBERERENATA

~
S

- BB HERAEFRRIEEONE
HE R

s FHSABENEME BHRABHERE
[ ERERBENAREERAERETE
ZEREREEE K

o BRARTRENEFTARINARLEARRF
MEAREEEBRNEE -

AN ARRERMAEHEBE LEEABERN
FHEBERE -

EEeR/ARREBREEEBARREENER
> RUAREARARESEBEBITARHE
BHWEEL -

AR BERBEBREHNARTMIEA



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In line with the commitment to achieve and maintain high standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Company expects
and encourages employees of the Group and those who deal with
the Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, consultants and agents) to
report to the Company any suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice concerning the Group. In this regard, the Company has
adopted the whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”)
on 24 January 2014 and further updated on 30 June 2022. The
procedures aim to provide reporting channels and guidance on
reporting possible improprieties. The Board delegated the authority
to the Audit Committee, which is responsible for ensuring that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of
any matters raised and appropriate follow-up actions are taken.

The Whistleblowing Policy and the whistleblowing report form are
posted on the website of the Company.

ANTI-FRAUD & ANTI-BRIBERY POLICY

In its business dealings, the Group does not tolerate any form of
bribery, whether direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers,
employees, agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting
for it or on its behalf. The Company adopted an anti-fraud & anti-
bribery policy (the “Anti-Fraud Policy”) on 30 June 2022, which
outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance stance against bribery and
corruption, assists employees in recognising circumstance which
may lead to or give the appearance of being involved in corruption
or unethical business conduct, so as to avoid such conduct which is
clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where necessary.

The Anti-Fraud Policy is posted on the website of the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) of the
Listing Rules as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’
securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

Employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation
to the Company or its shares are required to prohibit from dealing in
shares of the Company during the black-out period.
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AUDITORS” REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s
auditors, Ernst & Young, is set out as follows:

BB <
ERERM,/ A TARARBAE AR HE
BHROHLBIMT -

HK$’000

Services rendered PR i BR 7% FHExT

Audit services BT RS 1,851
Non-statutory audit services: SEEEEAIRT ¢

— Interim review - R HAER R 1,311

3,162

The remuneration paid/payable to the other external auditor for the
annual audit services for one of the Group’s subsidiaries during the
year was HK$616,000.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and in presenting the
annual and interim reports and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules, the Directors aim to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and
prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, about
its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
121 to 127 of this annual report.
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(continued)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
To foster effective communications with the shareholders, the
Company provides extensive information in its annual and interim

reports and announcements. All shareholders’ communications are
also available on the Company’s website at www.bwi-intl.com.hk.

(@

(b)

Shareholders” Communication Policy

On 27 January 2014, the Board adopted a shareholders’
communication policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication
Policy”) reflecting the current practices of the Company for
communication with its shareholders. It will be reviewed on
an annual basis with updates last made in June 2022. Such
policy aims at ensuring the shareholders of the Company are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Company, in order
to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow shareholders to engage actively with
the Company. During the year, the Board has reviewed the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and continued its
effectiveness.

General meeting

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
All Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor
is also available at the annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries. In case of any general meeting to
approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is
subject to independent shareholders” approval, members of the
independent Board committee will also make an effort to attend
to address shareholders’ queries.

During the year, two general meetings were held by the
Company. One of the general meetings was the annual general
meeting of the Company was held on 27 May 2022 (the “2022
AGM”), and the other one was the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 13 December 2022 (the
“EGM”) for approving the continuing connected transactions
of the Group, re-election of Mr. Dong Xiaojie as Director and
the amendments to the existing memorandum and articles of
association of the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

(b)

General meeting (continued)

The auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, attended the 2022
AGM and the EGM. Details of the Directors” attendances at the
general meetings held during the year are as follows:

TEEBRE @

B2 IR SR VB 8 ()

(b) BRAE(H)

AR ZBEN L KGR EBEHAHEET =
- _FERRBFAEMBERENAE - &
ERARBFARITHRRAEG K HE L
wr

2022 AGM EGM
—E-CHF
Directors 2= BRERBEFEXRE BESH RS
Executive Directors HITEF
Dong Xiaojie™ (Chairman) RNARO(ERE) N/A 73 v
Chen Zhouping BRA v 4
Zhao Jiuliang® (Chairman) HEARO(E ) v N/A i F
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Li Zhi = v (4
Independent Non-executive Directors BN TEFE
Tam King Ching, Kenny B lE v v
Yip Kin Man, Raymond ERR v v
Chan Pat Lam PR AA AR v v

M Appointed on 21 September 2022.
@ Resigned as Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

During the year, all notice(s) of general meeting(s) despatched
by the Company to its shareholders for meeting(s) held were sent
for annual general meeting at least 21 clear days and at least
20 clear business days before the meeting and for extraordinary
general meeting (at which the passing of a special resolution
was considered) at least 21 clear days and at least 10 clear
business days before the meeting, and for all other extraordinary
general meeting(s) at least 14 clear days and at least 10 clear
business days before the meeting(s). Separate resolutions were
proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate
issue, including the election of individual Directors, and all
resolutions put to the vote of a general meeting were taken
by way of a poll. At the general meeting, the chairman of the
meeting explained the procedures for conducting a poll and
answered questions from shareholders on voting by poll, if any.
The results of the poll were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(continued)

(c) Dividend Policy
The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 11 December 2018 which set out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of
the Company.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. In respect of recommendation or declaration of
any dividend, the Board should ensure that the Company can
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value
on an ongoing basis.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors
of the Company and its subsidiaries when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

e financial results;

e cash flow situation;

e business conditions and strategies;

e future operations and earnings;

e capital requirements and expenditure plans;

e interests of shareholders;

e any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Save for the factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, the Board
must also comply with the Articles and all applicable laws and
regulations before declaration and distribution of any dividends
to the shareholders of the Company at its discretion.
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BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(@

(b)

Convene an extraordinary general meeting and put
forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions under the Companies Act (as revised)
of the Cayman Islands allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at general meetings.

However, pursuant to the Articles, any one or more member(s)
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis,
of the Company at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene
a physical meeting, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders” enquiries

Specific enquiries or suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our principal
office in Hong Kong or by email to our Company. In addition,
shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services Limited, the
share registrar of the Company, if they have any enquiries
about their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend. Relevant
contact details are set out on page 3 of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, an amended and restated memorandum and articles

of association of the Company was adopted at the EGM. Details of

the amendments to the memorandum and articles of association

of the Company were set out in the circular of the Company dated
17 November 2022. Save as aforesaid, there is no change in the

Company’s constitutional documents during the year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE REPORT

BeijingWest Industries International Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group” or “We”) are pleased to present our
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report (the “ESG
Report”). The ESG Report summarises the efforts and achievements
made by the Group in corporate social responsibility and sustainable
development. As for the information on corporate governance,
please refer to the corporate governance report on pages 57 to 92 of
this annual report.

Scope of the Report

The ESG report covers the business segment of the Group, namely,
manufacturing and sales of auto parts, focusing on the operation
of the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland, and
the United Kingdom as well as the technical centre in Poland.
The reporting boundary is set with the considerations of the scale
of operations of production facilities and technical centre and
the significance of their environmental and social impacts. Our
sustainability approach and performance in the environmental and
social aspects of our business for the reporting period from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) are presented in the ESG
Report. The Group continues to strengthen information collection in
order to enhance the performance in environmental domains and to
disclose relative information on sustainable development.

Reporting Standard

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” set out
in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The ESG Report has complied
with all mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or explain”
provisions.

Reporting Principles

Materiality

Material issues are identified and prioritised according to a
materiality assessment conducted through stakeholder engagement.
The key issues shall be utilised as reference for determining goals,
developing various strategies and compiling the ESG report. Relevant
methodologies shall be disclosed in “About the Group” section
below.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE REPORT (continued)

Reporting Principles (continued)

Quantitative

The Group’s ESG performance shall be reflected by the disclosure
of environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”).
Particular standards, methodologies, assumptions and references
adopted shall be presented in respective sections in the ESG Report.

Consistency

The methodologies of KPI calculations shall be kept consistent as far
as practicable. Any changes made would be presented and explained
in detail in respective sections in the ESG Report.

Feedback

We welcome your feedback and your opinions will be highly valued.
Should you have any advice or suggestions on the ESG report, please
contact us at info@bwi-intl.com.hk.

ABOUT THE GROUP

The Group principally engages in the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts and components, trading of automotive parts and
components and the provision of technical services. The Group’s
automotive suspension products are mainly for premium passenger
vehicles, which are manufactured by our plants in Europe. Through
developing and maintaining a strong relationship with the major
customers, the Group well understands the technical requirements
of the customers and has expertise in the manufacturing process for
premium passenger vehicles.

Being a responsible enterprise with businesses in different countries,
the Group and its employees are subject to the laws and regulations
of the countries where it operates, as well as the requirements and
standards of the industry.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Board Statement

The Group considers that excellent ESG governance strategies or
initiatives are inextricably linked with the stable enhancement of
investment values, facilitating the sustainability of long-term returns
to shareholders. The Board acknowledges the responsibility of
sustaining the ESG governance structure and it is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s execution of ESG-related matters, including
evaluating ESG risks. The Board reviews, assesses and monitors
how ESG strategies cooperate among business divisions. The Board
shall continue to review, discuss and seek improvements for better
compilation of the ESG Report.

The Board is responsible for concerning and executing the
stakeholder engagement to assemble views from various perspectives
through questionnaires for a comprehensive materiality assessment.
To facilitate independence, we have invited third-party ESG
professionals to help analyse, evaluate and prioritise the significant
ESG issues of the Group’s business. The Board also provides several
stakeholder engagement channels for better communication. The
Board keeps track of emerging market trends and closely follows the
latest international trends relating to ESG-related issues which may
potentially impact the business operations of the Group. Accordingly,
the Board shall make timely adjustments to business operations, and
monitor and review the compliance status of ESG-related laws and
regulations enacted by external governing/regulatory parties.

The ESG achievements are presented to our stakeholders annually
through the ESG Report. The Board shall consider all opinions
received and keep seeking improvement in ESG strategies to achieve
our ultimate sustainable goals.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement

During the preparation of the ESG report for the Year, the Group
engaged an independent third-party consultant to assist in gathering
opinions from its internal key stakeholders on ESG issues. The
opinions received enabled us to improve our internal management
while enhancing the quality of the ESG Report. Therefore, the Group
attaches great importance to stakeholders’ opinions and takes their
opinions as the basis for its formulation and implementation of
short-term and long-term sustainability strategies. Through a wide
range of channels, we strive to communicate with stakeholders and
understand their requirements and expectations so as to further
improve our ESG performance.
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Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Means of Communication and Response
#0E ERRHBE BEREERE
Governments and e Compliance with national policies, laws e  Regular information reporting
Regulators and regulations EHREEM
BT K% B Bt i BTBIRBR  ARNOER e Dedicated reports
e Contribution to local employment EERE
HEBE LR e Examinations and inspections
e Tax payment in full and on time & RAREE
2R e Safety Metrics
e Production safety ZRIER
EERE
Shareholders e Returns e General meetings
ARER (o] ¥ BRERRE
e Compliant operations e Announcements
BTEERTE N
e  Company value enhancement e Email, telephone communication and
REAFER company website

e Transparency and effective
communication

BERBERERERER

B BEABLARML
e Dedicated reports
BE®RE
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ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (continued)
Stakeholders

Requirements and Expectations Means of Communication and Response

B0E ERRME BEREERE
Partners e Operation with integrity Review and appraisal meetings
BIERH SRS wE REHZ g%
e Performance of contracts Discussion and exchange of opinions
B1TE4 ARk RZRER
e Mutual benefits Engagement and cooperation
EEEH BARAE
Customers e Outstanding products and services Customer service center and hotlines
P 1B 75 2 fn K AR BP R H 0 K2R
e Health and safety Customer satisfaction survey
BENZE EFmERERAE
e Performance of contracts Meetings with customers
BITEH HEFPEME
e Operation with integrity Social media
B S RIS
Collection of feedback
L EE)
Environment e Compliance with emission regulations Communication with local
RIR BTHRRTE environmental departments
e Energy saving and emission reduction BLE I IRREBPE B
B A SR BE Reporting (e.g. ESG Reporting)
e Environmental protection BEMNRE - HgRER/WE)
RERE Investigations and inspections

HE MR
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ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (continued)

Stakeholders

Requirements and Expectations

BiE H2RERHE®

Annual Report 2022

BARAKE (&)
K ESREE

Means of Communication and Response

& BEREHE BEKEERE
Industry e Establishment of industry standards e Participation in industry forums
ES BIITRESE SEITERIE
e Enhancement of industry development
HETTRER
Employees e Protection of rights *  Meetings with employees
(== IRIEHER HESSM®
e Occupational health and safety e House journal and intranet
BEERENZ2 PR B 55 & B
e Remunerations and benefits e Employee mailbox
oW b g A BEHAE
e Career development e Training and workshops
EXRBR Bl R TS
e Humanity cares
AX AR

Community and the Public
HERAR

Enhancement of community
environment

HEHRIRE

e  Participation in charity

e  Transparency
BHRAR

e Company website
YNGIF b

e Announcements
e

e  Social media

RIS



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)

Materiality Assessment

The materiality assessment was conducted by scoring the material
issues based on internal stakeholder surveys. With the aid of third-
party professionals, we also gathered the material issues for the
industry addressed by two well-known external authorities'. We
further merged those material issues and finalised the representative
material issues as shown below:
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Aspects Material Issues Corresponding Sections
=] BEREE HEEE
Environmental e Energy Management e Excellence in Environment
RIR EREE RIRRITE RS BRIR
> Reducing energy consumption
P K REIRBE
e Waste Management e Excellence in Environment
BEEYE R REBRERTENSEBRE
> Sorting of waste
BEZE M 1A
Employment and Labour e Labour Management e Excellence in Our Workplace
Practices BIER RIERBHENEHRE
BELSIER > Employment and Welfare
(EEPEER
e Occupational Health and Safety e Excellence in Our Workplace
BEERERELZS RIERRETEN SRS
> Health and Safety

' The material issues are addressed via materiality maps of two external
authorities, namely the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB)
and MSCl Inc.

T BAREBIEMEIN RSB EEE ST
R 8 € (SASB) RMSCI Inc.) K1 B 2 EFEIRH o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

ABOUT THE GROUP (continued)
Materiality Assessment (continued)

BiE H2RERHE®

BARAKE (&)
ERMME

Aspects Material Issues Corresponding Sections
=] EXREE HEEE
Operating Practices e Operational Compliance e Excellence in Our Business
EEER 2EAM REETHNE BRI
> Promoting Integrity
BEBIE
e Product Quality & Safety e Excellence in The Marketplace
EmEERLE RS ENEBRE
> Product Quality
EmEE
e Materials Sourcing & Efficiency e Excellence in The Marketplace
FYRHR AR B R K RI5 77 H RS BRI
> Fair Treatment of Suppliers
NFHFHER
> Product Quality
EmEE
e Research and Development e Excellence in The Marketplace
ot paE RI5 77 H RS BRI
> Product Quality
EmZE
e Anti-corruption e Excellence in Our Business
RES REBTH SRR

> Promoting Integrity
BEBIE



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT

Environmental Principles

The role of a responsible corporate citizen is largely defined by
the Group’s commitment to protecting natural resources and the
global environment. The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations where it operates regarding environmental protection,
including the Act on Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control of
the Czech Republic, the Environmental Protection Law of Poland
and the Environmental Protection Act 1990 of the UK. The daily
operation of the Group is governed by environmental principles.
To ensure the Group’s sustainable growth and prosperity while
protecting the environment, it keeps on reducing solid waste and air
pollution, conserving resources and recycling materials by harnessing
technologies.

Our commitment goes beyond compliance with laws and
encompasses the integration of sound environmental practices in
our business decisions. Necessary permits were obtained under
applicable environmental protection laws for the operation of
production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK,
such as environmental permits in the areas of air emissions, water
discharge and waste disposal.

To further urge the Group forward for environmental sustainability,
the Group has declared several environment-related targets and goals
in its Sustainability Policy, governing the direction of the Group’s
development towards a more environmentally sustainable future.
The targets revolve around four main aspects, including greenhouse
gas emissions, energy and water resource consumption, as well as
waste production, mainly focusing on and aiming to use sustainable
energy and materials, generating less waste and reducing greenhouse
gas emissions. The Group constantly looks for methods to reduce the
strain on the environment during the development, manufacturing
and disposal of products.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Environmental Principles (continued)

For example, the production facility in the Czech Republic aimed to
keep updating any environmental impacts, risks and opportunities
during the production of automotive shock absorbers and chassis
modules produced and is committed to actively protecting the
environment primarily against the discharge of pollutants into the
surrounding environment.

The environmental management system was put into practice
to identify risk elements in corporate operations. Environmental
specialists on-site should perform the identification and evaluation
of the environmental factors in order to manage environmental risks
and reduce environmental impact. Environmental management
system procedure has been developed with clear responsibilities
of managerial staff from various departments. Our dedication
to implementing the environmental management system can be
reflected by the certifications of ISO 14001:2015 Environmental
Management System Standard obtained by the production facilities
in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK.

The Group endeavours to make contributions to the sustainability
of our businesses and believes that sustainability should be firstly
reinforced by employees, as employees are essential to the Group’s
overall success. To raise employees’ awareness of environmental
protection, the Group educates, trains and motivates them to carry
out tasks in an environmentally responsible manner. During the
Year, numerous environmental training sessions were held in the
production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland, and the UK,
as well as the technical centre in Poland to broaden employees’
environmental protection knowledge. Such environmental training
courses covered environmental policy, dangerous goods handling
and waste segregation. Looking forward, we will conduct an ongoing
assessment of the impact of our production facilities and products
on the environment and the communities, in an effort to achieve the
goal of continual improvement.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BiE H2RERHE®
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued) RIRRG ENEBRE (F)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource D R B e PR AE EDROE 3%

Consumptions

We highly value the importance of sustainability and recognise ~HfIRAERAIFEMMNEZE - WHARREY
the importance of the environment to our businesses, therefore it  HMIEBHEZEW - Hk - KM EGR/EBR
is our mission to strive to protect the environment and uphold the ~ Z T ETE) - WA RERFEREFAFEERR
principles of sustainability through a multitude of different actions. Bl o #BIERI A5 R REEBIA RN ERE ST E
By enforcing different measures in aspects like pollution and IR © HMIERDR D RMNRERTIL
emission reduction and resource conservation, we try our best in A FFEHEE o

reducing our footprint on the environment and operating sustainably.

(@) Minimising air and water pollutants @ BLERRKGZRY
Air and water pollution in our business operations are mainly BN EBLEMEENERLKOTREE
generated from the manufacturing processes of the production REfER MBI FORE 2 £ ERBRER
facilities in the Czech Republic and Poland, while there are 2 MREEMROREEEZERITRD -
only air pollutants emitted from the technical centre in Poland. R 7 EERMI B RS R HKT
Neither air pollutants nor water pollutants are emitted from the 21 - BT ZERPERY M EEKBER R B E
production facility in the UK. Our air emissions and wastewater HABSR - ARE(RE T HRBABEURE -

discharges are monitored on a regular basis to ensure
compliance with the relevant emission standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND BiE H2RERHE®
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued) REBHRLENEHRE(EH)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource D B D B P AR B RUE #E ()
Consumptions (continued)
(@) Minimising air and water pollutants (continued) @ BLERRKZRY (E)
The following table shows the Group’s performance in relation TREFIAEBRANFE 2 =R N E
to air emissions and wastewater discharges in the Year. IKBEPR 2 RIR -

Emission Limit of

Production Facility Pollutant Unit Emission Amount the Standard
BEREH
EERIE SR B BHE BFHRE
Czech Republic Air Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
ERANE ERSRY - (RRARE R38R0 RIZHRE)
Carbon monoxide mg/m’ 6.30 50
— &AL 2R/ UK
Nitrogen dioxide mg/m’ 2.35 100
—atA R/ UK
Volatile Organic Compounds mg/m’ 16.50 20
BRUEARILEY R/ UHK

Water Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
KBRY) - GREIRE : RA)5 20 L RIEHIRE)

Aluminium mg/L 1.29-3.92 10
in 2R/
Iron mg/L 3.62-19.78 20
i 2R/t
Nickel mg/L 0.04-0.11 0.2
i Zr/7t
Sulphates mg/L 314 - 1,050 1,600

] Zr/Tt



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)
(@ Minimising air and water pollutants (continued)
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BiE H2RERHE®

REBR TG EE#RE (&)
WD B R R B R OE 3% (/)

@) BLZEREKTRY (&)

Emission Limit of

Production Facility Pollutant Unit Emission Amount the Standard
BREREH
EERKE BRY B HE BHRE
Poland Air Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Requirements of Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control)
R ERARY - (RERE - AR I RIEHRE)
Aliphatic hydrocarbons kg/h 0.005 0.143
i FR/
Aromatic hydrocarbons kg/h 0.007 0.093
HE T8,/
Chromium kg/h 0.001 0.100
% T8,/ B
Nitrogen Oxides kg/h 0.020 0.078
R =) T/ E
Particulates kg/h 0.001 0.100
KLY Tr,/ N

Water Pollutants: (Relevant Standard: Integrated Wastewater Discharge Standard)
KFRY) - (HERE A BKBERE)

Chromium
%

Copper

it

Nickel
Zinc

mg/L 0.011-0.0433 0.25
En/f
mg/L 0.006 - 0.0064 0.25
ER/F
mg/L 0.002 - 0.004 0.25
ER/T
mg/L 0.0225 - 0.108 1.00

Zr/7t
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)

(@ Minimising air and water pollutants (continued)

In addition to the emissions from manufacturing processes,
air pollutants are also produced from the use of vehicles and
stationary combustion equipment. The air pollutants of vehicles
and stationary combustion from production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland are as follows:
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2022 2021
Air Emissions (Note 1) =R (F1at1) —B_—F —E_—F
Nitrogen oxides (kg) BE Y (F) 4.312 5,472
Sulphur oxides (kg) matyw(Fr) 44 48
Particulate matter (kg) ROF IR (F7) 39 56
Note: Wtz -
1. Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations 1. REXBEEMMOTRATHE - BEE

of the business, including EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory Guidebook 2019 issued by the European Environment
Agency, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories and Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2020 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

The Group has set a reduction target for air emissions,
specifically on the vehicles involved in operation processes,
such as fork trucks. To achieve the target, the purchasing team
shall take into consideration new fuel types which emit fewer
pollutants. The Group has also set a reduction target for water
pollutant emissions by enhancing the technology of sewage
treatment plants. To improve sewage treatment, the production
facility has been dedicated to improving the ventilation system
and automating the control system of the plants.

MNBEBEM 2 (T — NEBUNE B R T
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)
(b) Minimising greenhouse gas emissions
As a responsible enterprise, the Group understands the
importance of contributing to greenhouse gas emissions
reduction. The greenhouse gas emissions from the production
facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as
technical centre in Poland are set out in the table below:
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(b) HLEZRMEH
Eh—RARENHLYE RAEERRARE
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2022 2021
Greenhouse Gases BERHE —==-= —E_—F
Total greenhouse gas emissions BEREBYNEA
(tonnes COse) (M-SR E 2 23,822 24,983
Greenhouse gas emissions per production & &£ ERHE R EREGH
machine (tonnes CO,e/production MEM —SixEe,
machine) EERRB) 36.76 38.38
Scope 1 = Direct emissions (Note 1) s — - BEBER (W)
(tonnes CO,e) (ME—EtiIRE=R) 3,433 4,336
Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions s — - SRR
(Note 2) (tonnes CO,e) (Htet2) (S i EE 20,086 20,294
Scope 3 — Other indirect emissions = - EAhEEHER
(Note 3) (tonnes CO.e) (Hfet3) (S i E & 303 353
Notes: Kt -
1. Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations 1. REEBESHHNHEREFTE - BER

of the business, including EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory Guidebook 2019 issued by the European Environment
Agency, 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas
Inventories and Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2020 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

2. Based on the emission factors according to the operating locations
of the business, including a) Czech Republic Energy Efficiency
Report, b) Electricity Emission Factor of Poland by the National
Centre for Emissions Management, c) Intensification of the
Biomethanisation Process in Wastewater Treatment Plant by
the University of Warmia and Mazury and Water and Sewage
Corporation, d) 2019 Water, Wastewater Benchmark — Learning
from Internation Best Practices by European Benchmarking Co-
operation, and e) Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors
2020 issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial
Strategy of the UK.

3. Calculated based on the International Civil Aviation Organization
Carbon Emissions Calculator.

In the future, the Group will continue to use natural resources
rationally by closely monitoring the consumption of resources
and taking action if the limit is exceeded so as to further reduce
greenhouse gas emissions.

MBE BB 2 (=T — N FEBUNE AR T
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a)FERAFMBEREAERE) - bEBEER
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KR BB RS RAUKETKA R (Water
and Sewage Corporation)Z {381{t)5 7K 5 1
BRAED R BER) - OBUNEES IEER
(European Benchmarking Co-operation) Z { =
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B Re) BB E - sIR M E R RS 5P 3 M
ZAZEB-EFRERERERLT  BHRE
) ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)
(c) Reducing energy consumption

The Group recognises that natural resources are scarce and
must be well managed and conserved so that they will not be
depleted in a near future. Therefore, the Group has put in place
various energy-saving initiatives, carried out regular monitoring
of energy consumption and annual surveys to look for
irregularities and areas of improvement in energy utilisation, and
set goals for further reduction of energy consumption. During
the Year, energy-saving programmes have been introduced in
the production facilities in both Poland and the UK, as well
as training sessions conducive to boosting employees’ energy-
saving awareness were provided. The energy consumption from
the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the
UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland is as follows:
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2022 2021
Energy Consumption BEIFUH € —EBICF —E-—F
Total energy consumption (MWh) BEREREE QKR ) 51,140 55,954
Energy consumption per production BREERRBZERER
machine (MWh/production machine) OKFLB EERRAE) 78.92 85.95
Non-renewable fuel consumption NE] BB RELERE (77 1)
(Note 1) (MWh) (JEFLB) 16,023 20,120
Purchased electricity and heating BEE ) MEREZ2)
(Note 2) (MWh) (K ELE) 35,117 35,834
Notes: Bt -
1. Based on the actual fuel consumption for mobile vehicles and 1. BERAEERDHHEHRETRERZ BEREMR

stationary combustion sources of the Group. The unit conversions
for the consumption from mobile vehicles (litre) were calculated
with reference to EMEP/EEA air pollutant emission inventory
guidebook 2019 issued by European Environment Agency and
Greenhouse gas reporting: conversion factors 2020 issued by the
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy of the UK.

2. Based on the actual energy consumption record of the Group.

FOERENE BHEWMEREZEURE
MM2ZBMBRBEMBL(CE-NER
INES R AR 5T 8 BON R = RIS 2
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)

(c) Reducing energy consumption (continued) (0 BFIREEIRE# ()

At the beginning of the Year, the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK decided on their energy
reduction objectives, focusing on the reduction of thermal
energy consumption. Several actions have been taken to
achieve the goals within the Year. For instance, the energy
consumption for heating buildings and water in dishwashers are
aimed to reduce through optimisation of heating temperature.
The progress of those objectives is closely monitored with the
application of the Plan-Do-Check-Act cycle.

Reducing water consumption

We are dedicated to reducing water consumption in the
manufacturing processes of our business operations and have
taken various measures to achieve the target. Analysis of water
consumption is conducted from time to time for better control
of water usage.

Details of water consumption from the production facilities
in the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the
technical centre in Poland are as follows:

REEY  HERHANE KRR RENEE
RIEHETE T ERE B AR - BT REEHATE
RZELERBERNZIATE - WEAFE
ERFEHEBR - W BRELCMBEE
PR A8 570 SR Ko pn 25T 8 4 PR 7K B9 B TR OB
o ZERRMERBBERGHE - 1T -
BE - 1T ERFHEIEA -

B 49 FH 7K
BIFPROR DR ER L EPEERIE Z AK
2 WERRZEREABERZEZE - KM
TRERKEETON - WEEEBUESIA
IK o

IR FE T FANE - IR X B 2 A 2 R DA
NORBERAM RO Z RKEFHBNT

2022 2021
Water Consumption (Note 1) FKEF 1) —F=-= —ET_—fF
Total water consumption (m?) @ AKE (LK) 67,672 70,579
Water consumption per production BREERBIAKE
machine (m*production machine) (LFK/EERE) 104.43 108.42
Note: BisE -
1. Based on the actual water consumption record of the Group. 1. BEAEEERBKCHAH -

Likewise, the production facilities also decided the yearly water
consumption objectives to optimise water consumption. Water
consumption is aimed to be reduced gradually through different
means, including by reducing the frequency of washing
company vehicles from once every 2 weeks to once every 5
weeks and reducing water consumption for Dishwashers. The
data comparison of water consumption against production is
monitored once a month.

R £EREIEETFERKERR
INEERKE - BEEBTRIEEL D
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)
(e) Sorting of waste
The Group has established several waste management
procedures on sites, complying with corporate standards and
local legal requirements. We have a clear process for handling
the waste, from the generation of waste to the transfer of waste
to the contractor.

A waste sorting system that is applicable to waste like paper,
glass, plastic and metal is implemented in the production areas.
Waste is collected and stored in clearly labelled segregation
containers. Mixed storage of hazardous waste and non-
hazardous waste or hazardous waste of different types is strictly
forbidden. Thus, hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste are
collected and stored separately in distinctly different containers.
After the waste sorting, we cooperate with authorised waste
contractors to collect the waste. The waste is recycled to its
greatest extent before disposal. Non-recyclable waste, such as
municipal waste, is disposed of by an external service provider
via landfill or incineration.

The hazardous waste and non-hazardous waste produced by
the production facilities in the Czech Republic, Poland and the
UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland are listed in the
table below:
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2022 2021

Wastes (Note 1) BRY (Hfat1) e T %
Hazardous waste generated (tonnes) EEZHBEREZEY W) 195 237
Hazardous waste generated per production Ba4EREEECZES

machine (tonnes/production machine) BEEY) (Mg, EER 0.30 0.36
Total non-hazardous waste generated EA 7 EEREREY AT (HE)

(tonnes) 4,128 4,674
Non-hazardous waste generated per BEERBELZESE

production machine (tonnes/production f%&“%(ﬂq@ﬁ/i? &)

machine) 6.37 7.18
Note: Hiat

1. Based on the actual waste record of the Group.

1. RENEEEREEWMLEAE -
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EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)
Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource
Consumptions (continued)

(e) Sorting of waste (continued)

(e) BEEW7HEE

During the Year, the Group has set several reduction targets
for specific operating locations and categories of waste, such
as contaminated cloth and cups. For hazardous waste. For
example, the production facility in the Czech Republic aimed
to reduce hazardous waste generation and optimise chemical
consumption by adopting a series of measures. The related
measures included utilising oil from waste shock absorbers
to refill the shock absorbers, reducing the amount of scrap
produced from under-pressurizing shock absorbers, and
reducing the amount of metal waste by using offcuts from pipe
bundles. For non-hazardous waste, the Group aims at increasing
the proportion of secondary raw materials in post-production
and municipal waste. To achieve our goal, we continued to
recycle over 90% of non-hazardous waste, including paper or
cartons, plastic, wood and metal, in the production facilities in
the Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland during the Year. By recycling reusable waste,
we have minimised the disposal of waste at landfills. In future,
we shall keep updating the waste management system in
connection with the changes in production or new projects that
generate new types of waste to achieve the long-term goal set
previously.

The Group is also aware of the impacts on the environment
from paper consumption. The Group encourages the use of
electronic systems for information dissemination, especially for
office operations. By replacing paper documents with electronic
means such as emails, paper consumption and subsequent
disposal from the Group are greatly reduced.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Minimising Emissions and Reducing Resource

Consumptions (continued)

(H  Utilising packaging materials
The Group acknowledges that the greater packaging material it
uses, the greater waste it produces, therefore the Group strives
to reduce the amount of packaging material used through
different measures, such as adopting collective packaging
instead of individual packaging for bulk products, as well as
making use of returnable packaging with suppliers.

Packaging materials used by the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland are as follows:

BiE H2RERHE®
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NEBEBRRABYEE  AREHEREE
ARREREK -

IR EE s FAANE - R R R R B 2 AR A R DA
FORBBAMT R MER 2 BREMET

2022 2021
Packaging Materials (Note 1) sEMBEED) —E=-= —EF—F
Total packaging materials used (tonnes) PR 2 R R a5 () 1,157 707
Packaging materials used per production B &£ ERER 2 BEME
machine (tonnes/ production machine) (Mg /R4 1.79 1.09
Paper or carton (tonnes) 4R oR S AR AR (WR) 635 426
Plastic (tonnes) 288 (WE) 37 25
Wood (tonnes) A (WE) 484 255
Metal (tonnes) & B (W8) 2 1
Note: Bfs

1. Based on the actual packaging material record of the Group.

1. REFAEEEZREEMHLSIE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Response to Climate Change

The Group recognises that climate change poses risks and
opportunities to the Group and society as a whole, and understands
that it is infeasible to ignore. Due to climate-related issues, customer
preferences could shift towards the demand for more sustainable
products, which may induce increases in both the input prices of
resources and output costs of production; while capital investments
and operational costs may potentially rise due to increasingly stringent
regulations requiring more environmental-friendly technology and
posing more costly fines from cases of non-compliance. Regarding
extreme weather events caused by climate change that could lead to
a stoppage of production due to technical failures of equipment or
the building envelope, the Group has compiled contingency plans
specifying the procedures for the evacuation of workers for critical
situations. Recognising the more severe impact of ignoring climate
change on water resources, agriculture, natural ecosystems and
human health, the Group is willing to take action to alleviate the
deterioration of climate.

The Group understands that carbon emissions contribute to climate
change to a great extent, therefore the Group has developed the
Carbon Reduction and Carbon Footprinting Policy for monitoring
and managing its carbon footprint. As aforementioned, the Group
has set its own targets for the enhancement of energy efficiency and
reduction of harmful gas emissions. Apart from minimising energy
consumption, the Group considers steps for the concept of carbon
offsetting, including planting trees within company premises and
setting up car-sharing schemes for employees. In the meantime, the
Group has carried out regular environmental audits, reviewed global
and local government policies and enhanced the resilience towards
climate change through the design, maintenance and execution of
recovery plans.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE

Employment and Welfare

Our employees are the most valuable asset to the Group and are the
foundation of our development. We continue to comply with national
and local labour laws and regulations relating to employment, as
well as the rights and welfare of employees, including the Labour
Code of the Czech Republic, the Labour Code of Poland and the
Employment Rights Act 1996 of the UK. The Group has developed
the Sustainability Policy which is adopted by all divisions to strictly
prohibit child labour, modern slavery including servitude, forced or
compulsory labour, human trafficking and any forms of harassment
and discrimination.

We believe that the key to success lies in talent attraction and
retention. We have commenced the internal and external hiring
process for relevant vacancies under the principle of fairness.
The Group, including the divisions covered in the ESG report,
has developed human resources management policy to govern
the selection process. To ensure no child labour is recruited, the
dates of birth of all employees are checked during the recruitment
process. Whenever such practice is discovered, the Group would
investigate the case thoroughly and dismiss relevant employees
immediately. Furthermore, our employees enjoy equal treatment
in the establishment and termination of employment, conditions of
employment, promotion and access to professional development
trainings, regardless of sex, age, disability, race, religion, nationality
and mode of employment, etc. We treasure all opinions raised
by our employees and we have developed channels to enhance
communication with our employees, such as employee forums. For
departing employees, exit interviews are conducted to understand
the reasons for departure, and for our further improvement in
business operations.

The working hours are set in accordance with the relevant labour
laws and our internal regulations to ensure sufficient rest is provided
to employees. Employees required to work outside normal hours are
offered overtime pay. Otherwise, employees shall work only within
the agreed time frame stated in their employment contracts in order
to avoid forced labour. Apart from public holidays, employees are
also entitled to annual leaves subject to their length of service. To
attract, motivate and retain our talented employees, the Group offers
comprehensive and competitive remuneration, retirement scheme
and benefit packages to employees. The remuneration packages
of the employees are reviewed annually by the management with
reference to market conditions and individual performance.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE (continued)

Employment and Welfare (continued)

To appreciate the efforts of our employees, the Group has provided
different bonuses and awards during the Year. For example, the
production facility in the UK has provided excellent employees with
Passion for Excellence Awards and offered attendance bonuses,
quality bonuses and vacation bonuses to employees. Meanwhile,
the production facility in the UK has also organized an event “Donut
Day” for celebrating the absence of occurrence of accidents in
14 months. Moreover, the Group emphasizes the importance of
employees’” work-life balance and encourages employees to join our
leisure events.

The diversified experiences, backgrounds, ethnicity, lifestyles,
cultural orientation and beliefs inject vitality into the Group.
Reasonable accommodations are offered to disabled employees.
The Group upholds values such as anti-discrimination, fairness and
organizational justice. To maintain a positive working environment,
the Group has developed an employee code of conduct guide
to prohibit any sexual, racial or other harassment of or unlawful
discrimination against any person. All employees are obligated to
act in a manner that supports the policy and creates a comfortable
working environment. If any employee encounters a discriminatory
situation or bullying in the workplace, he/she can submit an
anonymous complaint to the Group via an external telephone
line. We will not tolerate behaviour that is inconsistent with the
mechanism and will take appropriate actions to prevent any
behaviour that violates the said values.

—ECFFHR mAEIEBRERAF 79

RiE  HEBRERHRE®@

RIFRB L ENEBRR (R
B8 X & (&)

REGREZE N  AEERAFERETRE
& N EEE) - Bl REBZEERBAFTBERE
ZRERMEREHE Y HEEREHP T &
T RARSLERED - AR > REZAER
HeTR R A EDE S R INERtNEARES
BEE - WIN AEENEGEENTHEELTE
T UYSEEEE2EBMNITHRES -

L BR Bk £ERNA - MR
ANRER - RARBIEAES ﬁfFﬁ%ﬁ%KﬁE%
EHA BN - AKREBRFRIER - X FRAE
BAEEEE - RERFEANIERE  AEE
BEEVY-ERETATR  BIEHEMALEE
Rl -~ Bk i T mA R B TIREAR o A
BREDBEEB U HRRLAESTE TIFRE
MARITE - MBEARER THESAAERE
BHEHE - ERHIINERRRAER T A RN
REFLIRER o WIUE TS ETERULH ]2
1/ YRS ENITEN LERZES LRE
BOITR -

2022
Employment EE —E-—F
Total Number of Staff BTHAE 2,068
By Gender tqezlE-B7)
Male S 1,452
Female pogid 616
By Age Group RERERES
Below 31 years old 3TERA T 217
31-50 years old 31-507% 1,220
Above 50 years old 505504 £ 631
By Type of Employment RERERE S
Full-time e 2,059
Part-time and flexible shift FeOE N2 OB 1t i IE 9
By Geographical Location Rt @& 5
Poland Vil 1,694
United Kingdom e 90
Czech Republic e HAE 211
Others HAftb 73
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2022
Employment &= —E-—fF
Total Staff Turnover Rate BETITREAE 17%
By Gender tqezlE-B7)
Male S 19%
Female g 10%
By Age Group RERERE D
Below 31 years old BTERIA T 39%
31-50 years old 31-505% 15%
Above 50 years old 50884 & 12%
By Geographical Location Rt E & 5
Poland BB 19%
United Kingdom R 13%
Czech Republic R AN 2%
Others HAtb 11%

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of each
employee, and closely observes the local health and safety laws
and regulations, including the Act on Other Occupational Health
and Safety Conditions of the Czech Republic, the Labour Code
of Poland and Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 of the UK.
Employees should comply with all safety rules and policies at each
location of the Group. By implementing a management system for
health and safety, relevant risks are identified so that our employees
can be protected from foreseeable work hazards. We promote
safety awareness to our employees as they go about their jobs,
and managers are delegated to support safe work practices. Our
production facility in the Czech Republic has been certificated to
the ISO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System Standard.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE (continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

To ensure safety at work, our employees are allowed to work after
undergoing and passing the initial check-up and periodic medical
examination. We believe that occupational injuries and illnesses
are preventable. For staff working at production lines, we provide
them with protective clothing and work clothing, as well as personal
protective equipment and measures for maintaining personal
hygiene. As regards the prevention of occupational diseases, we
arrange prophylactic or sanatorium treatment for employees working
in workplaces with potential harm. To pursue the ultimate goal of
creating an injury and illness-free workplace, the Group conducts
regular safety training for employees in terms of regulations, rules
and principles of occupational health and safety, such as general
instructions of basic health and safety regulations, safe operations
inside workshops, and information about potential risks regarding
health and safety, if any.

Furthermore, hazardous material control programmes and chemical
material assessment procedures were adopted for safeguarding
employees’ health and safety. For example, hazardous and chemical
substances must be properly marked, placed in original containers
and stored at designated places, so as to prevent leakage of
hazardous and chemical substances. At the same time, equipment
and tools are kept in order, while materials, products and wastes are
placed in specific areas and containers, for the sake of maintaining a
clean and safe workplace. Clear guidelines for handling emergencies
were established to ensure prompt and effective control in case
of any accidental situation. The production facility in the UK,
the Czech Republic and Poland have set up a disaster recovery
plan illustrating the responsibilities of managerial staff, including
plant manager, operations manager, human resources manager,
engineering manager, quality manager and finance manager, etc.
The crisis management team and business recovery team are formed
to help implement the plan. During the Year, routine inspection of
fire safety was carried out to minimise the potential hazards aroused
by misuse or malfunction of equipment or improper material storage.
Fire-fighting equipment and fire alarms were regularly checked.
Emergency evacuation and fire drill were successfully held.
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EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE (continued)

COVID-19 Pandemic Response

The Group considers the health and safety of its employees to be of
prime importance. Therefore, in face of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group has stepped up its policies and measures regarding health
and safety. Production facilities of the Group have each formulated
COVID-19 related policies to better safeguard the workplace and
our employees against the COVID-19 pandemic situations, as well
as setting out measures that deals with different scenarios under the
pandemic.

The COVID-19 pandemic response policies state out the specific
measures to safeguard the health of employees and reduce the risk
of COVID-19 infection, for example arranging “work from home”
sessions, carrying out meetings via video conferences where possible
and providing essential information on the precaution measures
of COVID-19 to employees. Personal hygiene items, such as hand
sanitisers and facemasks, are provided to employees working in
facility premises. Pandemic response teams are also set up to enforce
and monitor the measures regarding personal health and safety.
The production facility in the UK has conducted coronavirus risk
assessment regularly to evaluate the level of risk exposure in the
premises and to suggest relevant control measures.
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E¥HCOVID-19% 1%
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2022 2021 2020

Health & Safety EEEZR bt - Sem —E-—F —E_TF
Number of work related fatalities AISTAH 0 0 0
2022 2021

Health & Safety REEZ2 —EBICF —E-—F
Number of work injuries TE2E 1 22
Lost days due to work injury ATHBELANITEAR 1 3




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
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EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE (continued)

Development and Training

The Group aims at creating an intellectually stimulating environment
which encourages employees to harness their talents and skills in the
pursuit of high-quality work. A clear career path is provided for every
employee. Our merit-based promotion aims to promote outstanding
employees to a higher level with regard to our evaluation of
employees’ performance and level description. To maintain the
fairness of promotion opportunities for all employees, the Group has
adopted several strategies applied to the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre
in Poland. For instance, the personal “Business Plan process” is
adopted to provide consistent criteria for the evaluations of the past
performance and training experiences.

The Group provides various training to employees to enrich
their professional technical skills and job-related knowledge, as
well as to make continual improvements. New employees are
required to participate in orientation training, which is essential
for understanding their duties, the practice of a given position and
their fundamental rights. Professional training courses are also
tailored to the needs of different positions. Examinations may be
required for verifying the knowledge and skills acquired during the
training, subject to the types of courses. Upon the completion of
training courses, course evaluation, including lagging indicators
and questionnaires, will be taken place in order to ensure the
effectiveness of training. To recognise the skill levels of employees,
the Group has developed a skill matrix illustrating employees and
their current and desired levels of multifarious skills respectively.
The Group could be assured that the employees are well-educated
and experienced and provide additional skills enhancement training
courses to employees who have yet to reach their desired skill level
according to the skill matrix.

During the Year, employees in the production facilities in the
Czech Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical
centre in Poland have participated in various training courses with
order to broaden their knowledge in the Group and help them in
personal development. A wide range of training courses in terms
of different aspects of development was provided, such as personal
skill development, cross-functional training and training related to
technical knowledge, in order to keep employees up-to-date with the
latest working techniques and knowledge.
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EXCELLENCE IN OUR WORKPLACE (continued)

Development and Training (continued)

The training data of the production facilities in the Czech Republic,
Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre in Poland during

the Year are as follows:

RiE  HEBRERHRE®@

RIFRB L ENEBERR (R

EEYSEEE Y

2022
—E-CE
Percentage of Average
Staff Trained Training Hours

RAFE - IR KB
AR KR B B AT R D B B BRI T

CREMRREEE

2021
—E-—F
Percentage of Average

Staff Trained ~ Training Hours

(%) (hour) (%) (hour)
BT  ASGBIRR BIHEI  ABEIREK
Development and Training B RIE BER(%) (/NBF) EEX(%) (/)NB5)
Total mat 67% 4 72% 6
By Gender B4 RIE 5
Male B 65% 5 71% 7
Female it 70% 3 74%
By Employment Department oG SHUSE P
Production, Control & Logistics HE - EHIRIR 57% 2 70% 3
Quality mE 82% 5 79% 10
Operations L8 81% 6 73% 5
Finance Eip 64% 3 39% 9
Human Resources ATER 65% 2 73% 10
Purchasing R 78% 5 48% 6
Engineering IR 46% 4 80% 11
Continuous Improvement FEuE 72% 8 100% 6
Sales Support and New Projects HE X EIAR 0% 0 44% 4
Information Technology B RHR 30% 2 17% 4
Program Management TRER 62% 3 50% 4
Administration TR 0% 0 20% 1



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN OUR BUSINESS

Promoting Integrity

The Group complies with local laws and regulations in regard to
anti-corruption, including the Criminal Code of the Czech Republic,
the Polish Penal Code of Poland and the Bribery Act 2010 of the
UK. The Group and its business partners are not allowed to engage
in, endorse or tolerate any form of bribery or corruption, directly
or indirectly. They shall not offer nor accept any form of improper
benefit to or from a third party, private or public, with the purpose
of obtaining or retaining business or any form of preferential
treatment. Employees are required to sign the online declaration
of acknowledgement regarding the non-disclosure of information.
Through our consistent effort in promoting open communication,
employees are strongly encouraged to immediately disclose any
possible conflict of interest, suspected misconduct and misbehaviour
committed by individuals on behalf of the Group. If our employees
have a concern about any unethical, illegal or irresponsible activity,
they may seek assistance from their supervisors. They may also report
any breach of the code of conduct through the online reporting
system or by telephone through the confidential reporting line
anonymously. We shall handle and investigate all whistleblowing
matters promptly and effectively. We are always dedicated to
promoting integrity through our business practices.

To maintain our reputation of operation integrity, concrete efforts
have been made to educate our employees to avoid acts and
relationships that violate or conflict with their duties or the interest of
the Group, for example, the production facility in the UK issues an
“Anti-corruption reminder” annually as a refreshment of knowledge
for employees regarding anti-corruption practices. In order to
inculcate anti-corruption norms into our employees and directors,
we are dedicated to providing regular anti-corruption training, such
as training on the code of business conduct, bribery, and gifts and
hospitality. During the Year, we have provided anti-corruption
training for around 0.5 hours per session to all levels of employees
in the production facility in Poland. Meanwhile, all employees in the
production facilities in the Czech Republic and the UK are requested
to read and sign the code of conduct and complete a conflict of
interest survey.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents regarding
non-compliance with laws and regulations related to anti-corruption.
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EXCELLENCE IN OUR BUSINESS (continued)

Respecting Intellectual Property

The Group continually strives to maintain its competitive edge in the
manufacturing industry and abides by the relevant local laws and
regulations, including the Copyright Act of the Czech Republic, the
Act on Copyright and Related Rights of Poland and the Patents Act
2004 of the UK. We respect and protect intellectual property, such
as company patents, trademarks, copyrights, and trade secrets. We
will take measures to protect new works of authorship, technological
advances or unique solutions to business problems, if there is any
suspicion of infringement of company patent, trademark, copyright
or trade secret. It is our ongoing effort to safeguard our confidential
information, as well as respect the proprietary and confidential
information of others.

EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE

Fair Treatment of Suppliers

Suppliers of the Group are the valued partners in the success of our
business. As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed
to protecting human health, natural resources, and the environment.
We encourage and promote responsible environmental and social
management to the suppliers and encourage them to achieve
environmental and social certification, so as to mitigate the ESG risk
of our supply chain.

Suppliers are selected on the basis of price, timeliness, quality,
references, safety and environmental requirements, etc. We place
quality and after-sales services with respect to the raw materials and
components as the primary criteria, that ensure the quality of the raw
materials will not affect the quality of our products. We also take
priority to choose suppliers in the regions and countries where we
operate to lower the greenhouse gas emissions from transportation.
Suppliers” performance is monitored through their delivered product
quality, delivery schedule performance and the special status of
customer notifications related to quality or delivery issues. We
will maintain stable and fair relationships with our major suppliers
and avoid relying on any single supplier for any given type of raw
materials and components.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE (continued)

Fair Treatment of Suppliers (continued)

The ESG performance of our business partners or suppliers is
governed by the Group’s supplier sustainability policy, in order
to ensure that the ESG and sustainability direction of business
partners and suppliers are aligned with the Group. Furthermore,
the purchasing department of the production facility in Poland has
appointed a crisis team to determine the risk within its supply chain
and the potential emergencies that may emerge, and develop a plan
to secure the continuation of production.

Our business partners and suppliers are required to comply with
all applicable environmental laws and regulations in all countries
in which they operate. Suppliers and business partners are
expected to minimise the consumption of resources and manage
the environmental impact of emissions, pollutants, and waste.
They shall develop environmental strategies that meet the Group’s
environmental objectives. Supply chain due diligence at the Group
is observed based on the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible
Business Conduct. Suppliers shall implement a due diligence process
themselves to comply with all rules set out by the Group. They shall
also map their supply chain to identify, analyse and prioritise ESG
risks and take appropriate measures for mitigation. Collaboration
between suppliers and sub-suppliers is required to obtain maximum
transparency in relevant high-risk supply chains down to the source
of origin.
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EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE (continued)

Fair Treatment of Suppliers (continued)

Our business partners or suppliers shall have excellent capability to
handle social risks. We have signed a statement of undertaking with
certain suppliers for the management of the social risk in the supply
chain. All suppliers are expected to follow the Code of Conduct
Guide developed by the Group, especially for the prohibition of child
labour and modern slavery. We strongly encourage our suppliers to
promote free competition and adhere to anti-corruption principles
while trading. We also request our suppliers make every effort to
prevent counterfeit parts and materials from entering our supply
chain. Our business partners shall comply with all applicable fair
trade, competition and anti-trust laws and regulations and shall not
have any competitive discussions or enter into any anti-competitive
agreements, including illegal price-fixing, market sharing, customer
allocation or other illegal restrictive practices, at any level of the
production or distribution chain.

The number of suppliers of the production facilities in the Czech
Republic, Poland and the UK, as well as the technical centre in
Poland during the Year are as follows:

RiE  HEBRERHRE®@

R 5 75 H Y =l R R (&)

NP SRR ()
BPNRBEHAHEREEGREL SRR
SEEN - HPIEEE THERRIAHE - U
EEMtEE POt ERR - MEHRERSREST
AEERIENTRERER  LEREBEELE
TRERREOBAE - HFRIERHERER
ZHEamHET  YRFEREFRA - BT
ZREEEFN LRE TR FHEA T
AR -  RANEBBHEETHAERNQ
FED  BHERREEEAZIER  TRELE
o R E R ERETEMRF R WKL
TAREFHE - EFRFPETE  LMomE &
F 7 B sk B A IEAR B EMOS -

RAFE  URERANE KRR REZEE
R FORBE R O EEEAMNT ¢

2022 2021
Suppliers HLrEr —g__ —FE-_—%F
Total Number of Suppliers HERmAR 251 223
By Geographical region RENEE S
Western Europe 7o Er 35 37
Central Europe R 131 115
Southern Europe e X 46 37
Southeast Europe R R 7 6
Northern Europe JEER 2 1
North America Ig=S 20 18
South Africa EEL: 0 1
Asia M 10 8
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EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE (continued)

Product Quality

In the manufacture of products, the Group adheres to the local laws
and regulations in regard to product quality, including the Act on
General Product Safety of the Czech Republic, the General Product
Safety Act of Poland and the Consumer Protection Act 1987 of the
UK. On top of regulatory compliance, we strive to communicate with
our customers on any potential issues at every step of the product
launch, from product design to the provision of service. Moreover,
with our customer-oriented operation and enthusiastic attitude, we
aim at enhancing customer satisfaction through advanced method
and achieving perfection at each step.

To provide high-quality products to our customers, the Group has
also set up a comprehensive quality management system with
rigorous production control plans, for the purpose of implementing
and supervising the operating procedures to assure the quality of
products. The manual of the quality management system clearly
states the roles and responsibilities of different management levels
and employees in safeguarding product quality, as well as the
specific procedures to execute quality management. The production
facility in Poland has performed random inspections in order to verify
the correctness of the production process on an ongoing basis. The
quality management systems of the production facilities in the Czech
Republic, Poland and the UK are certified to the IATF16949:2016
Quality Management System Standard.

Various quality checks are carried out before, during and after
the production process. For example, to assure the quality of
our products, the Group handles raw materials properly with the
following actions:

i.  Upon the arrival of the deliveries, the initial verification is
performed. If the raw materials fail to meet the verification
requirements, they will be rejected and returned to the carrier.

ii. After passing the preliminary approval, the materials are
labelled with a unique tracking number for traceability and
stored in a closed area in the warehouse with restricted access.

iii. The materials are stored according to manufacturers’
instructions on storage condition and shelf life.

iv. The condition of the materials stored is assessed periodically to
ensure no damaged or deteriorated materials are used.

“ECCEER mAEZIERERAT 89

RiE  HEBRERHRE®@

R 5 75 H Y =l R R (&)

EmEE

REEERK  A5BEETEHEMEZENEN
ERMER  BRERANBON(-RERL S
E) KB REREZ R REEN(—AN
TFEHBEREL) - RETEEREIN  RE
AT ER RS - HIBNERLERNEE

FRAREFAELERELRTFLER - I - HH
NERERBLEE  EEBESEBMNITIENT

ZF—BAE  URAZTFREE -

REOEFPRHEEBEERMS @ AEBIERLT
ENEEEERE  BEHERENEEELETE
NETRESLERF  UMBERERLDE - &
EERRAGFMBERRBTIRAEERAKEERTE
REEREEFEMNBRERBY  UARETHRE
ERMABRRER BRENEEREDETHEHERS
BB ERSLEERBEALERME - MER AR
B RN EBRAERMCEETERARE
IATF16949:2016HE £ IR RKIZERE -

BARNEERIEZH  BHRAEZRFARZEEE
BBl - Bl REREREE - AEERIRTS
R ERIR R A

P

BEmAER > HMSETISRE - MR
BREZEER  $ERLERDESH D

Y
o

Il X mE

i. RBYVITZEZR  RASMHELFERFE
MR ISR EAHES  YRERREERAT
PR I3 A O 2[R [ 55

i, RRRAEAE R RRE BT
I -

v. RAEBTEEER RN - BRTE
[EFE BESEE 2 R -



90 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE (continued)
Product Quality (continued)

Procedures for handling unsatisfactory goods have been implemented
as well. To ensure product quality, all unsatisfactory raw materials,
finished goods and products are stored separately and are not
allowed to proceed to the next production step without permission.
For consistent improvement of service quality, designated procedures
for complaint handling are also implemented to timely address and
prevent potential issues. In case of receiving any complaints from
customers, we will first identify the issue regarding the complaint
and implement containment procedures as necessary. Internal
communication regarding the complaint will be carried out with a
problem-solving process for further implementing corrective action
and dealing with the identified issue.

During the Year, the Group was not subjected to any product
recalls due to safety and health reasons, and has received a total of
65 complaints (2021: 106 complaints) with regard to the Group’s
products. All complaints were resolved via various methods,
including improving the design of products.

Data Protection and Security

For securing the privacies of both our clients and the Group, we
have developed data protection policies and strictly obey the laws and
regulations of data protection, including the Act on the Protection of
Personal Data of the Czech Republic, the Personal Data Protection
Act of Poland and the Data Protection Act 2018 of the UK.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN THE MARKETPLACE (continued)

Data Protection and Security (continued)

Suppliers are prohibited to manufacture goods for their own use
or selling to third parties by using our information, without prior
and explicit written consent from our authorised personnel. As for
employees, stringent procedures are put in place for handling and
managing internal documentation. Employees should save, store and
communicate personal data only via internally authorised information
and communications systems. Furthermore, the disclosure of any
confidential information to a third party and the use of our computers
to browse, download or transmit illegal materials are not allowed.
The removal of any materials or items from the working premises
without proper prior authorisation is also prohibited. At the end of
a workday, documents of confidential nature are not allowed to be
left on desks or in other generally accessible places. Such documents
shall be placed in drawers or special locked file cabinets. To ensure
the understanding of employees on the Group’s firm practice in terms
of confidentiality, training on handling confidential information was
provided to employees in the production facility in Poland during
the Year. For all resigned staff, they shall be reminded not to disclose
any confidential information beyond termination through the exit
interview.

EXCELLENCE IN SOCIETY AND COMMUNITIES

The Group adheres to its commitment to implementing a global
philanthropy scheme that benefits the society and community in
the pursuit of business growth. As a corporate citizen, our effort in
community relations seeks to ensure the presence of the brand image
in our local communities in such a way that the Group is viewed as
a “neighbour of choice”. Contributions are tailored to local needs
and priorities as well. During the Year, the Group has participated in
the following charitable activities and other community events.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

EXCELLENCE IN SOCIETY AND COMMUNITIES
(continued)

Support on Education

We have set a goal aimed at helping the youth to unearth the greatest
possible potential through creating education opportunities and
supporting mechanisms, with an emphasis on technology education.
Furthermore, our primary focus resides on programmes which are
in alignment with our business vision and orientation, including the
ability to measure effectiveness, innovative approach, customer-
driven, and global programmes that encourage international reach
and involvement. During the Year, the production facility in the UK
was invited once again by the University of Bedfordshire as one of
the members of its Industrial Advisory Committee for the School
of Computer Science and Technology, so as to provide expertise
on employability, industry challenges and project collaboration.
Although the plant was unable to arrange plant tours during the Year
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the plant was still able to support
the university in an advisory capacity.

Participation in Charity

To create a positive corporate culture, we are eager to join charitable
events and make contributions to the local society. Various
charitable events participated during the Year are as follows:

Production Facility in the UK
¢ Made clothes and food donations to a charity organisation to
help the homeless in the local community.

Technical Centre in Poland

e Participated in the Krakow Business Run by Poland Business
Run Foundation to provide support to handicapped people
who experience limb amputations. The amount of donations by
employees was around PLN2,100.

e Helped the Great Orchestra of Christmas Charity to raise money
for supporting medical care in Poland. The amount of donations
by employees was PLN1,490. The collected funds have been
used for the purchase of paediatric medical devices.

e Took part in Charity Parcel event to encourage all employees to
donate money for buying and providing all the goods requested
by the family in need. The amount of donations by employees
was around PLN8,433.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board herein present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1
to the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 128 to 231 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend in
respect of the year (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 12 and pages
13 to 21 of this annual report respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 232 of
this annual report.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2022 are set out in Note 23 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year
are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.

DONATION

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
(2021: Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Dong Xiaojie

Chen Zhouping

Li Zhi

Tam King Ching, Kenny*
Yip Kin Man, Raymond*
Chan Pat Lam*

Zhao Jiuliang

(appointed on 21 September 2022)

(resigned on 21 September 2022)

* Independent Non-executive Directors

In accordance with clause 86 of the Company’s articles of association,
Messrs. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Chan Pat Lam will retire from
office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, every
Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets and profit of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his or her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officer’s
liability coverage for the directors and officers of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company, or their respective associates had any personal,
family, corporate and other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s
Directors or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts that is significant in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of its parent
company was a party and in which a Director of the Company or
his/her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the following Directors
have declared interests in the following businesses (other than those
businesses where the Directors of the Company were appointed
as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or any
member of the Group) which are considered to compete or are likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group during the year:
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of the Director
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESSES (continued)

Name of entity whose
businesses are considered
to compete or likely

to compete with the
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EEEHE

EERBFERB 2 (R

Description of businesses
of the entity which are
considered to compete or
likely to compete with the

Nature of interest
of the Director

Name of Director businesses of the Group businesses of the Group in the entity
EBRERRELREER ERWRRELREER
BB FR ARG E BRBFHTREEREFE ExsREREAZ
EEnA ZERZER ZERZER v A ]
Li Zhi BWI and BWI HK Sale of auto parts, Director
x K RASEIR machinery and 5=
RAET(HE) equipment
HENETEM - R
B
Zhao Jiuliang® BWI and BWI HK Sale of auto parts, Director
AR RASEIR machinery and 5=
RAETI(HE) equipment

" Appointed on 21 September 2022.

@ Resigned as Director with effect from 21 September 2022.

@ Mr. Chen Zhouping ceased to be a director of BWI on 2 March 2022, but ~ © FRAFEAR T — —
was still a director of BWI HK.

Notes:

BWI HK is a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI.
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The relevant information is disclosed on a group basis. The businesses of such ﬁfﬁﬁﬂZi&ggz
entity may be carried out through the subsidiaries or associates of the entity g 2B BEWE L
concerned or by way of other forms of investments.

The Board is independent from the board of the above-mentioned
entities and is accountable to the Company’s shareholders. Coupled
with the diligence of its Independent Non-executive Directors whose
views carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions, the Group is

capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm'’s ﬁ% °
length from, the businesses of that entity.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies
had interests in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company
which fell to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3

of Part XV of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the

Company
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Name of shareholder interests were held shares 31.12.2022 Notes
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BWI HK Beneficial owner 301,842,572 52.55% 1,2
RAEI(EH) BEmEAA
BWI Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1
RAET corporation
RYEAE 2 s
Beijing Fangshan Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1
b RE W corporation
HEAE s
BWSM Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1
REETT corporation
XYEAE 2 s
Zhangjiakou Juxin Equity Investment Fund Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1

Partnership (Limited Partnership)* corporation

(“Zhangjiakou Juxin”) REE 2
REXARBREREESEBEE

(BRAEE) (RRXORE])



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
(continued)

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Capacity in which
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Interests as

to% of the

Number of issued share
shares/ capital of the
underlying  Company as at

Name of shareholder interests were held shares 31.12.2022 Notes
REGA AT
R=B==%
+=A=+-8
B0, 1 BRITEA
BREE BFEEZZ50 R E ZBTH et
Zhangjiakou Holding Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1,2
REOEHE corporation/Person
having a security interest
in shares
R EBz RS
PR B E 1
RETRAA
Zhangjiakou Guokong Asset Management Interests of controlled 301,842,572 52.55% 1
Group Co., Ltd.* (“Zhangjiakou Guokong”) corporation
RRABZEEEEEEBERAA REEE R
((REROBEZE])
ZJKF Holdings International Limited Person having a security 301,842,572 52.55% 2
(“ZJKF”) interest in shares
REBEFIERARAR(REER]) R AR
PRI A

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO
(continued)

Long positions in the shares/underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

Notes:

1. BWI HK was a wholly-owned subsidiary of BWI. BWI was held as
to 55.45% by BSMZ and as to 44.55% by Beijing Fangshan. BSMZ
was 40% held by Zhangjiakou Juxin. Zhangjiakou Juxin was directly
held as to approximately 98% by Zhangjiakou Holding which in turn
was 48.13% indirectly held by Zhangjiakou Guokong. The interests
held by BWI HK, BWI, Beijing Fangshan, BSMZ, Zhangjiakou Juxin,
Zhangjiakou Holding and Zhangjiakou Guokong were the same block
of shares of the Company.

2. On 31 October 2022, BWI HK has pledged the 301,842,572 Shares
of the Company held by it, representing approximately 52.55% of the
issued share capital of the Company, in favour of ZJKF as security for
a loan lent by ZJKF to BWI HK. ZJKF is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Zhangjiakou Holding, which is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
has not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors
and chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company
which fell to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transaction
and Continuing Connected Transactions” below, at no time during
the year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the
controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) or any
of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company, there is
a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 6 June 2014, the shareholders of the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Scheme”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Company and/or any of
its subsidiaries and/or any of the entities in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entities”). The Scheme
shall be valid and effective from 18 June 2014, being the date on
which the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting its
approval to the listing of, and permission to deal in, the shares of the
Company which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
to be granted under the Scheme, and ending on 6 June 2024, being
the tenth anniversary of the date on which the Scheme was adopted
by the shareholders of the Company (both dates inclusive).

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer full-time
or part-time employees, executives, officers or directors (including
executive and non-executive directors) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any of the Invested Entities, and any advisors,
consultants, agents, suppliers, customers and distributors, who, in
the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and/or any of the Invested
Entities, share options to subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share option has been granted under the Scheme. The maximum
number of shares of the Company available for issue upon exercise
of all share options which may be granted under the Scheme is
25,189,232, representing approximately 4.39% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of this annual report. The total
number of shares of the Company issued and which may fall to
be issued upon the exercise of share options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this 1%
limit shall be subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The period during which a share option may be exercised will
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that
no share option may be exercised more than ten years after it has
been granted under the Scheme. There is no requirement that a
share option must be held for any minimum period before it can be
exercised but the Board is empowered to impose at its discretion any
such minimum period at the time of offer of any share options.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined
by the Board at its absolute discretion and shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
offer of share options; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of offer of share options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the
Company on the date of offer of share options. Each of the grantees
is required to pay HK$1.00 as a consideration for his acceptance of
the grant of share options in accordance with the Scheme. The offer
of share options must be accepted within 30 days from the date of
the offer.

Share options to be granted under the Scheme do not confer rights
on the holders to dividends or to vote at general meetings.

No share option has been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2022, there was no share
option outstanding under the Scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Other than the Scheme as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreement that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (whether on the
Stock Exchange or otherwise) during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, as calculated in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands (the
“Cayman Companies Act”), amounted to approximately HK$979
million. Under the Cayman Companies Act, the amount in the share
premium account of the Company as at 31 December 2022 was
distributable to the Shareholders (subject to the provisions of the
articles of association of the Company), provided that the Company
will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business immediately following the date on which the dividend, if
any, is proposed to be paid.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year under Review, revenue from sales of goods and rendering
of services to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 59.2% of the total revenue from sales of goods and
rendering of services for the year and revenue from sales of goods
and rendering of services to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 17.6%. BWI (a substantial shareholder
of the Company), together with its subsidiaries (exclude the Group),
was one of the five largest customers and account for approximately
10.5% of the total revenue from sale of goods and rendering of
services for the year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 34.3% of the total purchases
for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 12.9%. BWI, together with its
subsidiaries (exclude the Group), was one of the five largest suppliers
and account for approximately 5.8% of the purchases for the year.
Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company
or any of their close associates or any shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group's five
largest customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following continuing connected transactions were recorded
during the year and up to the date of this annual report:

BWI is a controlling shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions under the agreements as set out in (a) to (d) below would
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company.

(@ Mutual Technical Services Agreement
A mutual technical services agreement (the “2019 Mutual
Technical Services Agreement”) was entered into between the
Company and BWI on 7 November 2019 for a term of three
financial years ended on 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2019 Mutual Technical Services Agreement,
BWI and/or its associates would provide technical services to
the Group (the “BWI Services”) and the Group would provide
technical services to BWI and/or its associates (the “Company
Services”). Such technical services comprise engineering
services and manufacturing services.

The basis of determining the technical services fees for the
transactions contemplated under the 2019 Mutual Technical
Services Agreement would be: (1) cost plus 5% for engineering
services; and (2) cost plus 1.5% for manufacturing services.

The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2019 Mutual
Technical Services Agreement for each of the three financial
years ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:
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For the financial For the financial For the financial

year ended year ended year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December
2020 2021 2022

BE_T_-2TF BFE_-_T-—F BE-Z_-_—F
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LEHREE LHBREE LRBEE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
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Cap amounts for the Company ~ ANA AR 2 LR &5
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) ESEHES @)
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BFEBEXRS (&)

(continued)
(@) Mutual Technical Services Agreement (continued)

(a) HHEFl AR5 thh =% ()

Details of the 2019 Mutual Technical Services Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
7 November 2019 and in the circular of the Company dated
28 November 2019. The 2019 Mutual Technical Services
Agreement was approved, confirmed and ratified by the
independent shareholders of the Company on 17 December
2019.

As the 2019 Mutual Technical Services Agreement expired
on 31 December 2022, a new Mutual Technical Services
Agreement (the “2022 Mutual Technical Services Agreement”)
was entered into between the Company and BWI on 19
October 2022 for a term of three financial years ending on 31
December 2025.

Pursuant to the 2022 Mutual Technical Services Agreement,
BWI and/or its associates would provide BWI Services to the
Group and the Group would provide Company Services to BWI
and/or its associates.

The basis of determining the technical services fees for the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 Mutual Technical
Services Agreement would be the same as such under the 2019
Mutual Technical Services Agreement.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(@) Mutual Technical Services Agreement (continued)

The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2022 Mutual
Technical Services Agreement for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows:
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For the financial

For the financial

For the financial

year ending year ending year ending

31 December 31 December 31 December

2023 2024 2025
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LBHEE LEHHERE LEHBEE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

EREE BREE BHEE

Cap amounts for the BWI Services REEIRB FRER 137.9 165.5 198.6
Cap amounts for the Company Services KARARE . LRER 165.1 198.1 237.7

The 2022 Mutual Technical Services Agreement and 2019
Mutual Technical Services Agreement were entered into to
facilitate the continued provision of technical services between
BWI and/or its associates and the Group. The arrangement
for the mutual provision of technical services would allow
both parties to save and pool their resources in providing
a total solution to their customers. Details of the 2022
Mutual Technical Services Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 19 October 2022 and
in the circular of the Company dated 17 November 2022. The
2022 Mutual Technical Services Agreement was approved,
confirmed and ratified by the independent shareholders of the
Company on 13 December 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =S 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BKEBRERS (E)
(continued)

(b) Parts and Components Supply Agreement (b) EBHRTHHEEG R

A parts and components supply agreement (the “2019 Parts and
Components Supply Agreement”) was entered into between
the Company and BWI on 7 November 2019 for a term of three
financial years ended on 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement,
the Group would supply auto parts and components to BWI
and/or its associates (the “Sales”).

The prices for the transactions under the 2019 Parts and
Components Supply Agreement would base on the cost plus
approach at margins within the range or no less favourable
to the margins of the other products of the Group supplied to
independent third party customers for the prior financial year,
and the pricing policies for continuing connected transactions
of the Group.

As the Board anticipated that the annual cap of the Sales
under the 2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021 would not be
sufficient to meet the demand of BWI and/or its associates, on
5 November 2021, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) with BWI pursuant
to which the annual cap of the 2019 Parts and Components
Supply Agreement for the financial year ended 31 December
2021 was revised from HK$86.9 million to HK$127.7 million
(the “Revision of Annual Cap”). Save for the Revision of Annual
Cap, all other terms and conditions of the 2019 Parts and
Components Supply Agreement remain unchanged.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =S 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEREXRS (&)
(continued)
(b) Parts and Components Supply Agreement (continued)  (b) T B4 & o+ it FE 175 3 (&)

The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2019 Parts
and Components Supply Agreement (as amended by the
Supplemental Agreement) for each of the three financial years
ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:
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For the financial For the financial For the financial

year ended year ended year ended

31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2022
BE-Z-%F BE-S-—F% BE=—T=—=

+tZA=+—HL +=ZA=t+—HLt +=—A=+—HLt

B FE M FE MBFE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
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23.5 127.7 212.1

Details of the 2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7
November 2019 and in the circular of the Company dated 28
November 2019, and the details of the Supplemental Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
5 November 2021 and in the circular of the Company dated
23 November 2021. The 2019 Parts and Components Supply
Agreement was approved, confirmed and ratified by the
independent shareholders of the Company on 17 December
2019, and the Supplemental Agreement was approved,
confirmed and ratified by the independent shareholders of the
Company on 9 December 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =S 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BKEBRERS (E)
(continued)

(b) Parts and Components Supply Agreement (continued)  (b) g%ﬂ#&ﬁ#ﬁt@fﬁ%(ﬁ)

As the 2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement
expired on 31 December 2022, a new parts and components
supply agreement (the “2022 Parts and Components Supply
Agreement”) was entered into between the Company and BWI
on 19 October 2022 for a term of three financial years ending
on 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the 2022 Parts and Components Supply Agreement,
the Group would supply auto parts and components to BWI
and/or its associates.

The pricing policies for the transactions under the 2022 Parts
and Components Supply Agreement are the same as such in the
2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =S 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BKEBRERS (E)
(continued)

(b) Parts and Components Supply Agreement (continued)  (b) T B4 & o+ it FE 175 3 (&)

The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2022 Parts and
Components Supply Agreement for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows:

For the financial

For the financial

BE_S - T RTHRERRETZ
REGREBE_TE-_RAF+-_A=+—HIt=
FEBFESF 2 LRESEOT ¢

For the financial

year ending year ending year ending

31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025
BE-—®=-= BE-Z-NF BE-—Z-af
+=ZA=+—AH1L +=ZA=+—A81 +ZA=+—HL
MBFEE BBEE BMBEE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BERE BEES BEES

246.2 272.4 319.6

The transactions under the 2022 Parts and Components Supply
Agreement and 2019 Parts and Components Supply Agreement
are a continuation of the already established purchasing and
supplying business between BWI and/or its associates and the
Group. The 2022 Parts and Components Supply Agreement
was entered into to facilitate the continued supply of auto parts
and components from the Group to BWI and/or its associates.
Details of the 2022 Parts and Components Supply Agreement
were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
19 October 2022 and in the circular of the Company dated
17 November 2022. The 2022 Parts and Components Supply
Agreement was approved, confirmed and ratified by the
independent shareholders of the Company on 13 December
2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(c) Parts and Components Purchase Agreement
A parts and components purchase agreement (the “2019 Parts
and Components Purchase Agreement”) was entered into

between the Company and BWI on 7 November 2019 for a
term of three financial years ended on 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2019 Parts and Components Purchase
Agreement, the Group would purchase auto parts and
components from BWI and/or its associates.

The basis of determining the prices for the transactions under
the 2019 Parts and Components Purchase Agreement would be
in accordance with the following principles:

(i)

(i)

by reference to the prevailing market prices of the same or
substantially similar products, taking into account of the
prices of the same or substantially similar products with
comparable order quantities and quality offered by other
suppliers; and on terms which are no less favourable to the
Group than prevailing market practices; or

if (i) above is not applicable, by reference to the average
price of similar products previously supplied or provided
by a party, and on no less favourable terms comparable
to those offered by the relevant party to independent third
parties; and on normal commercial terms comparable to
those received from independent third parties in respect of
the same or substantially similar products with comparable
quantities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued) =S 8|EE @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEREXRS (&)
(continued)
(c) Parts and Components Purchase Agreement

(continued)
The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2019 Parts and

(c) ZHEMF R o 5% 8 10 8 ()

BE-Z-NTBHRTHERBERZETZ
RHEVBE_ZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—HL=
BEFRFESFZ LREREMT

Components Purchase Agreement for each of the three financial
years ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:
For the financial

For the financial For the financial

year ended year ended year ended

31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2022

BE-_Z_FF BE-_ZT—_—F BEz-—E—-—f

+=ZA=+—H1L +=ZA=+—H1L t-A=t+—HIL

MBEFE MBFE MBEFE

HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ million

BEEE AEEE BHES

10.0 10.0 10.0

Details of the 2019 Parts and Components Purchase Agreement —E-NTEM R THRERE FIEE R

were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7
November 2019.

As the 2019 Parts and Components Purchase Agreement
expired on 31 December 2022, a new parts and components
purchase agreement (the “2022 Parts and Components
Purchase Agreement”) was entered into between the Company
and BWI on 19 October 2022 for a term of three financial years
ending on 31 December 2025.

Pursuant to the 2022 Parts and Components Purchase
Agreement, the Group would purchase auto parts and
components from BWI and/or its associates.

The basis of determining the prices for the transactions under
the 2022 Parts and Components Purchase Agreement would be
the same as such in the 2019 Parts and Components Purchase
Agreement.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(0

(d)

Parts and Components Purchase Agreement
(continued)

The cap amounts of the transactions under the 2022 Parts and
Components Purchase Agreement for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows:

For the financial

g

EEHREE@

KFEBEEXS ()

(0

For the financial

SERH R T HRER S (&)
BE—ZE - TR TERBEREETZ
REWEBZ2_TE-_AF+_A=+—HIE=
BEFRFESFZ LREREMT

For the financial

year ending year ending year ending

31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025
BE-_ZE_=% BE-Z_WF BE-_ZT-8%F
+=—A=+—HLt +=ZA=+—H1 +=—A=+—HBLt
MBREE MBEE MBEE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEBEE BEBE BEES

10.0 10.0 10.0

The transactions under the 2022 Parts and Components
Purchase Agreement and 2019 Parts and Components Purchase
Agreement are a continuation of the already established
purchasing and supplying business between the Group and
BWI and/or its associates. The 2022 Parts and Components
Purchase Agreement was entered into to facilitate the continued
purchase of auto parts and components by the Group from BWI
and/or its associates. Details of the 2022 Parts and Components
Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 19 October 2022.

Patent License Agreement

A patent license agreement (the “2019 Patent License
Agreement”) was entered into between BWI as licensor and the
Company as licensee on 7 November 2019 for a term of three
financial years ended on 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2019 Patent License Agreement, BWI would
procure its wholly owned subsidiaries which are the registered
holders of certain patents (the “Patents”) related to automobile
controlled and passive suspension products to grant to the
Group a non-exclusive and non-transferrable license to use the
Patents in the Group’s manufacturing operations.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS REEERS (&)
(continued)
(d) Patent License Agreement (continued)
The Company would pay an annual license fee representing
0.5% of the net sales of the licensed products of the Group, NFEERTEE  HERAKREBFERHE
which would be the products manufactured by the Group using EFFEMN0.5% ° HEFRB R FEMA S
the Patents. The net sales would be the total invoiced amount SRBREIMAHEENZE  FPITHMAREE
SR M AFEFE m M B HR AR

(d) EFIHEFFi5 R ()
ARABHE AR EE B EN P EENEMRX

of licensed products less any sales allowances, customer
discounts, and refunds for licensed products that were damaged
or returned.

RE-_F-NFEMNFTHE  RBEE_F—
“E+ A=t -HIE=AMREFEEFE
NEFFEEN ERSEMT ¢

The cap amounts of the license fees for the Patents under the
2019 Patent License Agreement for each of the three financial
years ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

For the financial

For the financial For the financial

year ended year ended year ended

31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2022
BE-Z-%%F BE-F——F B8z-%——

+=A=+—HLt +=A=+—HLt +=-—B=+—HL

MFE B FEE HFEE

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

BEEE BEEE BEES

13.5 13.5 13.5

Details of the 2019 Patent License Agreement were disclosed in “E-NFENEFRERIFBREREREAR

the announcement of the Company dated 7 November 2019.

As the 2019 Patent License Agreement expired on 31 December
2022, a new patent license agreement (the “2022 Patent
License Agreement”) was entered into between BWI as licensor
and the Company as licensee on 19 October 2022 for a term of
three financial years ending on 31 December 2025.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HEREXRS (&)

(continued)

(d) Patent License Agreement (continued) (d) Eﬂﬁé‘lﬂfﬁ%(ﬁﬁ)
Same as the 2019 Patent License Agreement, BWI would H-_T-NFMNFFHH—E REELS
procure its wholly owned subsidiaries which are the registered REEZEMBRAAVESIEIBRED
holders of certain patents related to automobile controlled BRERE TEMNNAMBIEA)RAEAEE
and passive suspension products to grant to the Group a non- BT —IRFEBR I TEENRT TR - LAGE
exclusive and non-transferrable license to use the Patents in REENEERBHEAER -

the Group’s manufacturing operations under the 2022 Patent
License Agreement.

Pursuant to 2022 Patent License Agreement, the Company *ETJ%_—« ——FENRFBE  ARRNER
would also pay an annual license fee to BWI and its wholly —NEHNFFRZEBREE - MRA
owned subsidiaries for using the Patents at the same basis as Elﬁﬁﬁﬁi\ LI EPNCIFR SRS
such in the 2019 Patent License Agreement. B UEREAM -
The cap amounts of the license fees for the Patents under the RE_Z-_FMNEHHE  REBEE_T—
2022 Patent License Agreement for each of the three financial hET_A=T—HIL=EAVBEFESFE
years ending 31 December 2025 are as follows: MEFTEEN LRST|HOT
For the financial For the financial For the financial
year ending year ending year ending
31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025
HE_-F_-= BE-Z-_MF BE-2-58fF
+ZA=+—81 +ZA=+—81 +=-HA=+—HLt
BB B MRFE MERFE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BERE BEEE BHES
13.5 13.5 13.5
The transactions under the 2022 Patent License Agreement “ECCHENEFRER T NAFENE
and 2019 Patent License Agreement are a continuation of the HFEE TETOR S ARAETEAEE
already established arrangement for the use of Patents between ZHERRRAZEMNEALBENTESE - 7]
BWI and the Group. The entering into of the 2022 Patent N B BN EENAERBEF
License Agreement would enable the Group to continue to FAER - AR RINRARBR)TETISH
use the Patents which maintain and strengthen the competitive BMEPEHA - T - —HHMFFHRIFED
position of the Company in the automotive market. Details BERARARRMA_T__F+HA+AIA
of the 2022 Patent License Agreement were disclosed in the ZREAR -

announcement of the Company dated 19 October 2022.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The continuing connected transactions as set out in (a) to (d) above
which took place during the year have been reviewed by the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company who have
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has provided a letter to the Board
confirming the matters stated in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules in
respect of the continuing connected transactions as set out in (a) to (d)
above which took place during the year.

As far as the transactions took place during the year as set out
in Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of
“Related Party Disclosures” are concerned, the transactions were
continuing connected transactions which had been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company.

As regards the transactions took place during the year as set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of “Related
Party Disclosures”, the provision of loan to the Group by a holding
company was connected transaction which was exempt from any
disclosure and shareholders’” approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. The remaining transactions were incidental to the
continuing connected transactions which had been approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

As far as the transactions took place during the year as set out in
Note 32 to the financial statements under the heading of “Related
Party Disclosures” are concerned, the remuneration of the Directors
as determined pursuant to the service contracts entered into
between the Directors and the Company was connected transaction
which was exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING WITH

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 5 August 2014, Billion Million (HK) Limited (“Billion Million”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company,
BWI HK and BWI entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
pursuant to which BWI HK conditionally agreed to sell and Billion
Million conditionally agreed to purchase the entire issued share
capital of BWI Europe Company Limited S.A. (“BWI Europe”) (the
“Acquisition”). BWI Europe and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the design, research and development and manufacturing
of suspension products for premium passenger vehicle manufacturers
and the provision of engineering services for suspension products.
Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 5 August 2014 and in the circular of the Company
dated 27 November 2014. The Agreement was approved, confirmed
and ratified by the independent shareholders of the Company on 19
December 2014. The Acquisition was completed on 23 December
2014.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

As a condition precedent to the Acquisition, a deed of non-
competition was entered into between the Company and Shougang
Group (formerly known as Shougang Corporation), Beijing Fangshan,
BWI, BWI HK and Success Arrive Limited (collectively, the
“Controlling Shareholders”), on 11 December 2014 (the “Deed”),
which became effective on the completion date of the Acquisition.
Pursuant to the Deed, each of the Controlling Shareholders will not,
and will procure any of their respective associates not to, directly or
indirectly participate in, or hold any right or interest, or otherwise
be involved in any business which may be in competition with the
businesses of the Group; and if any future business opportunities
that may arise from their existing customers and insofar that they
are unable to supply the necessary products to such customers, they
will consent to the Group in supplying such products. Details of the
Deed are set out in the circular of the Company dated 27 November
2014.

The Company has received annual written declaration from the
Controlling Shareholders (except for Success Arrive Limited and
Shougang Group due to Success Arrive Limited was dissolved in
2020 and thus was no longer a party to the Deed; and Shougang
Group ceased to be the Controlling Shareholder since 20 September
2022. Shougang Group only need to confirm the non-competition
undertaking from 1 January 2022 to 19 September 2022.) on
their compliance with the undertakings under the Deed. Based
on the declaration, the Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company considered that the Controlling Shareholders had
complied with the terms set out in the Deed during the year ended
31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 56 of this annual
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Company’s compliance with the relevant provisions set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules for the financial year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 57 to 92 of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 February 2023, the Board planned to stop the production of all
products in the UK Plant in stages from the second quarter of 2023
onwards and complete by end of June 2023. As most of the original
orders and production lines of the UK Plant can be transferred to
the Group’s plants located in Poland and the Czech Republic, this
will enable the Group to consolidate its resources more effectively.
The closure of the UK Plant will incur one-off expenses relating to
severance payment and the transference of the production lines of
the UK Plant to other plants.

AUDITOR
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been
audited by Ernst & Young (“EY”), who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint EY as auditor of
the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chen Zhouping
Managing Director

30 March 2023

EEEREE@E

WMEHREE

RIZE-_=F_"A+H EFetdtE_T_=
FE_FTERRIBEEERBRBREMEER -
VTHRZBEZ=FNARTKABEREE MK
BEHERNATDRBEEREEGIERIAE
BB ERERENMENKE - LR AFEREE
HEFEREBAER - MHARBERES S MEME
TRIBEEGEBIEMBE 2 —XMEZH -

B ED

BEM AR E M BERRERKGAMEBA (R
KNEZ  AKBREERRBESEKE LRE -
ARBEREEEITZERBFAE LIR2RE
& BRLKRARAZZEED -

EERED
BEEE
BT

T =F=ZRA=+H



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

e
EY:x

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF BEIJINGWEST

INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
BeijingWest Industries International Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 231, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
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accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

R EIZF A

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAPIR B AL AN A pa IR B S AL B IR

Provision for impairment of inventories

FRBIERE R

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s inventories were
stated at HK$177,083,000, including raw materials, work
in progress and finished goods, and were carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. As disclosed in Note
6 and Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
the impairment of inventories as at 31 December 2022
was HK$7,350,000. The determination of net realisable
value is highly dependent on management’s estimation,
such as assumptions of the expected sales prices and
costs to be incurred until completion and sale. The
assumptions adopted in respect thereof are affected by
expectations of future market or economic conditions. The
Group’s disclosures about the impairment of inventories
are included in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZZE-_—_F+-A=+—H  EBES£EzFEEEEAS
177,083,000/ 7T © BIEREME - ER G REK S - WK
RAESER #IRFEMRE B2 BEETE - 45480 EHR
=HT eI 1 7R B - T;EA_?__¢+ A=+
—HZR{EA7,350,0008 T ° A 3R ) FER IR A F
FBEEE 2 5T 1§IJZZD¥¢5‘E/HJ%%E&E TERK K B AT
EERAZEBR -  RMEETREMNZBEIIERETSH
BRI BT 2 - AEEFERTEREBEZHBESHRL
A TS IRARMIEL7 -

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding
of the accounting policy for impairment provision for
inventories, assessing the methods and assumptions used
to determine the provision, discussing with management
about the slow-moving, excess or obsolete items, and
evaluating the estimated sales prices and manufacturing
costs to be incurred, as well as selling expenses on a
sampling basis. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
RSt E X E IR
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HAPIR B AL AN (A fa IR B B AL B 1R

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

B 5 I B B (B R 1

As of 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables was HK$339,823,000. Under HKFRS 9, the
Group accounts for impairment losses for financial assets
with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach.
The Group has applied the standard’s simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime expected credit
losses for trade receivables.

N—E-_—F+-A=+—H ZEHEKFEBZEEES
339,823,000 7 ° IRIBEBHBHBMELERIFEIR » BES
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ERBENE SEKGEZ 2 PEREEBAFTEESRE
B8k o

The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. Significant estimation is required
in establishing the provision matrix, including assessing the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
the customers and the forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors. The Group’s disclosures about the impairment
of trade receivables are included in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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HWERMEE18 ©

Our audit procedures included but not limited to
obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit policy
and accounting policy for impairment provision of
trade receivables, assessing the recoverability of trade
receivables by verifying the assumptions and the basis
used to establish the provision matrix, checking the
creditworthiness, past collection history and subsequent
settlement of selected customers and the impairment
calculation. We also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Bennett S.H. Wai.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2023
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2 A EE 32
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF mEBERRK
PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 December 2022 Br— T - —fFf+-—H=1+—HIFZF
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(s FET FET
REVENUE e 5 2,478,380 2,601,955
Cost of sales SHE KA (2,044,288) (2,190,162)
Gross profit EF 434,092 411,793
Other income and gains H A WA R Mz 5 46,346 40,948
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (50,376) (16,927)
Administrative expenses THFX (154,510) (156,204)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment TREEREEERRD
losses on financial assets /() 6 132 (1,323)
Research and development expenses AR (237,437) (246,139)
Other operating expenses EfgEfs (13,022) (727)
Finance costs U AN 7 (15,054) (18,364)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRI AT T 6 10,171 13,057
Income tax expense Frf3fiA X 10 (15,056) (22,362)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FREE (4,885) (9,305)
Attributable to: AR AT -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NCIEZ Z DN (4,885) (9,305)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AAREBEREEAEML
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE  ERE#E
COMPANY

Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EAR R EE (B N) 12 (0.85) (1.62)
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= 3¢
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GERERER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2022 e — =t+—HIUFE
2022 2021
—E-CHF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FRAERE (4,885) (9,305)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htt2EWA(B18)
Other comprehensive loss that may be Bt 2 EE 1B A5 ML 18 B E B AT
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent DEERE
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign R EINER R E R
operations (55,159) (46,126)
Other comprehensive income that will not Bt 2 ETRA AT & ML 15 B fE]
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent B EEER -
periods:
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit plans FREBATE ZEFT 2 WS 11,054 18,668
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE FAEMEEER - HIRAEH
YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX (44,105) (27,458)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FR2EHEBEAHE (48,990) (36,763)
Attributable to: AT AR :
Owners of the Company EN/NCIEZZEDN (48,990) (36,763)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2022

wE MBI R

—E - —Ff+-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
Notes HK$/000 HK$’000
(s FER FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment % -~ B KRR 13 403,853 452,885
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 14(a) 299,268 324,781
Goodwill EES 15 896 4,956
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE B 26 66,833 74,517
Other non-current assets HEt3EmEEE 16 193,746 217,924
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 964,596 1,075,063
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 17 177,083 195,938
Trade receivables B 5 e GRIA 18 339,823 328,218
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ TEJFIE « H b FEUFKIE K&
assets HM&EE 19 332,306 261,941
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFHEER 20 122,780 184,565
Total current assets MBEEMAE 971,992 970,662
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables B HENRIA 21 322,777 335,970
Other payables and accruals H A R RIA KRBT E A 22 215,397 154,055
Income tax payables e PRISTE 20,635 1,812
Bank borrowings RITERK 23 = 65,215
Defined benefit obligations ERENEE 24 3,406 3,267
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 33,610 36,365
Provision B 25 27,798 28,885
Total current liabilities REBERAE 623,623 625,569
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 348,369 345,093
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERABERE
LIABILITIES 1,312,965 1,420,156
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- N —~
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF e WA R @)
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
31 December 2022 —E_—HF+_HA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(s FER FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Other payables and accruals Hib B FIAKRERTE 22 24,971 29,355
Defined benefit obligations EREMNEE 24 77,829 98,086
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 272,589 299,030
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEAE 26 89,213 96,305
Loan from a holding company R E—EER A TMER 32(b) 415 442
Total non-current liabilities kRBEEETE 465,017 523,218
NET ASSETS EEFE 847,948 896,938
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the AARBEE AELER
Company
Issued capital BEEITRA 27 57,434 57,434
Reserves i 28 790,514 839,504
TOTAL EQUITY AR 847,948 896,938
Dong Xiaojie Chen Zhouping
RA R A3
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2022

Annual Report 2022

GEREEER

B _—F - —F+_HA=+—HIFFZE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAR BAERE
Share Defined ~ Exchange
ssued ~ premium Merger  henefitplan  fluctuation Capital Retained Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
RN EX
BRARA ROEER  AHERE  HERRE KBRS RABE  REEN  ERER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tén Thn Tin Tén Tén Tin Tén
(Note 27)  (Note 28(ii)
(Wet2r) (W2 i)
At 1 January 2022 RZF-ZZ£-A-H 57434 1,037,745% (772,332 (25,879)%  (155,901)* 44,132 711,739 896,938
Loss for the year EnER = = = = = = (4,885) (4,885)
Other comprehensive incomelfloss) for ~ FREHZ2ENE,/
the year: () :
Fxchange differences related to foreign €5/ £ 2B 28
operations - - - - (55,159) - - (55,159)
Remeasurement gain on defined benefit TSR 312l E5if 2
plans Wi - - - 11,054 - - - 11,054
Total comprehensive incomel(loss)for M2 EME /(B
the year ] - - - 11,054 (55,159) - (4,865) (48,990)
At31 December 2022 R-F_Z
tZA=1+-H 57434 1,037,745* (772,332)* (14,825 (211,060 44,132* 706,854* 847,948

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  *
HK$790,514,000 (31 December 2021: HK$839,504,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022.

FEREERBRN S —F+_A=+—HZH
B BMRRAKRAZ LA FEET790,514,0008 L (=ZF
——E+-H=+—H : 839,504,000/ T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF GERERBER®G
CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE—F-_—F1+_HA=1—HIFEF

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR AARI
Share Defined ~ Exchange
Issued ~ premium Merger  benefitplan  fluctuation Capital Retained Total
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
R i3}

BEARE  ROEEE  AHEE  HERE  ORE  RABE  REER ERem

HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK§000  HKS'000  HK$'000

AL Thn Thn AL Thn Thn A Thn
(Note27)  (Note 28ii)
(Wsk27)  (WEE28Gi)

At Janury 2021 H-B-—-A-F S LTS ORBY Wse) (0775 44132 00 933700
Loss for the year EnEE - - - - - - (9,305) (9,305)
Other comprehensive income/loss) for ~ FREM2ENE/
the year: (Bt :
Exchange differences related to foreign & @I EHZER
operations 8 = = - - (46,126) - - (46,126)
Remeasurement gain on defined RS Bt
benefit plans Bl - = = 18,668 = = = 18,668

Total comprehensive incomefloss)for ~~ EA2ERE/ (FE)
the year % - - - 8668 61 X I 5]

At31 December 2021 iy
—A 57,434 1,037,745* (772,332 (25,879 (155,901)* 44,132* 711,739 896,938
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

GREER

xR

Year ended 31 December 2022 ) F+_H=1—HILFE
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEBHNRLRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 752 B 2 1 10,171 13,057
Adjustments for: MIATIEBELAZE
Finance costs BB R AR 15,054 18,364
Interest income FE U A (322) (147)
Defined benefit expense EREE AR 3,915 6,291
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME - BEREREER
plant and equipment Frisdas (5,475) (6,112)
Impairment of goodwill EERE 3,742 =
Depreciation of property, plant and Mm% -~ BB RRETE
equipment 67,265 74,811
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets EREEENE 33,323 36,911
Impairment of obsolete items of property, ~ FREYIZ - /FE &KX EHEE
plant and equipment HRIE 3,212 -
Written off pre-production costs A EE PR R AT A AN 85 5,051 =
(Reversal)/recognised of impairment of S REERERE), R
financial assets (132) 1,323
Recognised of provision for RETFEREER
obsolete inventories 2,738 458
138,542 144,956
Decrease in inventories FERD 16,514 9,130
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B 5 FEWGRIE (38 0), R (10,812) 50,193
Increase in prepayments, other receivables 85818 + Efh fEU IS &
and other assets Hth & 7E 12 A0 (783) (2,197)
Increase in amounts due from fellow JE LT[R 24 B JB8 1 RIZRIBAE N
subsidiaries (82,682) (68,777)
Decrease in amounts due from holding JE W AR A B FRIE R
companies 20,396 9,172
Decrease in trade payables B 5 R SRIER (13,193) (63,525)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  H b fE (< 5XI8 K fEA+ &
accruals =, Cad) 11,055 (84,690)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to FEAH R R B A B 5 IE
fellow subsidiaries #hn,/ O ) 49,140 (26,467)
Decrease in defined benefit obligations TFERERA B EER (3,621) (2,429)
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due to a  JE —@EZE R A FIFIE (R )
holding company gy (5,512) 7,083
Decrease in provision for warranties RIS B R D (1,087) (17,441)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations ~ #&&E IR & A (i) 117,957 (44,992)
Income tax paid ERATSH (3,939) (21,125)
Net cash flows from /(used in) operating ~ EEEKNFESRA
activities /() 114,018 (66,117)
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= =1 .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SERENER @
CASH FLOWS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 B _—F - —F+_HA=+—HIFFZE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETZENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B UF B 322 147
Purchases of items of property, plantand BB - BE REEEE
equipment (55,101) (54,459)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, L&EWZ « BE L& EEE
plant and equipment FR1S 3R 7,463 10,598
Net cash flows used in investing activities R&EFEHNFELSHRH (47,316) (43,714)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETENRERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FERTTIE R - 6,149
Repayment of bank and other loans EBEBITNEMER (65,215) (39,108)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMTROEAeIH D (32,524) (38,607)
Interest paid EfTHE (5,920) (8,196)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEFHNFELSHRH (103,659) (79,762)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERALEERBRED
CASH EQUIVALENTS FE (36,957) (189,593)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#ZH & KRS EEIEE
year 184,565 424,111
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ 5 & &) 5/ 2 558 (24,828) (49,953)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND AR ZBRERESEEER
OF YEAR 122,780 184,565
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2022

1.

#

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
BeijingWest Industries International Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands and the shares of the Company are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) were principally involved in the manufacture,
sale and trading of automotive parts and components, and the
provision of technical services.

As at 31 December 2021, the immediate holding company of
the Company is BWI Company Limited (“BWI HK"), which is
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the ultimate
holding company of the Company is Shougang Group Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as “Shougang Corporation”), which is a state-
owned enterprise established in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC").

On 5 September 2022, Shougang Group Co., Ltd. and
BeijingWest Smart Mobility Zhangjiakou Automotive Electronics
Co., Ltd* (RABITRRXHIEBTHARAA) ("BWSM”)
signed an equity transfer agreement for the transfer of 55.45%
equity interest in BeijingWest Industries Co., Ltd. (“BWI”). Upon
completion of this transaction on 19 September 2022, BWSM
indirectly hold 52.55% shareholding interest in the Company
through holding equity interest in BWI. In the opinion of the
Directors, the ultimate holding company of the Company has
been changed from Shougang Group Co., Ltd. to BWSM.

For identification purpose only

B AR M

—E-—F - A=+—H

1.

AFRREEER
FAETIBEEAERAT(ARAA]) BRE
HEHEsArERAEREEMKT 2%
HReBEREERA - HFfMitEEmu A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1=1111, Cayman
Islands * MARBIRDRERBBERZFAE
PRA T (B FR)) EMR LT -

RER - ARTRENEAR (RE 55
B)ESHENE  HERBEEAETHME
R TT 1 DA R AR ST IR T o

R-ZTE-—F+-A=+—8 ARAEHEHE
EERATARAET(FEB)ARAATR
BEI(ER))  ZAAEEBSTMAKTL
MBERAR - ARREE(EEDRAE ' K
RAZEEER AR AEMEEBRAF
(FIEIEMARRA])  B—RERFPEAR
HAME(PEDKIWEERE -

NRZE-—FHNARA  BHEEERAT
HEEETRROAEEFERAR(RA
BUDEERESERE - NEREIRRA
ETERAR(REAEI])55.45% % #
HOABARGR - E-_—_HFHATHIAR
K& RS TRBIA RAE L REME
BEARRNAS255%[ M ER - EERE ' K
RAREIERAGEHBMEEER AR E
BEAEIT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL o F T EL L0 )
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E - —Ff+-H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2RAREEERE)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries EENBLARINESR
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RRAREEMBRFIZFHBAT
follows:

Date and place of

incorporation/ Issued ordinary/
registration and registered share Percentage of equity
Name place of business capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML
BEAMRGH BRITEZER KR EE
L UREELE TR A REBDLL TEXH
Direct Indirect
& CiE:
BWI France S.A.S. France EUR2,002,500 = 100  Provision of research and
EE 2,002,50084 7 technical services
13 August 2009 BR AL 7T B B AR
“ETAFNAT=A
BWI UK Limited United Kingdom GBP5,938,975 = 100  Manufacture and sale
B 5,938,975 8% of automotive parts and
16 June 2009 components
“EENERATARE BERHE BT
s
BWI Poland Technologies  Poland PLN55,538,150 = 100  Manufacture and sale
5p.2.0.0. Nk 55,538, 150K B 24 & 18 of automotive parts and
12 March 2009 components
“EENE=ATCH BERHERET RN
Rttt
BWI Czech Republic s.r.o.  Czech CZK140,000,000 = 100 Manufacture and sale
fn 140,000,000%% 72,52 5 of automotive parts and
20 May 2015 components
“Z-RFRAZTH HERHERETRITR
TTit
The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company BEERE - LRAINRZARBMBARE
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the BEXEAFERENLARBFEENEKXR
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net oy o EERR - FIHE B D BHF AR
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, EReEHERBNILEK °

in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E_—HF+_HA=+—H

2.1 fRBLE%E

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
are prepared under the historical cost convention and are
presented in Hong Kong dollars. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 RBEXE(E)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) MAEERXEMBRRZZESIE AR
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, HEROZHNBRARZEE(BEBE)RE

(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

2.2
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Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds BRGHREAE 6] VX BERRE  (FRE
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described

below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
has applied the amendments prospectively to business
combinations that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As
there were no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities within the scope of the amendments arising in
the business combination that occurred during the year,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items
as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss.
The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to
items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of
items produced prior to the property, plant and equipment
being available for use, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are applicable to the Group are as
follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These
fees include only those paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received
by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The
Group has applied the amendment prospectively from 1
January 2022. As there was no modification or exchange
of the Group’s financial liabilities during the year, the
amendment did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKFRS 10 and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
HKAS 28 (2011) Venture’

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

Amendments to Insurance Contracts'>
HKFRS 17

Amendments to Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 9 - Comparative Information®

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or
HKAS 1 Non-current (the “2020

Amendments”)**

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HKAS 1 (the “2022 Amendments”)’

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to Definition of Accounting Estimates?
HKAS 8

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to Assets and
HKAS 12 Liabilities arising from a Single

Transactior?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

> No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

* As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS
9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

® An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on
initial application of HKFRS 17
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination
over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the
liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the
liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are
considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA
issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a
right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures

to ensure consistency with the amendments.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts
in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

% Bl (%)

BEAGITEAE8HR (B ETK)L%TQEH&
FrEB e R ER o HMNER - g A
aﬂ'ﬁ@m%mﬁﬁf&ﬁﬁﬂpﬁﬁﬂ'iﬂ_ﬁﬁm|$E"J
BEERE - SEAIVEE T BRI E A
EFTEARBASBRESE AR o BF]AR
TE=F—A—H¥ZERARNTEERS
Hﬁfﬁi?ﬁl WiE AR AR AR B

HBERB RO A ED LA
hiﬁ% F ST AT R AR B 05175
BRENETEATE -

BEEHERFI2ZRET N B NTEES
HERIS125E P M SRR BISME RN E
EE T HE AR E SRS ERY KA
HUEZRNRS(WEERERER - E
It BERANZEXIFEENERHIEZHE
RELHBEE (RAIZRA RANERT G
M FELEHARE - BFIAR T _=F
—A—BH RN FERE AEER -
I 7 38 FAA Fr 2 5 & F L B B ) o B2 A
ENEREEAERENRS  ERRARFERE
RENZ BB RE EN R EREMAKE D
(W@ R) BN AEEREV TR = BN - BRI AR
AR M AN GEE REREERIIR
5 LAFFREER - BHETATEHA
SENPBHRRERTAERZE -



146 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units
or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if
it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;
or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(b)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

—BoEEH

RAETIEMRERLIF 151

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—=__

Fr=

A=+—H

24 TESHBEBEE)

AR TS (&)
& TIA MERHRIFE R ERE

(b)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

B

ik
K\
é}
i3

.

SN SSE b R 0]

k

il

\
A

ZERREMERB(KEMERN
1SN NGRS A
AMBERRRBELE

S

SERRA—F=TT08

A

JSEN

BERNEZTHNERELE M
=

—ERRRE=-TERNKRE

o0

BRAKENEAREERE
ﬁi@ﬁﬂaﬂﬁ%ﬂ REOREER
348 F 3R L HR IR FIE 8

EEXHQ

VEFTIE A TSI

F@OE TN ATEHZE
ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ&ﬁ@a B2 (3
’%‘%E’\J! AMEF—FE
AB

oy R &R
\—H\

 fm

!

ﬁﬁhﬂ#‘ﬂﬂ

ZEBIEFBENEECRER
AMANEEFHANER A REME
FEERABRY -



152 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuation is performed frequently enough to ensure that the
fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its
carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and
equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset revaluation
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a
deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit
is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or
loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual
transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits
is made for the difference between the depreciation based on
the revalued carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued
asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3.33% = 5%
Machinery and equipment 9% —20%
Computer equipment and others 18% = 33.33%
Motor vehicles 9% —20%
Special tools 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five to seven years, commencing from the date when
the products are put into commercial production.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Land 99 years
Building 10 to 20 years
Machinery 3 to 5 years

Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office equipment
that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to be of low
value.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets (continued)
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPP1”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHBEMEE)
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued) RERHMEMEE (B

Initial recognition and measurement (continued) AIETER K it 2 ()

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are FIBEES AR THEREEEERNR S
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group BEIASEREEEXNHEEENHE)E
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases R o BB AN E EIRE IS ARG
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require F—REPIZRBZENPEARNEENS
delivery of assets within the period generally established by MEEEE -

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement Hi#&it 8
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on TREENHETE  HURKRES S -
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) HBHERL T EN S HEE (BFTA)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured REBHEKATENSREEDNRECAER

using the effective interest method and are subject to MEEFE  WAIRERBETE - EEER

impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement RATER - EEORER - W REIERNIE

of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or mARPHER -

impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets RIEBREHEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial TRIEECGHER  —HemEEN I

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily DR —EREEREEN—H)ETEET

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated FIERTRE LR AEAKRENGS Y

statement of financial position) when: BIRRRESIRR)

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have s BEREWRBRLRENENDEM X
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows s AKEEEZRHBEEWDRETSREN
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the RN - R REB BRI THERERR
received cash flows in full without material delay to a AW EE RFER T ME =T 2B A
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and WHIRERE » MaARBEHEREE
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the BB R E SRR R EIER - 3k(b) AR E
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither mEENREEEMNBR A DR MO
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and o MOEEEEMNESIE -

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain industrial products and the provision of construction
services for general repairs of defects occurring during the
warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to
their present values as appropriate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Sale of automotive parts and components
Revenue from the sale of automotive parts and components
is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
automotive parts and components.

(b)  Provision of technical services
The Group recognises technical services revenue when it
transfers control of the services to the customers, which
can occur over time or at a point in time. If the technical
service is distinct, the Group accounts for the technical
service separately from the production of automobile parts
and recognises revenue when service is delivered to the
customer. Revenue shall be recognised over the production
period if the service is not distinct and considered to be
combined with the production.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services to
which the asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

The employees of a previous subsidiary which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local governments, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. This subsidiary
(disposed of in 2018) is required to contribute 5% of its payroll
costs to the central pension schemes. The employees of
subsidiaries of the Group which operate in the United Kingdom
and Czech are entitled to defined contribution pension benefits.
Contributions are made by such subsidiaries based on certain
percentages of the participating employees’ salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the relevant pension schemes. The employer
contributions vest fully once made.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Defined contribution plans (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans which require
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund for
employees of the Group’s certain subsidiaries which operate
in Europe. The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plans are determined using
the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension
plans, comprising actuarial gains and losses, are recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position
with a corresponding debit or credit to the remeasurement
gains and losses on defined benefit plans through other
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation under “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:

®  service costs comprising current service costs, past service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine

settlements; and

* netinterest expense or income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plans (continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

e the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

e the date that the Group recognises restructuring related
costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation.
These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the
net investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative
amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on
those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on
which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries are mainly
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss and statements of comprehensive income are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Transfer of construction in progress to property, plant and
equipment

Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use. Thereafter, depreciation is calculated on
a straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of such
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. It requires management’s judgement and
estimation to determine when the project under construction is
substantially ready for its intended use, i.e., when it is capable
of commercial operation based on the overall assessment of
trial operation results. Further details are set out in Note 13 to
the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives, or will write off or write down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation charge in the
future periods. Further details are set out in Note 13 to the
financial statements.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate
(“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest
that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain
an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the
Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to
be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to make
certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-
alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Other non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value
in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. Management reassesses
the estimation at the end of the reporting period. Further details
are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Capitalisation of pre-production costs

The Group capitalises pre-production costs when those costs
are related to the contracts with customers, generated or
enhanced the resources used to satisfy performance obligation
and are expected to be recovered.

The Group’s management needs to judge and estimate whether
such capitalised costs can be recovered, based on experience,
historical data and estimation of the profitability of the contract.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. Further details are set out in
Note 26 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Defined benefit plan

The Group has recognised the defined benefit pension plan as a
liability. The Group’s obligations are determined using actuarial
valuations, which rely on various assumptions and conditions.
The assumptions used in actuarial valuation reports include
discount rates, the growth rates of the benefits and other factors.
The deviation from the actual result and the actuarial result
will affect the accuracy of related accounting estimates. Even
though management is of the view that the above assumptions
are reasonable, any changes in condition of assumptions will
still affect the estimated liability amounts of employee pension
benefit obligations. Further details are set out in Note 24 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the Group'’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (e.g., the fluctuation of the unit price of steel and
restriction policy in motor industries) are expected to deteriorate
over the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates
are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
18 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision against inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
at the end of the reporting period and makes provision against
inventories. Management estimates the net realisable value
based primarily on the latest sales invoice prices and current
market conditions. Management reassesses the estimation at the
end of the reporting period. Further details are set out in Note
17 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
of completion and selling expense. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of technical innovations,
and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each
reporting period.

Provision for warranties

Provision for product warranties granted by the Group is
recognised based on sales volume and past experience of the
level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate. Further details are set out in Note 25 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
For management purposes, the Group’s operating activities
are originated from a single operating segment, which is
the manufacture, sale and trading of automotive parts and
components, and the provision of technical services. Therefore,
no analysis by operating segment is presented.
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REDMER

EEMS  ARENEEXRBREE K

BOHEE AR HER

BE

TR

TeiF - AR AR - Bt - A w2

RED AR DT

Products and services 2= m R IR %
Revenue from external customers KEINIBEFZ Wz
2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sale of industrial products HETEEM 2,283,267 2,444,180
Technical service income B AR A WA 195,113 157,775
2,478,380 2,601,955
Geographical information EE R
(@) Revenue from external customers (@ REIHBEFZzKzm
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
United Kingdom HEH 685,727 1,040,378
Germany = 597,648 527,282
United States e 631,500 468,497
Mainland China it 62,783 67,313
Other countries HMBExR 500,722 498,485
2,478,380 2,601,955

The revenue information above is based on the locations
of the customers.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Geographical information (continued)
(b) Non-current assets

—BoEEH
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b) FHBEE
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2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Poland Vi 664,664 690,110
Czech 7320 155,383 189,055
United Kingdom [ 52,748 98,939
Other countries HMBExR 24,968 22,442
897,763 1,000,546

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

During the reporting period, the revenues which were generated
from four (2021: two) of the Group’s customers and were
individually accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total
revenue are as follows:

A EERBDEEERIREEMELE D

BETBREEEREERE °

IREFER

RBESHE - KaRKeAKENEER(Z

T —F WA
#10% ' FREAR ¢

AR BEEASRERKE

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FHET

Customer A EPA 439,346 725,504
Customer B =FB 327,655 290,854
Customer C ®PC 291,844 230,663*
Customer D EED 261,895 167,954*
1,320,740 1,414,975

* The relevant revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 * FHAKETEBRASEHEE_T_—F+_H

did not exceed 10% of the Group’s revenue.

=+ —HEFERZEZ210% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

BF 75 3 5% B = ()
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Revenue represents: (1) the net invoiced value of goods sold,
net of value-added tax and government surcharges and excludes

sale taxes, and after allowance for returns and trade discounts;

and (2) an appropriate proportion of contract revenue of

technical and consultancy service contracts.

An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

5. Wa - HBARKE

Wetts - (WAEEMBIFE - MRIBER
RBFRERHERNAMBREREBRENE
S IERM IS - )M R BEE RS 4
EELP 2 &K -

AREE 2 WS

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHRE
Sale of industrial products HETXER 2,283,267 2,444,180
Technical service income M7 AR 75 LA 195,113 157,775
2,478,380 2,601,955
2022 2021
—E-CF T —%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Timing of revenue recognition W 355 7 B
Industrial products and services transferred at 4 & qn SR = — R BEEE % IR 7%
a point of time 2,473,435 2,596,728
Services transferred over time BEZ RS 2 RS 4,945 5,227
2,478,380 2,601,955
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5.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. Wz - HMW A R ks (&)

(continued)

An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as follows:

AEE 2 EMRARKE DT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Other income HAn A
Bank interest income RITH B WA 322 147
Profit from sales of scrap materials R B S RE R A T 19,735 21,672
Foreign exchange differences, net HE 5 2= 2R R R 17,008 7,578
Others HAmh 3,764 4,772
40,829 34,169
Gains Wz
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant ~ EME - BE KEEER K
and equipment Woa 5,475 6,112
Government grants BT B 42 667
5,517 6,779
46,346 40,948
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STATEMENTS (continued)
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6.
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6. BRBLATEF
AEBEEFERBAER IR GEA)
THIEE RS

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax from operations is arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &E FHExT FHIT
Cost of inventories sold and services EEFERBREREKA
provided 2,044,288 2,192,457
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB RRETE
equipment 13 67,265 74,811
Impairment of property, plant and M - BB KRR E
equipment* 13 3,212 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 14(a) 33,323 36,911
Impairment of goodwill* R A 15 3,742 -
Lease payments not included in the WESFAGERERER
measurement of lease liabilities HER 14(c) 227 1,932
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 3,778 4,281
Employee benefit expense (including EERMNAX(BREEER
directors’ and chief executive’s = TBABEH) :
remuneration):
Wages, salaries, severances and TITE FHe EHER
benefits &F 438,630 468,613
Defined benefit obligation expenses TFREBANEERX 24(c) 3,915 6,291
442,545 474,904
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31 December 2022 —E_—HF+_HA=+—H
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBIADEF (&)
2022 2021
—Eg-— —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FHET FHT
Research and development costs LD 237,437 246,139
Less: Staff costs included in research and J& : st ATIEER A2 8 T
development costs DN (111,414) (115,609)
Research and development costs, net of ~ #FZEAC A » F1BR B TAA
staff costs 126,023 130,530
Gain on disposal of items of property, &Y  ERZH#HIER
plant and equipment ol 5 (5,475) (6,112)
Written off pre-production costs* A B ER A B AN B 5,051 =
Impairment losses on financial assets, SREERBEREFE
net:
(Reversal)/recognised of impairment of & 5 FEUFIE R E
trade receivables, net (@), R ER 18 421) 1,001
Impairment of prepayments, other AR - A RIE
receivables and other assets, net N EAE ERREFRE 19 289 322
(132) 1,323
Provision for obsolete inventories** PREF B R ERER 17 2,738 458
Recognise/(write-back) provision for RIEBERR, (BE)FE
warranties, net 25 19,368 (2,386)
Foreign exchange differences, net fE R ERF5 5 (17,008) (7,578)
< The other operating expenses in the consolidated statement * RIS BRRP 7 HEMCEH T BESER
of profit or loss comprise of the impairment of goodwill, B - WMENLEHERE  SEBEERIK

impairment of property, plant and equipment, written off pre-
production costs and other miscellaneous expenses. The amount
of other miscellaneous expenses amounted to HK$1,017,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and HK$727,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The balance of provision for
impairment of goodwill and property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2022 was HK$3,742,000 (31 December 2021:
Nil) and HK$3,212,000 (31 December 2021: Nil), respectively.
Further details are disclosed in Note 13 and 15 to the financial
statements.
**  The provision for obsolete inventories is included in “cost of sales”
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The balance of
provision for impairment of inventories as at 31 December 2022
was HK$7,350,000 (31 December 2021: HK$5,012,000). Further
details are disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.

*ok

= — —

— =

AW R EMEERY  REBEZ
FR_FE-_—F+-_A=+—HLFEH
1 FETE BT ST Bl 41,017,000 7T 2 727,000
BT -BEZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H ' &
BRYE BEERIEREEESES
53,742,000 (- E-—F+-f=+—
B #)%3,212,0008 T (ZE=_—F+=A
=+—8:8)  E—SHBERUBHREN
F13% 151 EE -

HER

REFERBITAGEBRERIHEEN K]
Ae FERZT__F+A=+—HZH
{E458257,350,0008 L(—E-—F+— ﬂ
=+—H : 5,012,000 7T) ° #E—FFBR
SRR M1 73R -
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Interest on bank loans and other loans IRITER M EMERNF A 5,682 8,253
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMHNE 9,372 10,111
15,054 18,364

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’S 8. EERESTHASHM

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,

R EMARR - BB RFEAIE383(1)()

disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), b)* OFMOIEARRABIRME 2T (HEES

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

NME B REZEERERITRABRZF

of the Companies Regulation (Disclosure of Information about NEBHN T
Benefits of Directors), is as follows:
Group
AEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Fees piakra 720 720
Other emoluments: HEmi<
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMREYHNZ 2,136 2,136
Pension scheme contributions IRIRSET B 107 107
2,243 2,243
2,963 2,963




NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is
as follows:

(a) Fees
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:
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EERBESTHRAESHM(E
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FAENBILERTESNRSIT ¢

2022 2021

—E-CF T %

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B ERE 240 240
Mr. Yip Kin Man, Raymond ERREE 240 240
Mr. Chan Pat Lam BRAAM & 240 240
720 720

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2021:
Nil).

FRBE BB IFATTE F A0 E A B

2(ETFZ—F B



188 BEIJINGWEST INDUSTRIES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED Annual Report 2022

NOTES TO FINANCIAL I E BT )
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E-—F - A=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVF’S 8. EERREITHAEHM(E)

REMUNERATION (continued)

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is
as follows: (continued)

BERDMZESTHMOT « (B)

(b) Other emoluments (b) HEN£
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total

in kind contributions remuneration

e 2ER BT

BUR=E R L
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FTHET FTHET
2022 —g——
Executive directors: HITESE
Mr. Dong Xiaojie (appointed with R/NRELE(BZT ==
effect from 21 September 2022) (A Z+—HREZT) - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiuliang (resigned with  BARFEE(BEZT_—
effect from 21 September 2022) LA =+ —HiEFF) - - -
Mr. Chen Zhouping (chief BRA 5 & (w7
executive) AB) 2,136 107 2,243
2,136 107 2,243
Non-executive director: FHTES
Mr. Li Zhi e - - _
2,136 107 2,243
2021 —T-—F
Executive directors: BMITES -
Mr. Jiang Yunan (resigned with B EZEE(B_T_—F
effect from 20 April 2021) A=+ HEEE) - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiuliang (appointed with A ZEA(BEZT=Z—F
effect from 20 April 2021) MA=+HBEZMT) - - -
Mr. Chen Zhouping (chief BRAF A (HRBITH
executive) AB) 2,136 107 2,243
2,136 107 2,243
Non-executive director: FHITESE
Mr. Li Zhi FERE - - -
2,136 107 2,243
There was no arrangement under which a director waived BHE_Z_—_F+_A=+—HILL#HF
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year B ARBREREZEAHERELRE
ended 31 December 2022 (year ended 31 December BREEFRFMzZHBE_ZT_—F

2021: Nil). +—_A=+—HIEFE : &)



NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included one
director (2021: one), details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four (2021: four) highest paid employees who
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9.

hEEmEHER
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FANTIEZEeHEERE—RES(ZE
T—F:—F) EHER(CE_—F: @
RIFEARNBESTARSITHRAENTSH

are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as BEMFHMFEOT
follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R EREMA S 4,900 6,752
Performance related bonuses R IBHNA 2 IEAT 11 -
4,911 6,752

The remuneration of these non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees fell within the following bands:

ZERRTEE RFEFENIERITEHA

B)ZHMNFATEHE -

Number of employees

EBEAE
2022 2021
—E=-= T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T ZE1,500,00075 7T 4 =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001,8 75 22,000,000/ 7T - 4
4 4
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STATEMENTS (continued)
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10. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the

year ended 31 December 2022 as the Group did not generate

any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (year
ended 31 December 2021: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing

in the countries in which the Group operates. The rates of tax

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H
10. FriE8¢

HE_Z-_—_#+_A=+—HULEFE H
RAE B R FE RN EA BB E LT ERD
wmA MW EEESFNEGHIELREEEZ
—E-—F+-_A=t+t—BHLFE T
H b [ & FE SR TS MBS IR AR B L&
FIEBRRNRITHETE - AEBLEEME

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates include: BIRHBRITRE B

2022 2021

—E-_& -
(%) (%)
Luxembourg EHRE 24.94 24.94
Poland BB 19.00 19.00
United Kingdom Y 19.00 19.00
France AE 26.50 26.50
Germany = 29.83 29.83
Italy B 27.90 27.90
Czech 5 19.00 19.00
2022 2021
—E=-= —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
Current — elsewhere BVER — H Ath i [2 14,712 11,282
Deferred tax (Note 26) EFEIA (P EE26) 344 11,080
Total tax charge for the year FRRIBF AR 15,056 22,362
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL B35 2 B )
STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2022 —E-—F+-F=+—H
10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FriS®i (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before REBEERERFABEERRBRB NS 2 5
tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax expense at the BERXBERERRNERFEZRBRX Y
effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the Hong Kong B RBEBAEMETEBRN X 2 HERNA
statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate, are as follows: T~
2022 2021
—E=-= —FE—F
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %o
THER FET
Profit before tax R B4 A 42 10,171 13,057
Income tax charge at the BARBEERE16.5%
Company’s statutory tax rate AEBMMETRAX
of 16.5% 1,678 16.5 2,154 16.5
Effect of different income tax BINEIE TR B
rates for foreign operations wE 2,480 24.4 4,895 37.5
Income not subject to tax BRRTUA (1,427) (14.0) (5,524) (42.3)
Expenses not deductible for tax DRI HIFEFZ
purposes 20,369 200.2 24,073 184.4
Utilisation of prior year tax PRABEFEHIABRE
losses = = (1,476) (11.3)
Withholding tax (refund)/ MBI R, X
expense 3,274) (32.2) 4,006 30.7
Adjustment for current income gt 1F BAFE BN EA PS8
tax of previous periods T (5,160) (50.7) (7,103) (54.4)
Impact of change in the BRI R EHEHRT
applicable income tax rate on ~ FIERIFE
deferred tax 33) (0.3) 1,439 11.0
Others H At 423 4.1 (102) (0.8)

Tax charge at the effective rate  IRERR XA EHHIIE
2 15,056 148.0 22,362 171.3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

11.

12.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company decided on 30 March
2023 not to propose any final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 574,339,068 (2021: 574,339,068) in issue during the
year.

No adjustment has been made to the loss per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 in
respect of a dilution as the Group did not have any potential
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

11.

12.

BRE

ARREFEER_E_=F=A=FTHRE
TRBEEHZ_E-_—_F+=-A=+—8
HFEMEARBRE(CEZ—F : &) -

APAEBEAFEAELCERE
B
BEREAEBIREAAREEESES
AEEFABE  UWRFRADSEITEBER
2 INHEE1980574,339,068 (ZE = —4F :
574,339,068/ 5T &

AR ASEBERBE_ S -_—_FR-_FT-—F
T+ A=+ —HLEFESEBRITEMBEYE
B AnSiEgEsiEzs—_S-_—FK =
T+ -_A=Zt+—BULFEMEINZE
fRESEEL AR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL B 75 R 3R Y T ()
STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2022 —F-—Fft-A=+—H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BMERRE

Machinery Computer

and Motor Special  equipment  Construction
Buildings  equipment vehicles tools andothers in progress Total
LB

BEN  BRRBR AE BHIR REt  ERIE #it
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TEn TEn TR TEn TEn TEn

31 December 2022 “ECCETIAZt-H
At31 December 2021 and R-2--F+-A=+-AR

at 1 January 2022: “F--F-f-R:
Cost Ak 67,580 659,108 7,197 46,054 99,512 45,586 925,037
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE

impairment (18,280) (347,129) (5,659) (30,759) (70,325) - (472,152
Net carying amount EESE 9300 311979 158 15295 9187 45586 452805

At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated RZB--%-F-B k2

depreciation and impairment HHERAGE 49,300 311,979 1538 15,295 29,187 45,586 452,885
Additions e - 483 520 2,226 85 51,017 55,101
Depreciation provided during the year ERFERE (o)

(Note 6) 259)  (46,861) (499) (8,770) (8,53) - (67,265)
Disposals HE - (1,665) - - - (323) (1,989)
Impairment (Note 6) e (Hto) - (2,257) = (955) = = (3,212)
Transfers e 5,565 28,442 38 12,09 1,157 (47,299) -
Exchange realignment B (3,667) (20,548) (189) (865) (2,809) (3,590) (31,668)

At31 December 2022, netof accumulated  R=F--#+-A=1+-H"

depreciation and impairment MEZHAERAE 48,600 269573 1,409 19,027 19,852 4539 403,853
At 31 December 2022; R-B--&+-fA=1-H:

Cost R 68178 627,613 6,740 55,871 93,882 45392 897,676
Accumulated depreciation and ZiRERAE

impairment (19578)  (358,040) (331) (684 (74030) - (438

Net carrying amount KHFE 48,600 269,573 1,409 19,027 19,852 45,392 403,853
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—F-—#+=A=+—A

—_— =

13. ¥1%€ - BB K& E (&)

(continued)
Machinery Computer
and Motor Special  equipment Construction
Buildings  equipment  vehicles tools  and others  in progress Total
BEY BERRE RE BHIA REf #HRIE &t
HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TAT TAT TR TAT TAT TR TATL
31 December 2021 —Z--%+-A=1-H
At31 December 2020 and at RIZ-BET_A=1-
1 January 2021: AR-Z_-%
—R-R:
Cost KA 62,408 651,146 7,514 37,839 99,508 70,143 928,558
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE

impairment (16,811)  (314,675) (5,933) (27,992) (65,505) - (430910)
Net carrying amount REFE 45597 336,471 1,581 9,847 34,003 70,143 497,642
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated R=F=—F—H—H"

depreciation and impairment N 2HRERAE 45597 336471 1,581 9,847 34,003 70,143 497,642
Additions ANE - - 557 745 465 52,692 54,459
Depreciation provided during the year 4 737 & & (¥ F6)

(Note 6) (2,872) (54,911) (567) (8,580) (7,881) - (74,811)
Disposals e - (3,505) = = (671) (310)  (4,486)
Transfers gy 10413 48,002 87 8,750 5731 (72,983) -
Exchange realignment [ 51 R (3,838)  (14,078) (120) 4,533 (2460)  (3,95)  (19919)
At 31 December 2021, net of RZE--F+-f=1—

accumulated depreciation and B MR RHTERAE

impairment 49,300 311,979 1,538 15,295 29,187 45,586 452,885
At31 December 2021: R-B--%

TZA=+-H:
Cost KA 67,580 659,108 7,197 46,054 99,512 45,586 925,037
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE

impairment (18,280)  (347,129) (5,659) (30,759) (70,325) - (472,152)

Net carrying amount REFE 49,300 311,979 1,538 15,295 29,187 45,586 452,885

No fixed assets of the Group were held under finance leases at

31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

R-ZB-—E+=-A=+—8 ' "&E=EHEE
REMEHESEZEATEE( T _—F
T=H=Tr—=E) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E_—HF+_HA=+—H

14. HE
TEBEREBEA
AEBMERARELEN LM - BF  HER
HEZEABEAMHEEAY ALEEEEX

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for various items of land,
buildings, machinery and motor vehicles used in its operations.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased
land from the owners with lease periods of 99 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of plant and machinery generally have lease
terms between 5 and 20 years, while motor vehicles generally
have lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group. There is one lease contract that includes
extension option for which management assumes to extend to 5

[ —RMERBEARER ARBEREE LM
MEIR99F - MREZF LA E R R
BT EHEERE S EMBIR - BE LS
WEEBEENFSE205F - MABENHHEEE
BNF225F - —RME - ARETAIAA
SELSNATERLROBAEEEE - H
—RHEREEAENEEE  MEEEHR
S ERREHSEF -

years.
(@) Right-of-use assets (@ ZAEEZE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEEEAREECFRAERFAE
and the movements during the year are as follows: LN
Leasehold Motor
land Buildings  Machinery vehicles Total
HELH - Hes RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TR FHET TR
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—A—H 8,736 201,628 17,711 2,592 230,667
Additions NE - 161,158 526 2,018 163,702
Depreciation charge (Note 6) #1832 i (fi5¥6) (297) (33,013) (1,480) (2,121) (36,911)
Disposals hE = = (13,999) = (13,999)
Exchange realignment [ 5 E (655) (16,641) (1,272) (110) (18,678)
As at 31 December 2021 RZFEZ—F
+=A=+-H 7,784 313,132 1,486 2,379 324,781
As at 1 January 2022 R-E-—%—f—H 7,784 313,132 1,486 2,379 324,781
Additions NE - 16,036 5,014 2,882 23,932
Depreciation charge (Note 6) T & it (Fif3t6) (261) (30,233) (1,066) (1,763) (33,323)
Exchange realignment BEE i 3% (589) (15,304) (89) (140) (16,122)
As at 31 December 2022 A"B_—F
+=ZA=+-H 6,934 283,631 5,345 3,358 299,268
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

(©)

(d)

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

14. HE (&)

AEBFEREEAE)
b) HEEME

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FRHERBENRAEREZFHNT :
during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TR
Carrying amount at 1 January MW—A—B®REE 335,395 240,020
New leases #HHE 23,932 149,689
Accretion of interest recognised during FREHEROA S IL0E
the year 9,372 10,111
Payments (B (32,524) (38,607)
Exchange realignment I 53R (29,976) (25,818)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—B8KEE 306,199 335,395
Analysed into: I
Current portion mENER D 33,610 36,365
Non-current portion FEMENER S 272,589 299,030
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZRA=+—B8KEE 306,199 335,395
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (0 RERPHERANEEHEBHIENAT
leases are as follows:
2022 2021
—E-F T %
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THBTT
Interest on lease liabilities HERERNE 9,372 10,111
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ~ {FFREEEFTEL T 33,361 36,911
Expense relating to short-term leases B HHE RN 227 1,862
Expense relating to leases of low-value BEBEEEHERHNMAX
assets - 70
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A8z ERFIEE5E 42,960 48,954

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note 29(c)

to the financial statements.

(d) MERSTHABNPBEHRERME29()

I -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL BB HmR T @
STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2022 —E—Ff+-—H=+—H
15. GOODWILL 15. &
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2021: RZE_—F—H—H:
Cost B AR 5,030
Net carrying amount R e 5,030
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment RZF = —F—H—HHIAE -
Mk ZEHRE 5,030
Exchange realignment D 3 B (74)
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—f+=-A=+—H 4,956
At 31 December 2021: RZEZ—F+=—A=+—H:
Cost PR 4,956
Net carrying amount BREFE 4,956
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment R Z—F—H—HHIAE -
Mk 25HRE 4,956
Impairment during the year FRRIE (3,742)
Exchange realignment TE % A% (318)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022 RZE-_ZF+ZA=+—HHOKER
AREFE 896
At 31 December 2022: RZEZZF+=ZA=+—8:
Cost [B#: 4,526
Accumulated impairment Z5HRE (3,630)

Net carrying amount FRmEHE 896
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

15.

16.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations from the
acquisition in 2009 has been allocated to the relevant cash-
generating units (“CGUs”), mainly representing the product
lines of automotive parts and components, and technical
services for impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of the
CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
an one-year or five-year period approved by management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections as at
31 December 2022 was 13% which is based on the weighted
average cost of capital.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the CGU of product lines of automotive parts and components
at 31 December 2022. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake the impairment testing of goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget
year, increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

15.

—E-—F - A=+—H

BEE(E)

EENEERNE
RZZZNFFERAWEEENELS FHUE
MEEE P REMERSEAEBMEITHE
BAR  ZRCELEBNTERAEZIHMH
ETHNERRY RFENRYE - BEESE
BAUMAKRESERERARE S RETEE
(LEBEH AN —FHXAFHUKER
REBETHE)FENFERAEEMERE °
R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—BERAREER
SEERMEIREAB13% » HTRENETFY

BN -_E-_—_F+-_A=+—HHMAE
TEHHERTHNERRINECEEEMND
FAEERSFERAEZTERR - TXHMREE
BARETHERENZMELNRETRER
BT REN S EEERE -

BEENX - EEEEENXNEERMAK
ANEESRBERREFERN < FEMED
B ERE - FriEm e TR BRCR Mg K 7]
Hmis#RE -

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 16. HtbERBEE
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THT
Contract performance deposits BaZe 56,215 57,358
Pre-production costs HEERTRAR 171,069 191,602
227,284 248,960
Within one year (Note 19) —FAFEE19) (33,538) (31,036)
193,746 217,924
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL g S ELNEAE )
STATEMENTS (continued)
31 December 2022 —E—Ff+-—H=+—H
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Raw materials R4 118,232 146,099
Work in progress R 27,712 21,813
Finished goods S 38,489 33,038
184,433 200,950
Provision for impairment AR S (7,350) (5,012)
177,083 195,938
The movements in the provision for impairment of inventories FEREREBOHZSHMT

are as follows:

2022 2021

—E_C—F —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHIT

At beginning of the year REA] (5,012) (4,814)
Impairment losses reversed/(recognised), net B % [E] /(#R) R EE B FEE

(Note 6) (M43E6) 231 (458)

Write-down of inventories WHEEFE (2,969) =

Exchange realignment bEE 3¢, 58 B 400 260

At end of the year RER (7,350) (5,012)
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31 December 2022

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E - —Ff+-H=+—H

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZ EWRIE
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade receivables B 5 W FIE 342,705 332,007
Impairment BE (2,882) (3,789)
Total a5t 339,823 328,218

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally one to
three months for the customers. Each third-party customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has control
to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. Concentrations of credit risk
are managed by analysis by customer. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances. They are stated net of provisions.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

AEBBEAEZFPZHENESGRRARER
T HHEP—RBERENK - TPHE
E\Hﬂftj* =EA - BRE=ZNEFH

EELR - AEBESKEBZEHERE
EJZEMZMIELABHEHZTHEA - BEIEMRAS
REBABEHER - "EKTHNEERR
BREPZOMKER - AEEWEREE
SRR AR T A TAERRKEL E A
ERIERZH - BHREFIRNBREEBERT
HE o

NI ERRREZAR 2 NG EEREED
f’f%f&iuﬁh HE R DT

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Within 3 months =@EAR 338,992 326,982
3 months to 1 year —ERE—F 831 1,236

339,823 328,218




NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

“ECCFFR RAEIBERARAF 201

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

18. B 5 B WRIE ()
B RWFUR ZBEBEREESMT

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHIT

At beginning of the year REA] (3,789) (3,062)
Impairment losses reversed/(recognized) BEm(R) 2 REEE

(Note 6) (M47E6) 421 (1,001)

Amount written off as uncollectible VA B Uk (B 388 2 508 114 18

Exchange realignment bEE 3¢, 58 B 372 256

At end of the year RER (2,882) (3,789)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

RERE AR RBEBEEETHED
1 UFHEEMEEER - BEXDERA
BREUBBRANTREF 2 B RE A 2
A STERBREARMELER - EEEH
EERNBEEAMERMBESMH  ERBERAK
AREEBABAAEHNEENAIEER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

18. B 5 WK ()
AT ALEERABEBERTENE SR
R 2 R R R B O AR

Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--_F+=-A=+—H e AR 2 HA BHA st
Expected credit loss rate TREEEEEX 0.50% 82.04% 0.84%
Carrying amount (HK$'000) BREE(THT) 341,272 1,433 342,705
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEEEE R B (THT) 1,706 1,176 2,882

Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=H=+—H i) A< 21 Bf Pzl @t
Expected credit loss rate RHEEEEX 0.50% 78.34% 1.14%
Carrying amount (HK$’000) FEmE(TAET) 329,272 2,735 332,007
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  TEEAEEE B (FHT) 1,646 2,143 3,789

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

19. AARE - HtBEWRER EtE

OTHER ASSETS =3
2022 2021
—=g-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Prepayments TR IR 10,002 9,358
Deposits, other receivables and others e - HibEUGRIE R HAL 46,629 41,407
Pre-production costs — current (Note 16) FEMERATKA —BH(FizE16) 33,538 31,036
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUL[R] X B B A B3R IE
(Note 32(b)(i) (FFzE32(b)(i)) 235,566 152,884
Amounts due from a holding company e —FEZERR A Rl FRIE
(Note 32(b)(i) (FEE32(b))) 7,779 28,175
333,514 262,860
Impairment B (1,208) (919)
332,306 261,941




NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other
receivables are as follows:
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BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

19. BARIE - HthBERARBER A&
E (%)
Hfth FE OB R E RSB B BB I T -

2022 2021

—E-—F T

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FHET
At beginning of the year REA 919) (597)
Impairment losses recognised, net (Note 6) EHER 2 REE B FEE (i 5Te6) (289) (322)
At end of the year RER (1,208) (919)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s amounts due from related parties using a
provision matrix:

AT AAREERBERBEMERKERET
MBS RKKAZ EERRBAOES

Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-_Z_H+-A=+—H iei >R 2 H e et
Expected credit loss rate FRHREEREEX 0.50% = 0.50%
Adjusted carrying amount* (HK$'000) 4% 3% BR EE* (T L) 243,345 = 243,345
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)  TEEAEEEE(FHL) 1,208 = 1,208

Not yet due Overdue Total
As at 31 December 2021 RZZEZ_—F+-A=+—H fed A 21 A it #Et
Expected credit loss rate TREEEEEX 0.50% = 0.50%
Adjusted carrying amount* (HK$'000) 458 AREE*(F#E7T) 181,059 - 181,059
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEEER(TET) 919 - 919

The adjusted carrying amount represents the gross carrying
amount excluding prepayments, deposits, other receivables and
others, and the current portion of pre-production costs with no
default risk.

* KABRREHEETEREENRE ke H
At 8 AR R e B A % f 5 4 L B BV R A EE
ERBIAKAER D My BRI -

/A
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21.

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-——FF+—HA=+—H
20 RERBAEEEER

2022 2021

—E-CF T

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHT

Cash and bank balances We MIRTTA 8 122,780 184,565
122,780 184,565

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. There
was no restricted cash as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The
carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents equal to their
fair value.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

21.

BT S RS B RITIFRFIE T B 0
RIS © RITEHTIFA L B MR8
HEBEBHRT c RCE-FR-F=
—F+=A=+-R BEERARD -
R R S AR A R ERAATEN
A o

B S EMARIE
RBERRILBHZAHEINNE SHEMNKE
MERER DT

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within 3 months =@EARN 322,582 333,239
3 months to 1 year “@AzE—% 68 2,662
Over 1 year —F UL 127 69
322,777 335,970

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally
settled on 30 to 90 days’ terms.

BHORNREBEREELBER=TEENT
HHHIRR A4S ©
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31 December 2022 —E-—Ff+-H=1+—H

—_— =

22 HiWENSFERETTER

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contract liabilities (Note (a)) AHaEWEaE) 29,868 32,511
Other creditors and accruals (Note (b)) HErRIE R ERE A
(Mt = (b)) 39,588 31,827
Other tax payables H A BT IR 11,588 16,774
Accrued salaries, wages, severances EErEHE T8 - BHERET
and benefits 61,775 48,377
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries EANIEESNI NGRS
(Note 32(b)(ii)) (Bt zE32 (b)) 71,180 22,040
Amounts due to a holding company et — MR 2 B FRIA
(Note 32(b)(ii)) (Bt EE32(b)(ii)) 26,369 31,881
240,368 183,410
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARDBENIS (215,397) (154,055)
Non-current portion FERBED 24,971 29,355
Notes: Ktz -
(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@ BHBEEFBLT
2022 2021
—E-CHF T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
Engineering technical service fees T2 AR5 & A 29,868 32,511
Total contract liabilities AHB BB 29,868 32,511

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver
manufactured automatic products and technical services.

EHBEREMRMPI RS S EE R R
AR5 B0 52 HRTE UK

(b)  Other creditors are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable (b) HMEMERBELSEER REREARRERE
on demand. 2o
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STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

23. BANK BORROWINGS

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—Ff+-H=+—H

23. SRITER

2022 2021
—E=-= T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5E FEx FHT
Bank loans, unsecured SRITIEF - EIKA - 65,215
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: JEEIE 2 SRITIERK -

Within one year —FR = 65,215
Total bank borrowings IRITIE R AREE () = 65,215
Portion classified as current liabilities NEAERDBENIS - (65,215)
Non-current portion FERNERES 5 = =
Notes: Btat -

(a)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are

@ AEBERITERZEBEATIIEETE
denominated in the following currencies:
2022 2021
—EC-CHF —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
o EE FET THET
EUR BT (i) = 4,231
PLN PR (ii) = 60,984
- 65,215

(i)  The bank loan denominated in EUR as at 31 December (i)
2021 bore interest at a rate of 1 month EURIBOR plus 2.8%
per annum. This loan was fully repaid in 2022.

(i)

The bank loan denominated in PLN as at 31 December

(i)

2021 bore interest at a rate of T month WIBOR plus 2.6%
per annum. This loan was fully repaid in 2022.

RZZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H ' UK
TURHEMIRITE IR — @ ABUM BT
FIEFBMN2.8%HMEFEKEE - ZE
BRER B FEREEE -

RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H ' UE
MZBRRNENBRITEREZ —EAE
DIRITRE ZEH B IN2.6%8) F F &5t
B ZEERCR - _FEREE

o

ol
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24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 24. EEBAEME
The Group has defined benefit pension plans, covering AEBBECRENRARSFTE  BENK
substantially all of its qualified employees in Poland, France W OEBRERNEARSSERESRS -
and Germany. The amounts of employee benefit obligations Eﬁﬁﬂﬂ(ﬂ%ﬁﬁ VEERMEE BB
recognised in the statement of financial position represent the REERIRE -

present values of the unfunded obligations.

The defined benefit obligations were determined based on Hﬂ%E?Eﬂfﬁ’cﬁ*ﬁ?ﬁ“ﬁ‘”ﬁﬁ“i. 5)3?%'5&
actuarial valuations performed by Wills Towers Watson EEEBEEEMERENBREGRD
Consulting Company Limited, FACTUM S.C. and Sbhp, FACTUM s.C.&pr%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁma,ﬁ
independent actuaries located in Germany, Poland and France, TRREMEETE -

respectively, using the projected unit credit method.

The components of net benefit expenses in profit or loss and the PEETE T YRR A 5 ST AR 99 DA K B 75
amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are RRPHER N S AR A LT -
summarised as follows:

(@) The provisions for defined benefit obligations recognised (@ REEPFBRIRERNEHEEMNET

in the consolidated statement of financial position are as BB EINT
follows:

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Present value of unfunded obligations RERETHIRE 81,235 101,353

Portion classified as current liabilities DEARDEENI D (3,406) (3,267)

Non-current portion SEENEREL 73 77,829 98,086
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—_— =

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 24, TEENETE)

(b) The movements of the defined benefit obligations are as (b) TREENEEHNEEBHNT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
At beginning of the year REH 101,353 129,467
Current service costs BIVHA AR 75 5 AN 2,135 5,201
Interest cost on benefit obligations B E TR F B 1,780 1,090
Benefits paid during the year FRZTEREH (3,622) (2,429
Remeasurement gains recognised in other R Efth 2 U s FER RO E 5T
comprehensive income* FrE s (13,526) (23,090)
Exchange realignment BEE 3¢, 8 (6,885) (8,886)
At end of the year RER 81,235 101,353
* Deferred tax assets of HK$2,472,000 were reversed (31 * ERENTERafEEERIEEE
December 2021: HK$4,422,000) for the remeasurement 2,472,000 t(ZE-—F+=-A=
gains (note 26). The remeasurement gains after deferred +—H8 : 4,422,000 7T) (fsE26) ©
tax amounted to HK$11,054,000 (31 December 2021: HBEEEREENEHNTERE R
HK$18,668,000), which were recognised in other 11,054,0008 L (ZE - —F+-A=
comprehensive income. +—H : 18,668,000 7T) * DR EAM

2 HE WA FER ©

(c) The net expenses recognised in the consolidated statement © REEERKXERNFHEIITAT
of profit or loss are analysed as follows:

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Current service costs BIVAR AR 75 A AR 2,135 5,201
Interest cost on benefit obligations &M B ERF B 1,780 1,090

Net benefit expenses FEAFX 3,915 6,291




NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(d) The principal actuarial assumptions used in valuing the
provisions for defined benefit obligations at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

“ECCEER

RAETIEEERLF 209

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

24. ERERANEE (F)
(o) RS AR T BB R B EREA

RANEI2RERRKRWET :

2022
—E-=
Germany Poland France
Z=: ] EE
% % %
Discount rate ALIR & 3.30 6.45 3.26
Rate of salary increases Falgrkx 3.25 5.00 2.50
Rate of price inflation BRERE 2.25 N/ATER N/ATE A
Pension increase rate RASHERE 2.25 0.40 N/ATE A
2021
B —F
Germany Poland France
= R EE
0/0 0/0 o/O
Discount rate ELETRS 1.10 3.20 0.80
Rate of salary increases FaelgRXx 3.00 4.00 2.00
Rate of price inflation BRdERE 2.00 2.50 N/AT i F
Pension increase rate RIKEIERE 2.00 N/AE A N/A 35 A
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24. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(d) (continued)

The average duration of the provision for defined benefits

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-——FF+—HA=+—H
24, EEBAEE(E)

d) ()

R & B R e E B R M B R F 1

at the end of the reporting period is as follows: m
2022
—E-—
Germany Poland France
== KB EE
Years Years Years
F F fF
Average life expectancy FFEEAS W
Plan 1 sHah 12.60 10.00 19.61
Plan 2 sTE12 2.70 18.00 N/ATiE R
2021
—E-—4F
Germany Poland France
= R EE
Years Years Years
& F F
Average life expectancy T TEEAS
Plan 1 sTEl 14.90 10.66 19.86
Plan 2 aTEl2 4.20 14.61 N/ATNE A

(e) The quantitative sensitivity analysis of the provisions for

€ MEEMRNERBNBEENELCHZ

defined benefits as at the end of the reporting period is as EAWT
follows:
2022
—E-=

Decrease in Increase in
provisions provisions
Increase for defined for defined
in rate benefits benefits
E&EREF EFEER
tb 2= 38 BERD BEZ M
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FTHET
Discount rate Ah38 = 1 (5,298) 6,196
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BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-——FF+—HA=+—H
24, EEBAEE(E)

(e) (continued) e (&
2021
—E-_—F
Decrease in Increase in
provisions provisions
Increase  for defined Decrease  for defined
in rate benefits in rate benefits
7 FE AR F TE FBAE
b 23 N B R L&A BRI N
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
FET FET
Discount rate 8538 & 1 (8,240) 1 9,997

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based
on a method that extrapolates the impact on the provisions
for defined benefits as a result of reasonable changes in
key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting
period.

25. PROVISION

ESRESITIREE BERENHEHR
BEREESRHTERERMNRBNZ ERE

METE e

25. &%

2022 2021
—E-CfF —FE—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THETT

Product warranties: EmRE
At beginning of the year REA 28,885 46,326
Recognition/(reversal) of provision (Note 6) B {EHER, (=) (H7F6) 19,368 (2,386)
Amounts utilised during the year RENDERANEHE (14,116) (13,019)
Exchange realignment b 5, 8 B (6,339) (2,036)
At end of the year RER 27,798 28,885

The Group provides warranties of certain periods to its
customers on certain products, and warranties ranging from
one to five years to its customers for general repairs of defects
occurring during the warranty periods. The amount of the
provision for warranties is estimated based on sales volumes
and past experience of the level of repairs and returns. The
estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised
where appropriate.

AEERETERRETPRHAS T HHEK
RIEH - BRUENREBNF—ZRF - BRE
RRIERAFTHIRRBH —REE - RIEE
B RIRHEE LB ERE SR EVKFHK
BRIELER - ZEFFEESEREENRE

EERHERT
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31 December 2022 —E-—F - A=+—H
26. DEFERRED TAX 26. JEFERIR
The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their FRELEHRRABEREENAXBY RHEE
movements during the year are as follows: BT -
2022 —E-—F
Deferred tax liabilities EEHREEE
Depreciation Fair value

allowance  adjustments
in excess arising from
Contract of related business  Right-of-use

assets  depreciation  combination assets Total

B i £

EN RELHN
ANEE HEAORE LAVESRR GRAREE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THER TET THERT TET

At 1 January 2022 RZE-—%-A—H (33,741) (11,570) (1,602) (49,392) (96,305)
Deferred tax (chargedy/credited o~ FRHKRE) /FTABEH
profit or loss during the year ERR (646) (59) 25 (322) (1,002)
Exchange realignment B A R 2,771 1,039 121 4,163 8,094
At 31 December 2022 i S
+=ZA=+—~H (31,616) (10,590) (1,456) (45,551) (89,213)
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Defined
Contract Lease Warranty henefit
liabilities liabilities provision pension plans Accruals Total
EREN
ANEE HEEE REBE  RikEiE fEtER At

HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR FER FER

At 1 January 2022 S Rl = 5,124 49,842 1,890 9,437 8,224 74,517
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ FRGIRE) /5 AB#H)

profit or loss during the year EREHE (1,162) (465) 145 = 2,140 658
Deferred tax charged to other ERg AR 2 EREMEE

comprehensive income during the 18

year - - - (2,472) - (2,472)
Exchange realignment I R (476) (4,192) (141) (452) (609) (5,870)

At31 December 2022 RZZB-ZF+t-A=+-H 3,486 45,185 1,894 6,513 9,755 66,833
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31 December 2022 —E-—F - A=+—H
26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. JEEBE ()
The components of deferred tax liabilities and assets and their FRELTHBABENMNEENEKRE D REE
movements during the year are as follows: (continued) ByaT (&
2021 —TZ—F
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIA B &
Depreciation Fair value
allowance  adjustments
inexcess  arising from
Contract of related business  Right-of-use
assets  depreciation  combination assets Total
il EBak
ig={:) FELR)
BHEBE HEARE LAVERAR ERREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TET TAT TAT
At 1 January 2021 W_Z--F—-A—H (35,813) (10,805) (1,764) (46,611) (94,993)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to ~ FRIBRE) /F ABEK
profit or loss during the year R (246) (1,260) 28 (5,984) (7,462)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% 2,318 495 134 3,203 6,150
At31 December 2021 RZFZ—F
+=-A=+—"H (33,741) (11,570) (1,602) (49,392) (96,305)
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEEE
Defined
Contract Lease Warranty benefit
liabilities liabilities provision  pension plans Accruals Total
TBEMN
aMRE  HERE  REBE RKEHE  EHER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TEL TEL THEL TEL TEL
At 1 January 2021 RZZE--45—-A-H 7,154 47,301 8,389 13,911 10,260 87,015
Deferred tax (charged)icredited o~ FR(HIFRE) /FHABER
profit or loss during the year BREHE (1,739) 5,827 (6,350) = (1,356) (3,618)
Deferred tax charged to other FRFARMEERENET
comprehensive income during the ~ F¢%8
year = - = (4,422) = (4,422)
Exchange realignment S (291) (3,286) (149) (52) (680) (4,458)
At 31 December 2021 R=FB-_—%+-A=1—-H 5124 49,842 1,890 9,437 8,224 74,517
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
As at 31 December 2022, tax losses of the Group were
HK$167,162,000 (31 December 2021: HK$258,667,000),
which had not been recognised as deferred tax assets, as it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

27. ISSUED CAPITAL

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

26. IEFER1E ()
NZE-__F+-ZA=+—"H8 AEFEZH
TEHEEA167,162,0008 L (ZE - —F+ =
A=+—8 : 258,667,000/87T) » E kMg
REBELHRBEEE  BEEAHEWRAETAR
BB R ERBRF ARIKETARIEE

18 e

27. BEITIRA

2022 2021
—E=E-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Authorised: JEIE ¢
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10  2,000,000,0003% & J% E{€0.10
each (2021: 2,000,000,000 ordinary BTHEBER(ZE-—F -
shares of HK$0.10 each) 2,000,000,000/% & i &
0.10/8 T/ i AR) 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
574,339,068 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 574,339,068 & AXEIE0.10
each (2021: 574,339,068 ordinary shares BT ER(CE—F
of HK$0.10 each) 574,339,068/% T K EE
0.10/8 T A E i AR) 57,434 57,434

The amounts of the issued capital of the Company and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 132
to 133 of the financial statements.

28. RESERVES
(i)  The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

(i)  Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account are
distributable to the owners of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

RAFERBAFENARNF D EITRAE
BN EEE) SRR EI132EE1338M
REREREHRET -

28. f#1E
() AEEHZE-_Z-_—ER-_ZT-—&+
AT HLFENFESREARAESE

BRSNS ETR -

(i REFSHSRARDEEER) - B
BRNESAHRDIKRTARRHEEA
HERREZZDRRE BR - ARAH
BRENEEEANBEEBKBERETE I
HETS



NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash reductions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$25,513,000
(2021: addition of HK$94,114,000) and HK$29,196,000
(2021: addition of HK$95,375,000), respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for buildings, machinery and
motor vehicles.

“ECCEER

RAETEERERLIE 215

B S R 2% MY o ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H
29. MABREHRERME

@ FEHFREXSH
RER  RNEEREBT  #BRTE
MAELZHNEREEERTEERR

MIER TR 2

85 B A&25,513,00075

TL(ZZE=—4F : #194,114,000/%5 7T)

129,196,000/ 7T (==

95,375,000/ 7T) °

=4

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REETBREENAESD
activities
Loan from
Bank Lease a holding
borrowings liabilities company
RE—EER
RITER HERE DA E R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 65,215 335,395 442
Changes from financing cash AR &
flows (65,215) (32,524) -
New leases HHEE = 23,932 -
Exchange realignment PE & A% = (29,976) 27)
Interest expense MEFRX = 9,372 =
At 31 December 2022 i
+=RA=+—H - 306,199 415
Loan from
Bank Lease a holding
borrowings liabilities company
kB —EER
RITIEK HERE NCIE A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THETT FET T
At 1 January 2021 WZ_ZE-_—F—H—H 103,726 240,020 477
Changes from financing cash MERERE
flows (32,959) (38,607) =
New leases MHEE = 149,689 =
Exchange realignment DEE 30 R B (5,552) (25,818) (35)
Interest expense MBI i 10,111 =
At 31 December 2021 RZE_——fF
T=H=1—2 65,215 335,395 442
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31 December 2022 —E-—Ff-A=4+—H

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29. MERERERMFT(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c HEMNRESRLEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement AR RERMNHEERS REARED
of cash flows is as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within financing activities A& RBA 32,524 38,607
32,524 38,607
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. RAREE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any RZE_—FR-_E-_—F+_A=+—
significant contingent liabilities. B AEBEYEEAEANAALE -
31. COMMITMENTS 31. &IE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of RBEHR  AEBEUTEREE :

the reporting period:

2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Contracted, but not provided for: BRT4ERELEE
Plant and machinery R M 2% 65,294 75,710
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

“ECCEFR RAEIBERARAF 217

B S R 2% MY o ()

—E-——FF+—HA=+—H
32. A I ESIE

The related companies with which the Group had transactions HAKEER SRR BB R F 0
and/or balances were as follows: K

Name of the related companies

L NCEE

Relationship with the Group
B 7 5 M HO BR 13

BWI
RAET

BWI HK
RAEL(ES)
BWI North America Inc.

BWI Indiana Inc.

BWI Company Limited S.A.

BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales and Service,

S.DER.L.DE C.V.

BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
RAEIT(E8)ERAR

Vehicle Stability Technology, S.A. de C.V.

the intermediate holding company

h A A

the immediate holding company

HERERRA]

a fellow subsidiary

BESGI=MNG)

a fellow subsidiary

EESI=YNG]

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=PNG]

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=NG]

an associate of the BWI

RAET ZBZRA

a fellow subsidiary

EESGI=NG]
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. BBt S RBSE(E)
(@) Transactions with related parties (@ HEEBINXS
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the MRMBmEEMEDFANRZHIN - K
financial statements, the Group had the following material SERFRNEMBTETATERR
transactions with the related parties during the year: 2
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Sales of goods to: EmHET ¢
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 15,832 10,458
BWI REET 5,133 4,338
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 134,056 96,305
BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales
and Service, S.DE R.L.DE and Service, S.DE R.L.DE
C.V. C.V. 485 -
BWI HK RAEI(EH) - 6
BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. RAEET (L&) BRAR — 119
155,506 111,226
Technical services provided to: RERMRSE T
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 60,661 66,472
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 19,449 28,053
BWI RAEET 29,558 30,360
BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales
and Service, S.DE R.L.DE and Service, S.DE R.L.DE
C.V. C.V. - 942
Vehicle Stability Technology, Vehicle Stability Technology,
S.A. de C.V. S.A. de C.V. - 168
109,668 125,995
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. BB A IR ESIE (&)
(@) Transactions with related parties (continued) (@ HEABRSNHRZ (&)
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Purchases of products from: EnBER
BWI FEET 2,433 4,253
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 75 114
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 70 150
2,578 4,517
Management and technical services B NMEMRBIRES
provided by:
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 88,958 79,644
BWI RfET 19,730 26,318
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 57 =
BWI HK REET(HB) 918 1,088
109,663 107,050
Sales of automotive tooling to: HERERET :
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. = 2,235
Royalty provided by: FrariERt e
BWI RAEET 6,218 1,594
Administrative service fee paid to: ERREENT -
BWI HK REET(FEB) = 1,200

In the opinion of the Directors, the above transactions
arose from the ordinary course of the Group’s business

and were conducted in accordance with mutually agreed

terms.

EERR LARFDINAKEBEER
BB P IR E 5 R IRFETT -
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STATEMENTS (continued)
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32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E-—F+-A=+—H

32. BEE S EEE (8)
(b) EEEAEES AR

2022 2021
—E-— —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Liks3 FTERT FAT
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries: F&UZ[F R} B A B508 ¢ (i)
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 165,569 124,284
BWI North America Inc. BWI North America Inc. 68,099 26,514
BWI Company Limited S.A. BWI Company Limited
S.A. - 1,955
BWI (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. RAEI(LE)
BRAA] 58 114
BWI Vehicle Dynamics Sales and BWI Vehicle Dynamics
Service, S.DE R.L.DE C.V. Sales and Service,
S.DER.L.DE C.V - 17
BWI HK RAEI(EE) 1,840 -
235,566 152,884
Amounts due from a holding FE U — IR A RIFRIR
company: (i)
BWI REET 7,779 28,175
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries: &/ R 1B A 508 ¢ (ii)
BWI North America Inc. BW!I North America Inc. 67,451 19,384
BWI Indiana Inc. BWI Indiana Inc. 188 16
BWI HK REET(FE) 3,426 2,518
BWI Company Limited S.A. BWI Company Limited
S.A. 115 122
71,180 22,040
Amounts due to a holding company: B} —f#E& A AI50IE - (i)
BWI RAET 26,369 31,881
Long term loan due to a holding e — R AR
company: K (iii)
BWI HK REEI(EH) 415 442
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STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E-——FF+-A=+—AH
32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 32. BEE S EEE (8)
(b) Balances with related parties (continued) (b) EERAHET B4 eR ()
Notes: Bt -

(i)  The amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and a holding
company included in the Group’s current assets are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year.

(i)  The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and a holding
company included in the Group’s current liabilities are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one year.

(iiiy The long term loan due to a holding company included in
the Group’s non-current liabilities is unsecured and bears
interest at a rate of 4.758% per annum.

The related party transactions disclosed in note (a)
above also constitute connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

(iii)

EJr)\ZlXE l}m@JéFE’]FELIﬁZﬁ Ei))
NCID S IE2 L FNCIE/ O DEE <3 iR N
RBRER— $W1fé5a

E+A$El}/|u§b‘éfiﬁ”]f1ﬁﬁ?ﬁ¢%
AE R —HEERABFRATEER
RBRAR—FRERE -

FAREBIERS A BN EN—HZE
BARMRBERTERR - BEF
R4.758%:T 8. °

BT RE )T BE 2 B 5 22 5 INVB K

B2

A&

FrEZ EMARNE+HAREERLZ

%5 -

(c) Compensation of non-director and non-chief (0 AEBTEEEASGIFRESS

executive key management personnel of the RESTHRABR)ME
Group

2022 2021

—E-CfF —FE—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥& - EBE N EWH|z 4,900 6,752

Performance related bonuses HA SR IR MG 2 TE4T 11 =

4,911 6,752

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

BRAZESFWOE —PFBERY R
EUETE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

33.

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
2022

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2022 were loans and receivables stated at
amortised cost, and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost,
respectively.

2021

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31
December 2021 were loans and receivables stated at
amortised cost, and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost,
respectively.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments are as follows:

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—_— =

F+=A=+—H
33. RERETHNEMITE

—_———

R-ZZB__F+-_A=+—H &x&EME

TREENBED

277

Bl 245 8 SH R AN D1 B 2 1

R EMGRIR - A RIS A SRR 2 2B
BfE-

—_———

T_—F+=A=+—R  AEEFE

A

TREENBED

=77

Pl 45 S RN D1 B 2 1

A EMGRIR - AR IR EHAR A R £/
BE-

34. BT AEAFEE
AEESBMTANEEERAFENT :

Carrying amounts Fair values
FRE{E AEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F ZZE-Z —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FERT FHAT
Financial assets cREE
Trade receivables g 5 WA 339,823 328,218 339,823 328,218
Financial assets included in ETATERRIE - HAevpEU
prepayments, other FERHEMEEN SR
receivables and other assets BE 3,399 1,440 3,399 1,440
Amounts due from fellow JE Uy [B) R B B A R 3R IE
subsidiaries 235,566 152,884 235,566 152,884
Amounts due from a FEU— R A B FIE
holding company 7,779 28,175 7,779 28,175
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREGFEER 122,780 184,565 122,780 184,565
709,347 695,282 709,347 695,282
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34. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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—E-—F+-A=+—H
34. €@ T A A FEE)

(continued)
Carrying amounts Fair values
BRE B NEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-= B —F ZZEZZ T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET THER FHT
Financial liabilities cRBE
Lease liabilities HE&BE (306,199)  (335,395)  (306,199)  (335,395)
Trade payables B 5N IA (322,777)  (335,970)  (322,777)  (335,970)

Financial liabilities included in 5t AE fth & 1< 5/ 18} fE 5t
other payables and accruals ERAMTRAR

Amounts due to fellow & R Z KB R &) 3R
subsidiaries

Amounts due to a holding JE ST — AR A RIRKIB
company

Bank borrowings RITRER

Long term loan from a holding ~ 2RE —E#ZR A RIKKH
company &K

(39,588) (31,827) (39,588) (31,827)

(71,180) (22,040) (71,180) (22,040)

(26,369) (31,881) (26,369) (31,881)
= (65,215) - (65,215)

(415)

(442) (415) (442)

(766,528) (822,770) (766,528) (822,770)

(57,181) (127,488) (57,181) (127,488)

The Group’s corporate finance team is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting date,
the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

AEECEREEGAEEESMTARYF

Bt SR BER

KR - REREEH - X

REEF SR IANBEZPUETME
ERERANTZRARE -

TREENBBZATEOENERE T HE
ZBERBR P CREMHBFR IR BHEINFZ
TAARMZ SRRTA e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

34.

35.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair values:

Management has assessed that the fair values of the above
short term financial instruments approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the long term financial instruments have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms,
credit risk and remaining maturities, if the discounting effect
is material. The Group’s own non-performance risk as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to support the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Generally, the senior management of the Company meets
regularly to analyse and formulate measures to manage the
Group’s exposure to these risks. In addition, the board of
directors of the Company holds meetings regularly to analyse
and approve the proposals made by the senior management of
the Company. Generally, the Group introduces conservative
strategies on its risk management. As the Group’s exposure
to these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used
any derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes.
The Group does not hold or issue material derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are recognised below.

BF 75 3 5% B = ()

—E - —Ff+-H=+—H

34.

35.

TETAAVEGE

AET A FERMBOIDERBRRIGAAT

%£$E$1Snutj LL%iHﬁiHﬂI,EcZ
Tﬁiglﬁﬁt Iﬂﬁ"&%ﬁx'ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁi#
Z BRE{ERE

MR EREAN RESRIASHAR
BHRAUTA(BFEGR - EERREF &
HR) MM RFBBMAKECREFTER
FE -AEEFEEESR_FT_—_FR_-
E_—F+-A=t—HOTETARSE
i e

TRiE R EE B FERBER

AEENTEZSRITEBREFTBEFRARE
%&ﬁﬁi% %%%ﬁlﬁ}%ﬁi%K
SEMEKLE  AEEHAZHEEMESR
EENEBE WWE%%E%%E EELEW
B P EMGRIAA K & 5 B 5RIR -

AEENERIAMPEHTIZAR R
R ﬁu_fﬂ—”s'& //|h@”$ﬂ g o — MM
T ARFERERBAEEEHEH UH
A B2 ] 58 1 bt DA B BB AN SR L P A B9 AR A
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)&K@u BRERABRENES - — K
C AEEREEREREMRTRE -
BﬂBAKEIﬁﬁ%xE’J*ﬁEﬁH BARFF I & IE K
P AREBE B REAITAEREM T A
‘%T%PEZ%‘;EL R REBUEFANETEKN
@Ti/i\%ﬁlﬂf’ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ BEESEMALD
EIRRIEABARERRABE - WHERMAT -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. cmE R EEBEERBEEK(E)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from transactions in currencies other than the
units’ functional currency. The Group does not enter into any
hedging transactions in order to reduce the Group’s exposure to
foreign currency risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the EUR
and GBP exchange rates, with all other variables held constant,

S L B

AEEmHERHMEERRR - 2FRREA
NEBUINEEEE NI EREETHNRS -
6% B3 A TT AT 80 32 5 PARUE A SR
P A BN R o

HjEEEI’J/\IE“@J(ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%{?ﬁ%?
2 C HAREERBADER,(BE) BRE

HEERAENATESEFENERE - &
ERR Eﬁﬁﬁf@fkﬁﬁg—f £ 3R ) B B 7 R
MERERTEHAEERAEEAMBKR
changes in other currencies will not have any significant = Eﬁlﬂﬁfﬁﬁfgﬁﬁmr

financial impact on the Group’s equity, the relative sensitivity is

of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (due to changes in the
fair value of monetary assets and liabilities). In the opinion of
the Directors, as the currency exposures arising from possible

not disclosed.

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign Increase/(decrease)
exchange rate in profit/(loss) before tax
IMBEE R
EH (TR BRBANEF(EE8) i, (Rd)
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTExT FHET
If HK$ strengthens against EUR W T BT HHE 10% (15,429) (22,424)
If HK$ weakens against EUR BT LB TEZ B -10% 15,429 22,424
If HK$ strengthens against GBP BT H RETE 10% 140 9,177
If HK$ weakens against GBP et 78 T RSB (E -10% (140) 9,177)




NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other
receivables, and contract performance deposits, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group only trades with third parties recognised to be
creditworthy, no pledge of assets is required from customers.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by analysis by
customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note
18 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group finances its
working capital requirements through a combination of funds
generated from operations, lease liabilities, and bank and other
borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on
contractual undiscounted payments including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates

current at the end of the reporting period.
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35. cmEMEEEERBEE)

REE R (&)
TERBAREE NS BRE AR REHRRE
BHRMEANR(BREEONE - S8
FR - ARmERRESMNRFEON S
RO ENBEER -

Less than 1to5 Over
1 year years 5 years Total
—ELR —ZHF BERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FTHET
31 December 2022 —E—-—
+=A=+—H
Lease liabilities HEaE 36,328 115,106 213,952 365,386
Trade payables 2 5 RIE 322,777 - = 322,777
Financial liabilities included in  &F AELAth JEAF 5/ TE & FEET
other payables and accruals EfAMTRAE 39,588 - - 39,588
Amounts due to fellow JE AT [R) 2 B 88 12 RIRK I8
subsidiaries 71,180 = = 71,180
Amounts due to a holding et — R R B 5RIA
company 26,369 - - 26,369
Long term loan from a holding KRB —f#ZER A AlH K H
company BN = 415 = 415
496,242 115,521 213,952 825,715
31 December 2021 —E-—F
+=A=+—8
Lease liabilities HEaf 38,934 115,084 244,584 398,602
Trade payables B SN HIA 335,970 = = 335,970
Financial liabilities included in  &F AEL fth JE A 2008 K fE &+
other payables and accruals ERNSREE 31,827 = = 31,827
Amounts due to fellow JE 1< [ K B BB A R 5K I8
subsidiaries 22,040 - = 22,040
Amounts due to a holding JE S — AR A RIRKIE
company 31,881 - - 31,881
Bank borrowings RITERK 65,215 - = 65,215
Long term loan from a holding KB —fE#ZER A AH K H
company fE = 442 = 442
525,867 115,508 244,584 885,977
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new ordinary shares or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital were
made during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by equity plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as
the total of lease liabilities, trade payables, other creditors and
accruals, accrued salaries, wages, severances and benefits,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, amounts due to a holding
company, a long term loan from a holding company and bank
borrowings, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes
equity attributable to owners of the Company.

BF 75 3 5% B = ()
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
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35. cmEMEEEERBEE)

Capital management (continued) EXEE(E)
2022 2021
—E-CF T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Lease liabilities HEaB 306,199 335,395
Trade payables B 5 RN IE 322,777 335,970
Other creditors and accruals HEMEMERERETER 39,588 31,827

Accrued salaries, wages, severances and EEEE - I&E  EHMERET
benefits 61,775 48,377
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERNRAEWBA W\ 71,180 22,040
Amounts due to a holding company et — R R A Iﬁ 26,369 31,881
Long term loan from a holding company KB —FHERAA E}JEHJ?%%( 415 442
Bank borrowings RITIERK = 65,215
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IReNIBEEFEEIER (122,780) (184,565)
Net debt B 5 705,523 686,582
Equity s 847,948 896,938
Net debt and equity E1% 558 L e 1,553,471 1,583,520
Gearing ratio BARBEHX 45.42% 43.36%
36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 36. MEHEREE

On 7 February 2023, the board of directors of the Company Eﬁ:%:zi_ RtH  RAGEEG:TE
planned to stop the production of all products in the plant E_Z_=FF_FERRIERIEERER
located in UK (the “UK Plant”) in stages from the second BMEMEER  TR-_ZE-_=FXAKTK

quarter of 2023 onwards and complete by end of June 2023. As
most of the original orders and production lines of the UK Plant
can be transferred to the Group’s plants located in Poland and
the Czech Republic, this will enable the Group to consolidate
its resources more effectively. The closure of the UK Plant will
incur one-off expenses relating to severance payment and the
transference of the production lines of the UK Plant to other
plants.

MBERFE  MEBBRENARIRER
BRAERUEBIASENKBERER L
MEREE @ IR A EAN KB E AR E
BER - BFRERE K EHE T RIE
HEEGEBIEMBEZ —RIEXH
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STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022 —E_—HF+_HA=+—H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. KD R B BRI F

COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REER - BEARRHBARRKEE R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: LU
2022 2021
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets: FEREBEE :
Interests in subsidiaries N GIENGIPE 3o 586,154 586,154
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 586,154 586,154
Current assets: REBEE :
Prepayments, other receivables and other FARTFRIE ~ H e W RIE K
assets Hih&EE 207 151
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL B B A B FR B 495,300 498,250
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeFEER 417 1,508
Total current assets REEELE 495,924 499,909
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 1,082,078 1,086,063
Current liabilities: REBEE
Other payables and accruals H e 5B R et B A 1,481 1,247
Total current liabilities REBEEHAE 1,481 1,247
Net current assets REBEEFE 494,443 498,662
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,080,597 1,084,816
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 742 B#H A BE R
Share capital &7 57,434 57,434
Reserves (Note) et (M 3E) 1,023,163 1,027,382
Total equity AR 1,080,597 1,084,816
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STATEMENTS (continued)

31 December 2022

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
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Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R 658 R E RitEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHERT FTHER
At 1 January 2022 R-—T-——&—Af—A~ 1,037,745 44,132 (54,495) 1,027,382
Loss and total comprehensive & A8 & 2 H E518
loss for the year R = — (4,219) (4,219)
At 31 December 2022 R-F——
—A=+—~ 1,037,745 44,132 (58,714) 1,023,163
Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
A7 4 (8 M REtEE wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THETT THET THETT THETT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZB-——4%—Hf—H 1,037,745 44,132 (50,078) 1,031,799
Loss and total comprehensive & A58 & 2 H E518
loss for the year wE - - (4,417) (4,417)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZFEZ—F
+=ZA=+—H 1,037,745 44,132 (54,495) 1,027,382
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ 38. #t /BRI | &

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 30 March 2023.

MBREDIN _T_=F=A=1+HEES
SHE R IR ETIE -
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LFRBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+—BHLFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TR ZE-—F ZZB2TF ZE-NF ZT-)N\F
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET FHEIT
RESULTS EF
Revenue & 2,478,380 2,601,955 2,311,984 2,654,586 3,418,281
Profit/(Loss) before tax BB AT, (E518) 10,171 13,057 (41,707) 51,628 133,440
Income tax expense TSR (15,056) (22,362) (9,837) (46,739) (39,908)
(Loss)/Profit for the year ER(EE),HF (4,885) (9,305)  (51,544) 4,889 93,532
(Loss)/Profit for the year FE(RFE (EE),/
attributable to: A
Owners of the Company RATMER A (4,885) (9,305)  (51,544) 4,889 120,879
Non-controlling interests JEVER R = - - - (27,347)
(4,885) (9,305)  (51,544) 4,889 93,532
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
eI - —F ZE-FF —T-NF —ZT—-)\F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FHBxT FET FET FHEIT FHIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREBE
Total assets BEE 1,936,588 2,045,725 2,247,287 1,943,936 2,167,343
Total liabilities BEE (1,088,640) (1,148,787) (1,313,586)  (980,537) (1,147,984)
Net assets BEEFE 847,948 896,938 933,701 963,399 1,019,359
Equity attributable to owners of A2 THEH AEEER
the Company 847,948 896,938 933,701 963,399 1,019,359
Non-controlling interests FEPRRSHE 1 = - - - -
Total equity A 847,948 896,938 933,701 963,399 1,019,359
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